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PART I

Item 1. Business
General

Wolverine Tube, Inc. (the Company, Wolverine, we, our, or us) is a world-class quality
manufacturer of copper and copper alloy tube, fabricated products, metal joining products, and
copper and copper alloy rod and bar products. Our focus is on custom-engineered, higher value-
added tubular products, including fabricated copper components and metal joining products,
which enhance performance and energy efficiency in many applications, including: commercial
and residential heating, ventilation and air conditioning, refrigeration, home appliances,
industrial equipment, power generation, petrochemicals and chemical processing.

We believe that our product line is the broadest of any North American manufacturer of
copper and copper alloy tube, which allows us to offer customers complete packaged solutions,
and to pursue cross-selling opportunities. Our technological expertise has helped us to establish
strong and long-standing relationships with many of the leading original equipment
manufacturers (OEM) that use our higher value-added copper tube, and enables us to maintain a
leading market share in our most important product lines and geographic markets.

We have expanded our operations through acquisitions and international growth over the
last six years. In late 2004, we opened a new 130,000 square foot leased manufacturing facility
to produce technical tube and fabricated products in Monterrey, Mexico. Our investment in the
Mexican facility at the end of 2005 totals approximately $4.4 million, $2.6 million of which was
from the relocation of equipment from other Wolverine facilities. In 2001, we invested
approximately $9 million for the construction of a 33,000 square foot technical tube
manufacturing facility in Esposende, Portugal, which began commercial production in early
2002. In 2003, this facility began producing brazed assemblies for our European customers. In
2000, we purchased the joining products business of Engelhard Corporation, a leading
manufacturer of brazing alloys, fluxes, and lead-free solder, based in Warwick, Rhode Island, for
approximately $42 million.

We are a Delaware corporation organized in 1987, and are the successor to a business
founded in Detroit, Michigan in 1916.

Available Information

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on
Form 8-K and amendments to those reports are available on our website, at no charge, at
www.wlv.com, as soon as reasonably practicable after electronic filing or furnishing such
information to the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). Also available on our website,
or in print upon written request at no charge, are our corporate governance guidelines, the
charters of our audit, compensation and corporate nominating and governance committees, and a
copy of our code of business conduct and ethics that applies to our directors, officers and
employees, including our chief executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting
officer, controller or other persons performing similar functions.
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NYSE Certifications

Because our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE), our chief
executive officer is required to make, and he has made, an annual certification to the NYSE
stating that he was not aware of any violations by us of the corporate governance listing
standards of the NYSE. Our chief executive officer made his annual certification to that effect to
the NYSE as of June 20, 2005. In addition, we have filed, as exhibits to this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, the certifications of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer
under Sections 906 and 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 regarding the quality of our
public disclosure.

Competition

The copper tube markets in which we compete are highly competitive. Several of our
competitors produce only copper tube products of a limited type. In contrast, we produce a
broad range of copper products, such as technical tube for large commercial air conditioners used
in high-rise buildings, industrial tube and fabricated components used in residential and light
commercial air conditioning units, wholesale tube used in commercial and residential
construction, and copper and copper alloy tube used in power generation, petrochemical and
marine applications. Moreover, our metal joining products are used in almost all of these
applications.

While no single company competes with us in all of our product lines, we face significant
competition in each product line. Cerro Flow Products, Inc., Industrias Nacobre S.A. de C.V.,
KobeWieland Copper Products Inc., Wieland-Werke AG, Mueller Industries Inc., Olin
Corporation, Outokumpu American Brass Company, J.W. Harris Company, Inc., Parker
Hannifin Corp., Reading/Iusa, Hitachi, Furukawa, Sumitomo and others compete against us in
one or more product lines. We also face competition from China-based copper tube
manufacturers who compete with us both in China and in North America.

Minimal product differentiation among competitors in the wholesale and rod and bar
product categories creates a pricing structure that enables customers to differentiate products
almost exclusively on price. In these product lines, certain of our competitors have significantly
larger market shares than us, and tend to be price leaders in the industry. If any of these
competitors were to significantly reduce their prices, our 'business; operating results or financial
condition could be adversely affected.

For certain of our higher value-added commercial products, we compete primarily on the
technological advantages of these products. Technological improvements in competitors’
products could reduce our competitive advantage in these product lines, and thereby adversely
affect our business, operating results or financial condition. Our competitors can be expected to
continue to improve the designs of their products, and to introduce new products with
competitive prices and performanceicharacteristics.

We could also be adversely affected if new technologies emerge in the air conditioning,
refrigeration or other!consumer industries that reduce or eliminate the need for copper and
copper alloy tube, fabricated copper components, and metal joining products. Certain of our
products, such as plumbing tube, compete with products made of alternative materials, such as
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polybutylene plastic. Aluminum is also a substitute product in residential evaporator units.
Continued increases in the price of copper, or sustained high copper prices could decrease the
relative attractiveness of copper products in cases where alternatives exist and are allowable by
local law or code, thereby adversely affecting our business, operating results or financial
condition.

Product Segments

We classify our products as commercial products, wholesale products, or rod, bar and
other products.

Commercial Products

Commercial products consist of several types of technically enhanced tube and fabricated
products made to customer specifications, as well as our metal joining products. We believe that
we are the primary supplier of one or more commercial products to some of the world's largest
and best known OEMs, particularly in the commercial and residential heating ventilation and air-
conditioning, refrigeration and home appliance industries. Generally, our technical tube and
fabricated products are custom designed, are manufactured for specific customer applications,
and are sold directly to OEMs. Because of the higher level of added value, profitability tends to
be higher for commercial products than for our other products.

Commercial products include:
Industrial Tube

Our small (as small as .01 inches) and medium diameter copper tube used primarily by
residential and light commercial air conditioning, appliance, refrigeration equipment and
plumbing fittings and fixture manufacturers is known as “industrial” tube. Industrial tube is
made to customer specifications for equipment manufacturing. Our industrial tube products
include continuous coils up to 2,000 pounds (to permit economical use by the customers),
smooth straight tube, welded enhanced tube with internal surface ridges to increase heat transfer
in air conditioning coils, and very small diameter capillary tube. Beginning in 2005, we
imported for resale both intemally enhanced and smooth industrial tube, manufactured by a
Chinese tube producer.

Technical Tube

Technical tube is used to increase the heat transfer in large commercial air conditioners,
heat exchangers for power generating and chemical processing plants, water heaters, swimming
pool and spa heaters and large industrial equipment oil coolers. Small, wedge-like grooves (fins)
on the outer surface, together with additional internal enhancements, increase the surface area
and refrigerant agitation, thereby increasing heat transfer efficiency. We were the first company
to commercially develop integral finned tube, in which the fins are formed directly from the wall
of the tube, and we hold patents in this area.



Copper Alloy Tube

Copper alloy tube (principally copper mixed with nickel) is manufactured for certain
severe uses and corrosive environments such as condenser tubes and heat exchangers in power
generating plants, chemical plants, refineries and ships. Our copper alloy tube products include
smooth and surface enhanced tube produced from a variety of alloys. Also included in the alloy
tube category are surface enhanced titanium, brass and steel tube we produce from smooth tube
supplied by outside sources.

Fabricated Products

Fabricated products encompass a wide variety of copper, copper alloy, steel, titanium and
aluminum tube products and sub-assemblies for a number of different applications. Precision
drawn tube in a variety of cross-sectional shapes and alloys can be supplied in customer
specified straight lengths or coils. Specialty fabricated parts, complex brazed assemblies and
components (such as return bends and manifolds) are produced for a wide range of applications.
Capabilities include cutting, bending/swaging, end spinning, hole piercing/drilling, specialized
coiling and brazing.

Metal Joining Products

Metal joining products include brazing alloys, fluxes and lead-free solder used in the air
conditioning, plumbing, electronic, electrical component, jewelry, catalyst, lighting,
shipbuilding, aerospace, general industrial and other metal-joining industries. There are over
2,000 product variations in this category.

Commercial product sales accounted for 71%, 72%, and 74% of our net sales in 2005,
2004, and 2003, respectively.

Wholesale Products

Wholesale products consist of plumbing and refrigeration service tube produced in
standard sizes and lengths primarily for plumbing, air conditioning and refrigeration service
applications. Several major competitors manufacture copper tube in common sizes from 1/2" to
4” in diameter. These products are considered commodity products because price, availability
and delivery are the driving competitive factors. Wolverine’s plumbing tube and refrigeration
service tube are sold primarily through wholesalers and master distributors.

Wholesale product sales accounted for 22%, 21%, and 19% of our net sales in 2005,
2004, and 2003, respectively.

Rod, Bar and Other Products

Rod, bar and other products consist of a broad range of copper and copper alloy solid
products, including round, rectangular, hexagonal and specialized shapes. Brass rod and bar are
used by industrial equipment and machinery manufacturers for valves, fittings and plumbing
goods. Copper bars are used in electrical distribution systems and switchgear. Copper and
copper alloy rod and bar products are sold directly to manufacturers and to service centers that
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keep an inventory of standard sizes. Other products consist of various tube, rod, bar and other
items sold by our product distribution facility in The Netherlands.

Rod, bar and other products accounted for 7% of our net sales in each of the years 2005,
2004, and 2003.

Sales and Marketing

We employ a direct sales force that is augmented by independent sales agents to pursue
global sales opportunities. In addition, customer service representatives are available to respond
to customer questions and to undertake or resolve any required customer service issues. Our
sales structure forms an integral, critical link in communicating with our customers. Sales and
marketing employees are particularly important in the higher value-added product segments, in
which we often work side by side with customers in their product enhancement and new product
development efforts. The sales function is coordinated through key senior executives
responsible for our sales and marketing efforts.

North America

Our sales structure in North America consists of a sales officer, managers, field
marketing representatives, inside sales representatives, customer service representatives and
independent sales agents who are responsible for selling and servicing customer accounts.

International

Our export sales are derived from both internal salespeople and foreign sales agents. We
maintain sales, marketing and business development offices in Apeldorn, The Netherlands and in
Shanghai, China.

For information concerning sales, gross profit, and certain other financial information
about foreign and domestic operations, see Note 22 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Energy Efficiency and Governmental Regulations

Effective January 2006, the U.S. government mandated an increase in the Seasonal
Energy Efficiency Ratio (SEER). The new minimum standard is 13 SEER, which is a 30%
increase from the previous minimum standard rating of 10 SEER. We expected demand for our
industrial tube to increase during the second half of 2005 in connection with customers’
production changeover from 10 SEER to 13 SEER unitary air conditioners in anticipation of the
January 2006 implementation date. Instead, we experienced erratic industrial tube demand in
2005, as manufacturers continued production of 10 SEER units in response to demand resulting
from late season hot weather, demand for lower cost units and unexpected demand stemming
from recent natural disasters. We expect that the new standard will cause increased demand for
our industrial tube and fabricated product businesses in 2006 as customers begin increased
production of 13 SEER units.



We also expect the demand for our higher value-added, energy efficient tubes will
continue to grow as manufacturers continue seeking ways to produce products that are less
costly, more energy efficient and operate at a lower cost, and as existing commercial air
conditioners continue to be replaced in response to the ban on production of chlorofluorocarbons.
Government regulations at the local, state and federal levels periodically provide various
incentives for consumers to purchase more energy efficient products, such as air conditioners,
refrigerators and similar appliances, which we believe may also increase demand for our
products. However, there can be no assurance that this anticipated demand will materialize, or
that we will not face increased competition, with an adverse effect on profitability, from other
manufacturers in this higher value-added segment.

Markets

Major markets for each of our product lines are set forth below:

Products Major Markets
Commercial Products.
Technical Tube......vvveeeeeeiieeinennnnn, Commercial air conditioning manufacturers,

power and process industry, heat exchanger
manufacturers, water, swimming pool and
spa heater manufacturers and oil cooler
manufacturers.

Industrial Tube...............coooiinin. Residential and light commercial air
conditioning  manufacturers,  appliance
manufacturers, automotive manufacturers,
industrial equipment manufacturers,
refrigeration  equipment  manufacturers
plumbing fittings and fixture manufacturers,
and redraw mills (which further process the
tube).

Copper Alloy Tube.......c...cecevennnnnnn Utilities and other power generating
companies, refining and  chemical
processing companies, heat exchanger
manufacturers and shipbuilders.

Fabricated Products.......................... Commercial and residential air conditioning
' manufacturers, refrigeration manufacturers
and consumer appliance manufacturers,
automotive, controls, welding, electrical,
marine, building, heat transfer industries and
other general industrial applications.




Metal Joining Products..................... Residential and commercial air conditioning
manufacturers, plumbing, electronic,
lighting, shipbuilding, aerospace, catalysts,
jewelry and other metal joining industries.

Wholesale Products............................. Plumbing and refrigeration service
wholesalers, and distributors.

Rod, Bar and Other Products.................. Electrical equipment, power generation and
automotive parts manufacturers, locomotive,
aluminum smelting and other industrial
equipment manufacturers and metal service
centers.

Key Customers

In 2005, 2004, and 2003, our 10 largest customers accounted for approximately 46%,
44%, and 46%, respectively, of our consolidated net sales. No single customer accounted for
10% or more of our consolidated net sales in any of the previous three years.

Backlog

A significant part of our sales is based on short-term purchase orders. For this reason, we
do not maintain a backlog, and believe that a backlog is not a meaningful indicator of our future
results. A significant amount of our sales result from customer relationships wherein we provide
a high degree of specialized service and generally become the largest supplier of a customer's
copper and copper alloy requirements. Under these arrangements, our customers provide
forecasts of their requirements, against which purchase orders are periodically released. In
several cases, we have entered into multi-year arrangements with major customers in order to
continue serving as the predominant supplier.

Manufacturing Processes

The manufacture of copper and copper alloy tube, fabricated products and metal joining
products consists of manufacturing processes including casting, extruding, drawing, forming,
joining and finishing. In most cases, raw material is first cast into a solid cylindrical shape or
"billet." The billet is then heated to a high temperature, a hole is pierced through the center of
the cylinder, and the cylinder is then extruded under high pressure. Material is then either drawn
down to smaller sizes, or reduced on a forging machine and then drawn down to a smaller size.
The outside and/or inside surface may be enhanced to achieve the desired heat transfer qualities.
Depending on customer needs, bending, shaping, precision cutting, forming, annealing (heating
to restore flexibility), coiling or other operations may be required to finish the product.

Virtually all of our tube products are seamless with the exception of our welded tube
products manufactured at our Jackson, Tennessee facility. Welded tube is made from a flat strip
that is roll formed and welded together at the seam.



Raw Materials, Suppliers and Pricing

Our principal raw materials are copper, nickel, zinc, tin and silver. In 2005, we
purchased approximately 272 million pounds of raw metal, approximately 95% of which was
copper. We also purchased approximately 33 million pounds of finished product from a Chinese
supplier in 2005, as discussed below under “Business — Buy/Resell Program”. We contract for
our copper requirements through a variety of sources, including producers, merchants, brokers,
dealers, industrial suppliers and scrap dealers. Although these raw materials can be obtained
from multiple sources, and while historically we have not suffered any significant limitations on
our ability to procure them, any delay or disruption in our suppliers’ ability to provide us with
the necessary raw materials may significantly affect our business operations and have a negative
effect on our operating results or financial condition.

The key elements of our copper procurement and product pricing strategies are the
assurance of a stable supply and the avoidance, where possible, of exposures to metal price
fluctuations.  Copper prices fluctuate daily, typically using the Commodities Exchange
(COMEX) price as a benchmark. We generally have an "open pricing" option under which we
may fix the price of all or a portion of the metal subject to purchase contracts at any time up to
the last COMEX trading day (usually two days before the end of the month) of the last month in
a contract period.

Generally, all products delivered to customers, with the exception of wholesale and rod
and bar products, are priced in accordance with one of the following methods: (i) a metal charge
based on the average market value of metal in the month prior to shipment to the customer and a
fixed fabrication charge, (ii) a metal charge based on the market value of metal as of the date of
product shipment to the customer and a fixed fabrication charge or (iii) we may quote a firm
price to a customer, which covers both the cost of metal and fabrication charges. In the case of
(i), the Company believes that this pricing policy, in conjunction with its inventory turns,
provides a natural hedge against changes in the COMEX price of copper. In the case of (ii) and
(ii1), we work to minimize our exposure to metal price fluctuations through a variety of hedging
strategies. When firm prices are quoted to customers, we generally, at the time the metal price
for the customer is established, either price an equivalent amount of metal under open pricing
arrangements with suppliers, or purchase forward contracts for the equivalent amount of metal.
Wholesale and rod and bar products are priced with an “all in” market price, which includes both
metal and fabrication charges. It is not our policy to attempt to profit from fluctuations in metal
prices by taking speculative or risky commodity derivative positions.

Beginning in April 2002, we began to enter into commodity forward contracts to sell
copper in order to mitigate the impact that copper price decreases could have on the value of our
inventory. See Notes 2 and 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, “Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies — Derivatives and Hedging Activities” and “Derivatives” for more
information.

In addition, in 2005, we used approximately 569,977 troy ounces of silver, primarily in
our joining products business. We satisfy the majority of our silver requirements through our
silver consignment facility with Bank of America, N.A. (BANA). Under this facility, BANA
consigns certain amounts of silver to us upon request for a fee. Title to the consigned silver
remains with BANA until the products containing the silver are shipped to our customers, at
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which time we are required to pay for the silver shipped, or replace that amount of silver in our
inventory, at then-current market prices. The silver consignment facility allows us to maintain
silver in our inventory without having to fund silver purchases until products are shipped to
customers, as well as to shift the risk of prices changes related to silver from us to BANA,
thereby eliminating the need to hedge this inventory. See “Item 7 - Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Financing Agreements —
Liquidity Facilities — Silver Consignment and Forward Contracts Facility.”

Buy/Resell Program

We have a buy/resell agreement with one of the largest China-based copper tube
manufacturers to provide product to us to resell to our customers. Under this arrangement, we
buy certain types of tubing products from this manufacturer, import these products into the U.S.,
and warehouse the products until they are required by our customers. As part of the agreement,
we are the sole representative of the China-based copper tube manufacturer in the U.S. This
agreement expires on November 20, 2008.

Research and Development

Our research and development efforts are primarily conducted in our Technology Center
located in Decatur, Alabama. In 2005, we began to establish a research and development
function in China. In future years, we will utilize both research and development facilities for
new product development, manufacturing process improvements and new product applications.
While developing new products, we often work closely with certain major customers in order to
develop specific new products for their applications. To compliment our research and
development capabilities, we occasionally coordinate our efforts with those of universities, and
governmental and private research organizations. Through our Technology Center, we support
the engineering and testing of our custom-engineered processes, specialized products and
product enhancements, and may make modifications to these based upon customer
specifications. ‘ ‘

In 2002, we announced the introduction of a new, innovative Micro-Deformation
Technology MDT™. This technology is being used to develop highly enhanced new heat
transfer products for large chiller applications. In addition, this new technology has enabled us
to develop products for non-tube applications, including electronic cooling, filtration, catalyst
and others. We continue to participate in several industry, university and governmental research
projects relating to more efficient heat transfer tubes for industrial, commercial and residential
heating and cooling applications, as well as refrigeration, power generation, chemical and
petrochemical industries.

Research and development expense was $3.1 million in 2005, $3.5 million in 2004 and
$2.9 million in 2003. With the reductions made in the overall corporate functions in the third
quarter 2005, we would anticipate a reduction in research and development expense in 2006
relative to our 2005 expenditures. In addition to our Technology Center and China research
group, we utilize our manufacturing facilities and technical personnel to assist in continually
improving our manufacturing processes, as well as new product development as it relates to
those manufacturing facilities.




Patents and Trademarks

We own a number of trademarks and patents within the U.S. (and in other jurisdictions)
on certain products and related manufacturing processes. We have also granted licenses with
respect to some of these trademarks and patents. While we believe that our patents and
trademarks provide a competitive advantage and have value, we do not consider the success of
our business, as a whole, to be primarily dependent on these patents, patent rights or trademarks.

Environmental Matters

Our facilities and operations are subject to extensive environmental regulations imposed
by local, state, federal, and provincial authorities in the United States, Canada, China, Portugal
and Mexico with respect to emissions to air, discharges to waterways, and the generation,
handling, storage, transportation, treatment and disposal of waste materials. We have incurred,
and may continue to incur, additional liabilities under environmental statutes and regulations.
These potential liabilities may relate to contamination of sites we own or operate (including
contamination caused by prior owners and operators of such sites, abutters or other persons), or
have previously owned or operated, as well as the off-site disposal of hazardous substances.

We believe our operations are in substantial compliance with all applicable
environmental laws and regulations as currently interpreted. We utilize an active environmental
auditing and evaluation process to facilitate compliance with applicable environmental laws and
regulations. However, future regulations and/or changes in the text or interpretation of existing
regulations may subject our operations to increasingly more stringent standards. While we
cannot quantify the effect of any future potential changes on our business, compliance with such
requirements may make it necessary, at costs which may be substantial, to retrofit existing
facilities with additional pollution-control equipment and to undertake new measures in
connection with the storage, transportation, treatment and disposal of by-products and wastes.

We have established a reserve of approximately $0.9 million for undiscounted estimated
environmental remediation costs at December 31, 2005. The total cost of environmental
assessment and remediation depends on a variety of regulatory, technical and factual issues,
some of which are not known or cannot be anticipated. While we believe that the reserve, under
existing laws and regulations, is adequate to cover presently identified environmental
remediation liabilities, there can be no assurance that such amount will be adequate to cover the
ultimate costs of these liabilities, or the costs of environmental remediation liabilities that may be
identified in the future.

See “Item 7 - Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations — Environmental Matters.”

Employees

As of December 31, 2005, we had a total of 3,087 employees. Approximately 18% of
our employees are represented by unions comprised of a majority of the hourly employees at our
Montreal, Quebec and Monterrey, Mexico facilities. Our 2005 operations and financial results
were negatively affected by an organized work slow-down by hourly employees at the Montreal
facility during the first quarter of 2005 and the effects of a subsequent strike during the second

10




quarter of 2005. The strike was settled on May 25, 2005. The Montreal unionized employees
are covered by a new collective bargaining agreement that expires on May 25, 2008. The
Monterrey, Mexico employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement that expired on
January 31, 2006. We have negotiated a new collective bargaining agreement that was effective
February 1, 2006 and expires on January 31, 2007. As a whole, we believe our relations with our
employees are good.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to each of our executive
officers as of December 31, 2005:

Name Age Current Position with the Company

Johann R. Manning, Jr. - 45  President and Chief Executive Officer

James E. Deason 58  Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, and Secretary
Garry K. Johnson 50  Senior Vice President, Sales

Keith [. Weil 48  Senior Vice President, International and Strategic Development
Allan J. Williamson 58 Corporate Controller

Johann R. Manning, Jr. has been President and Chief Executive Officer of our Company
since December 2005. Prior to this, Mr. Manning had been President and Chief Operating
Officer since February 2005. Other positions held by Mr. Manning include Senior Vice
President, Fabricated Products and General Counsel of our Company from October 2001 until
February 2005, Senior Vice President of Human Resources and General Counsel from May 2000
until October 2001 and Vice President of Human Resources and General Counsel from May
1998 until May 2000. Prior to joining our Company, Mr. Manning had served as Senior Counsel
for Mercedes-Benz U.S. International, Inc., a vehicle manufacturer, since March 1998. Prior to
joining Mercedes-Benz, Mr. Manning was employed for over eight years with Genuine Parts
Company, a diversified wholesale distribution company, where he held various positions
including Vice President of Human Resources and Corporate Counsel for its Motion Industries,
Inc. subsidiary.

James E. Deason has been Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary
of our Company since November 2005. Mr. Deason previously retired from Wolverine on
March 31, 2005, and served as a consultant to our Company from his retirement in March 2005
until November 2005. Prior to his retirement, Mr. Deason had served as Executive Vice
President, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary since September 1994. Mr. Deason had also
been a director of the Company from October 1995 until his retirement in March 2005. Before
initially joining our Company in 1994, Mr. Deason, a Certified Public Accountant, spent 19
years with Ernst & Young LLP and was a partner from 1988 until he joined our Company.

Garry K. Johnson has been the Senior Vice President, Sales of our Company since 2002.
He previously held the positions of Vice President, Sales from 1998 until 2002, Industrial
Marketing Manager from 1990 until 1998, Field Sales Representative from 1981 until 1990 and
Production Supervisor from 1979 until 1981. Mr. Johnson has been employed by our Company
for twenty-seven years.
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Keith 1. Weil has been the Senior Vice President, International and Strategic
Development of our Company since February 2005. He has also held the position of Senior Vice
President, Tubing Products, from December 1998 until February 2005. Prior to joining our
Company, Mr. Weil had been a Global Business Executive and General Manager
Consumer/Commercial for AMP Incorporated since 1996. Prior to 1996, Mr. Weil was
employed by Philips Electronics NV for fourteen years in positions that included President of
Graner Company (a division of Philips), General Manager of Philips Circuit Assemblies and
Vice President of Marketing for Philips Broadband.

Allan J. Williamson has been the Corporate Controller since February 2004. He
previously held the positions of Group Controller — Tube Group and Wolverine Tube Europe
from August 2003 until January 2004, and Group Controller — Fabricated Products Group from
September 2002 when he joined the Company until July 2003. Prior to joining our Company,
Mr. Williamson was Chief Financial Officer and Vice President of Business Planning of ADS
Environmental Services from September 1995 through September 2002, and before that he was
Vice President — Operations Controller from January 1995 through August 1995 for Continental
Can Company and Vice President of Finance of General Marble from January 1993 to January
1995.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

This report contains forward-looking statements made pursuant to the safe harbor
provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements
include all statements that do not relate solely to current or historical fact, but address events or
developments that we anticipate may occur in the future. Forward-looking statements include
statements regarding our goals, beliefs, plans or current expectations, taking into account the
information currently available to our management. When we use words such as “anticipate,”
“intend,” “expect,” “believe,” “plan,” “may,” “should” or “would” or other words that convey
uncertainty of future events or outcome, we are making forward-looking statements. Statements
relating to future sales, earnings, operating performance, restructuring strategies, capital
expenditures and sources and uses of cash, for example, are forward-looking statements.
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These forward-looking statements are subject to various risks and uncertainties, including
the risks described below and elsewhere in this report, which could cause actual results to differ
materially from those stated or implied by such forward-looking statements. You should
carefully consider each of the following risks and all other information contained in or
incorporated by reference in this report and in our filings with the SEC. The risks described
below and in our filings with the SEC are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and
uncertainties not presently known to us, or which we currently consider immaterial, also may
adversely affect us. If any of the following risks actually occur, our business, financial condition
and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Due to operating losses incurred over the last six quarters, we have drawn-down on our liquidity
facilities in order to satisfy our working capital, debt service and other cash requirements. Peak
working capital demands, historically high copper prices, and continued operating losses may
require us to exhaust funds available under these facilities to meet our liquidity needs. If this
should occur, we may not be able to secure additional or alternative financing to continue to
fund our cash requirements.
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We have reported significant operating and restructuring losses over the last six quarters.
Since our business has not generated sufficient cash flow from operations during this period to
fund our working capital needs, pay interest on our outstanding borrowings and cover our capital
expenditures and other cash requirements, we have drawn-down cash under our receivables sale
facility and our secured revolving credit facility in order to fund these requirements. The
amounts currently outstanding under these facilities, along with availability amounts set aside for
outstanding standby letters of credit and other required reserves, have significantly reduced the
liquidity available under these facilities to continue absorbing additional operating losses.

Continued rising copper prices, recent operating and restructuring losses, as well as
normal inventory builds and heightened seasonal working capital demands during the first
quarter have made it necessary for us to continue to draw-down on our liquidity facilities to date
in 2006. The performance of our business for the remainder of 2006 and beyond, and therefore
our ability to generate cash flow from operations, is subject to general economic conditions and
other financial and business factors, many of which (such as copper prices) are beyond our
control. If we do not have sufficient amounts of cash available from operations and our existing
liquidity facilities to continue to operate our business, make required payments on our
outstanding debt, and fund our other liquidity needs, we will be required to secure additional or
alternative financing in a timely manner. Due to our high level of indebtedness and the debt
incurrence and other restrictions imposed by our existing debt and other financing arrangements,
we may not be able to accomplish this on satisfactory terms, or at all. If such additional or
alternative financing is unavailable, and if we are unable to obtain additional equity capital, sell
assets, or otherwise restructure our debt and other financing arrangements in a timely manner, we
could face a default and acceleration of our debt and other obligations, one result of which is
bankruptcy or insolvency.

If we are not able to meet the conditions in our receivables sale facility, our secured revolving
credit facility, or our silver consignment and forward contracts facility, the counterparties to
these facilities may restrict our access thereunder.

We view our receivables sale facility and secured revolving credit facility as sources of
available liquidity. In addition, we view our silver consignment facility as a source of indirect
liquidity because it allows us to reduce the amount of working capital necessary to fund our
silver raw material requirements. The agreements governing these facilities contain various
conditions, covenants (including financial covenants such as minimum EBITDA requirements)
and representations with which we must comply in order to access available amounts under the
facilities. Because we would not have been in compliance with the consolidated minimum
EBITDA covenants in the relevant agreements in the first, second or third quarters of 2005, we
amended these agreements to bring us into compliance with those requirements for the
applicable periods. The amendments we entered into in September 2005 suspended the
minimum consolidated EBITDA covenants in the relevant agreements until quarterly testing
resumes in the second quarter of 2007.

In the future, there can be no assurances that we will be able to waive or amend the terms
of our liquidity facilities, including financial covenants, should we not meet any terms in the
agreements. Our ability to comply with these requirements may be affected by events beyond
our control. If we are not in compliance with the conditions, covenants and representations
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required for draw-downs under these facilities, and if we are unable to secure necessary waivers
or other amendments from the counterparties, we will not have access to these facilities, which
could significantly affect our ability to satisfy our working capital needs and other cash
requirements.

If we are unable to comply with the covenants contained in the indentures for our outstanding
senior notes and in our other liquidity agreements, we could face an acceleration of our debt and
possibly bankruptcy.

The indentures for our outstanding notes and the agreements governing our secured
revolving credit facility, our receivables sale facility and our silver consignment and forward
contracts facility contain a number of covenants that significantly restrict our ability to, among
other things:

e incur other indebtedness;
engage in transactions with affiliates;
create or incur liens to secure debt;
prepay or repurchase indebtedness;
make certain restricted payments;
enter into certain business combinations and asset sale transactions; and
make investments.

These restrictions significantly limit our ability to undertake future financings, secure
additional or alternative liquidity, make needed capital expenditures, dispose of certain assets,
withstand a future downturn in our business or the economy in general, conduct operations or
otherwise take advantage of business opportunities that may arise.

In addition, the agreements governing our secured revolving credit facility and our
receivables sale facility contain certain financial covenants and requirements, and the agreement
governing our silver consignment and forward contracts facility incorporates the credit facility
covenants by reference. Changes in economic or business conditions, results of operations or
other factors could make us unable to comply with covenants in effect at that time and cause us
to default under any of these agreements. Because our liquidity agreements and our senior note
indentures contain cross-default provisions, a default, if not waived by the relevant
counterparties, could result in acceleration of our debt and other obligations under multiple
agreements, creating an adverse effect on our capital and liquidity.

If we are unable to renew or replace our liquidity facilities as they expire or if we are unable to
refinance or restructure our senior notes as they mature, one possible outcome may be
bankruptcy or insolvency.

Our secured revolving credit facility and our receivables sale facility expire in April 2008
and our silver consignment and forward contracts facility is terminable by the facility provider at
any time. In addition, on August 1, 2008, we must repay or refinance $136.8 million in
aggregate principal amount of our outstanding 7.375% Senior Notes, and on April 1, 2009, we
must repay or refinance $99.4 million in aggregate principal amount of our outstanding 10.5%
Senior Notes. While we have been able to access the commercial bank financing markets in the
past, due to our significant leverage, our financial condition and the debt incurrence limitation
and other restrictions imposed by our senior note indentures and other financing agreements, we
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may not be able to renew or replace our liquidity facilities upon their expiration on terms at least
as favorable as the existing facilities, if at all. Similarly, we may not be able to access the capital
markets to refinance our senior notes upon their maturity on acceptable terms, if at all. If we are
unable to access the capital and commercial bank credit markets, obtain additional equity capital,
sell assets or otherwise restructure our financing facilities in a timely manner, one possible
outcome may be bankruptcy or insolvency.

In addition, our senior management has spent, and will continue to spend, significant time
managing these liquidity and related planning issues, which diverts management’s attention from
operational and other business concerns and could negatively affect our results of operations.

Significant debt levels may limit our future ability to obtain additional financing and to pursue
business opportunities.

As of December 31, 2005, our total debt was $235.2 million, which represented
approximately 59% of our total capitalization. We are permitted under the agreements governing
our liquidity facilities and the indentures governing our outstanding senior notes to incur
additional debt under certain limited circumstances.

There are several important consequences of having significant debt levels, including the

following:

e asubstantial portion of any available cash from operating activities must be used to
pay principal and interest on our debt and may not be available for other purposes,
thereby reducing the availability of such available cash flow to fund working capital,
capital expenditures, research and development efforts and other general corporate
purposes;

e our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for working capital, capital
expenditures, acquisitions or other purposes may be limited;

e our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry
in which we operate may be limited;

¢ adverse economic or industry conditions are more likely to have a negative effect on
our business;

e we may be at a competitive disadvantage to our competitors that have relatively less
indebtedness;

e our ability to make acquisitions, develop new technologies and products and take
advantage of significant business opportunities may be negatively affected; and

¢ the need to use available cash from operating activities to service and pay our debt
and for operating expenses may limit or impair our future ability to pay dividends, if
any, on our common stock.

Given our significant debt levels, if we and our subsidiaries are able to incur more debt, the risks
described above could be further exacerbated.

In certain circumstances, we and our subsidiaries may incur material amounts of
additional indebtedness in the future. Although the agreements governing our liquidity facilities
and indentures governing our outstanding notes contain restrictions on the incurrence of
additional indebtedness, these restrictions are subject to a number of qualifications and
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exceptions, and the indebtedness incurred in compliance with these restrictions could be
substantial.

The amended liquidity facilities we entered into on April 28, 2005 generally prohibit us
from incurring additional indebtedness. There are limited exceptions to this restriction that
would permit us to incur specific types of indebtedness. For example, we may be able to incur
up to $2.5 million in purchase money indebtedness to finance the purchase of fixed assets. The
liquidity facilities also contain a general exception to this restriction for the incurrence of up to
$5.0 million in additional unsecured debt under certain conditions.

With certain limited exceptions, the indentures governing our senior notes both restrict
our ability to incur secured indebtedness for borrowed money in an aggregate amount greater
than 10% of our consolidated net tangible assets (which was $36.6 million at December 31,
2005), unless we equally and ratably secure the senior notes. However, the indenture governing
our 7.375% Senior Notes does not restrict us from incurring unsecured debt, and the indenture
governing our 10.5% Senior Notes does not limit the additional unsecured indebtedness we may
incur so long as we have met the required coverage ratio, which generally measures our ability to
cover our ongoing debt service obligations with our operations, and no default has occurred or is
continuing. These restrictions do not prevent us from incurring obligations that do not constitute
indebtedness under the indentures. To the extent new debt is added to our and our subsidiaries’
currently anticipated debt levels, the substantial leverage risks described above would increase.

Our business is dependent upon the availability and price of raw materials, particularly
copper.  Significant disruptions in the supply of raw materials or continued periods of
historically high copper prices will materially adversely affect our operating results.

Our profitability generally depends upon the margin between the cost to us of copper,
other raw materials, and our fabrication costs associated with converting the metal compared to
the selling price of our copper based products, and the overall supply of copper and other raw
materials. In 2005, we purchased approximately 272 million pounds of raw metal,
approximately 95% of which was copper. Average monthly copper prices in 2005 increased
from a low of $1.45 per pound in January 2005 to a high of $2.17 per pound in December 2005.
We believe this increase in copper prices is the result of several factors, including an imbalance
between the current world supply and demand for copper, exacerbated by Asian demand, and
financial speculation in the commodity market. We expect the price to continue to remain at
historically high levels.

It is our intention to base the selling prices of our products upon the associated raw
materials costs to us at the time of sale of the finished product, the time of purchase of the raw
material or as set by our purchases for forward delivery or hedging with futures and options
contracts. However, we may not be able to pass all increases in copper costs and ancillary
acquisition costs associated with taking possession of the metal through to our customers.

Although we are currently able to obtain adequate supplies of copper, it is impossible to
predict future availability. Continued growth in demand for copper in this country and abroad
may result in copper shortages and increased price. The continued increase in the price of
copper or the maintenance of the price at historically high rates, if not offset by sufficient
product price increases, or the inability to obtain copper or other needed raw materials, would
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have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows.

In addition, certain of our copper products compete with products made of alternative
substances, such as polybutylene plastic. A substantial increase in the price of copper could
decrease the relative attractiveness of our copper products, particularly our wholesale products,
in cases where an alternative exists and thereby adversely affect our sales volumes and results of
operations.

Continued historically high copper prices are having, and may continue to have, a substantial
impact upon both demand and pricing for our wholesale products which may continue to
negatively impact our business and adversely affect our revenues and operating margins.

The historically high and unstable price of copper has reduced demand for copper
wholesale products, and has created excess capacity amongst manufacturers. We are not the
market leader in the U.S. in this segment, but have a large market share in the significantly
smaller Canadian market. However, we do not believe that we are the low-cost producer in this
segment. As competitors strive to maintain or increase market share, we see increasing pricing
pressures which have negatively affected, and may continue to negatively affect, our business
and operating results.

Current conditions in the copper forward markets have been unusual and may have a significant
impact on our financial results.

The copper forward market is currently inverted, or in a “backwardation” market. In this
scenario, the forward delivery price of copper is less than the current spot price of copper. The
recent spreads between the current spot price and the forward price have increased to levels that
have the potential to generate a cash and economic loss to us. If this situation continues, and we
are unable to mitigate the backwardation impact, our financial results could be significantly
impacted.

Costs for energy and other natural resources may adversely affect our profitability.

Changes in prices for natural gas and for other sources of fuel, electricity and gasoline
have negatively affected the costs associated with our manufacturing operations. Certain of our
operations are dependent upon natural gas to produce tubing. We have purchased on a forward
basis a portion of our natural gas requirements over the next three years. Decreases in natural
gas future prices, as well as significant increases for other sources of fuel, electricity and
gasoline, would further increase our operating costs and have a material negative effect on our
gross profit. Although we try to pass along increased costs in the form of price increases to our
customers, we may be unsuccessful in doing so for competitive reasons, and even when
successful, the timing of such price increases may lag significantly behind our incurrence of
higher costs.

Our customers operate in industries that are subject to cyclical and seasonal demand and that

are affected by other global economic and regulatory conditions, which can adversely affect our
sales volumes and profitability.
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Achievement of our business objectives depends on the continued growth of customer
demand for our products or services. If the copper tube industry does not continue to grow, the
demand for our products and services may not continue to develop. Our business is affected by
changes in demand in our customers’ markets as well as by global economic conditions that
affect our customers’ operations. Any significant downturn in our customers’ businesses could
result in a reduction in demand for our products and could reduce our revenue.

Demand for our products, particularly our wholesale products, is cyclical and is
significantly affected by changes in general economic conditions that affect our customers’
markets and that are beyond our control. These conditions include, among other things, the level
of economic growth, employment levels, financing availability, interest rates, consumer
confidence, housing demand and construction activity. Decreases in demand for our products
resulting from these conditions can reduce the prices we receive for our products, our unit sales
volumes and our gross profit.

In addition, demand in certain of the industries to which we sell our products, including
the residential air conditioning industry, and to a lesser extent, the commercial air conditioning
industry, is seasonal. Our sales to the residential air conditioning industry are generally greater
in the first and second quarters of the year and lower in the third and fourth quarters due to our
customers’ increase of inventory in anticipation of summer air conditioning sales and housing
starts. Our sales to the residential air conditioning industry also decrease in years with
unseasonably cool summers.

Additionally, new federal regulations effective January 2006 requiring a 30%
improvement in efficiency standards of certain residential air conditioning units, as discussed in
“Item 1 - Business — Energy Efficiency and Governmental Regulations,” have not resulted in the
increase in demand for our products that we expected in 2005, and in the future may not increase
demand for our products to the extent or in the time periods that we anticipate.

We face significant competition in many cases from competitors that have manufacturing and
financial resources greater than ours.

We face significant competition in each of our product lines. We have numerous
competitors, some of which are larger than us and have greater financial resources. We may not
be able to compete successfully, and the competition may have a negative effect on our business,
operating results or financial condition by reducing volume of products sold and/or selling prices
and accordingly, reducing revenues and profits and depleting capital. Minimal product
differentiation among competitors in our wholesale and rod and bar product lines creates a
pricing structure where customers differentiate between products almost exclusively on price. In
these product areas, certain of our competitors have significantly larger market shares than us
and tend to be the industry pricing leaders. If our competitors in these product lines were to
significantly reduce prices, our unit sales and profit margins could be reduced. We currently
face limited competition for certain of our higher value-added commercial products that have
higher profit margins. If our existing competitors expand operations in these product categories
or if new competitors enter these product lines, our sales of these higher margin products could
fall and our profitability could be reduced or eliminated.
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For certain of our higher value-added commercial products, which have higher margins,
we compete primarily on the basis of technological advantages of these products. Technological
improvements by competitors could reduce our advantage in these product lines and thereby
reduce our revenue. We could also be adversely affected if new technologies emerge in the air
conditioning, refrigeration or other consumer industries that reduce or eliminate the need for
copper and copper alloy tube, fabricated products and metal joining products. Certain of our
products, such as plumbing tube, compete with products made of alternative substances, such as
polybutylene plastic. A substantial increase in the price of copper could decrease the relative
attractiveness of copper products in cases where an alternative exists and thereby reduce our
revenue.

Increasing competition from Asian competitors who sell both within China and for export to
other parts of the world may negatively impact our business and adversely affect our revenue
and operating results.

We face increased competition for the products we manufacture within China. Due to
our relative market share for sales within China, we are subject to continuing competitive pricing
pressures in this country. Further, as Asian competitors continue to increase their exports into
the U.S. and other markets we serve world-wide, our ability to maintain price, market share and
operating margins may be negatively impacted.

The loss of any of our major customers could adversely affect our revenues and financial health.

In 2005 and 2004, our 10 largest customers accounted for approximately 46% and 44%,
respectively, of our consolidated net sales. If we were to lose any of our relationships with these
customers, our revenues, and results of operations and financial condition might suffer.

Risks associated with the operation of our manufacturing facilities may have a material adverse
effect on our business.

Our revenues are dependent on the continued operation of our various manufacturing
facilities. The operation of manufacturing plants involves many risks including:

e the breakdown, failure or substandard performance of equipment;

¢ inclement weather and natural disasters;

e the need to comply with directives of, and maintain all necessary permits from,
governmental agencies;

e raw material supply disruptions;

¢ labor force shortages, work stoppages, or other labor difficulties; and

e transportation disruptions.

The occurrence of material operational problems, including but not limited to the above
events, may have an adverse effect on the productivity and profitability of a particular

manufacturing facility, or to us as a whole.

We may engage in divestitures that could have a negative impact on our operations and financial
results and the availability under certain of our liquidity facilities.

19



Although our senior note indentures and the agreements governing our liquidity facilities
impose certain limitations on our ability to sell assets, we may seek waivers of these restrictions
under such indentures and agreements to engage in certain divestitures or we may otherwise
engage in certain permitted divestitures that could have a negative impact on our operations and
financial results, and could, for example, decrease the assets included in our secured revolving
credit facility borrowing base. A future divestiture of one or more of our plants or operations in
the future may require a restructuring of operations and could divert management’s attention
from other business concerns.

Currency fluctuations may place us at a competitive disadvantage and reduce our revenue.

Our manufacturing costs, profit margins and competitive position may be affected by the
strength of the currencies in countries where our products are manufactured relative to the
strength of the currencies in the countries where our products are sold. We currently have
significant manufacturing operations in Canada which supplies numerous U.S. customers. For
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005, our Canadian operations accounted for 22% of
consolidated net sales. If the Canadian dollar strengthens materially against the U.S. dollar, our
Canadian operations could be subject to increased competition from U.S. suppliers, which could
reduce our revenue from operations and affect our results of operations and financial position.

Our international operations expose us to numerous risks that other companies that are not
global may not face.

We have significant manufacturing and/or sales operations in Canada, China, The
Netherlands, Portugal and Mexico. In 2005, foreign operations represented 29% of our
consolidated net sales. As with all companies that have sizeable operations and sales outside the
U.S., we are subject to the risks inherent in conducting business across national boundaries, any
one of which could adversely impact our business. In addition to currency fluctuations, these
risks include:

e economic downturns;

¢ changes in or interpretations of local law, governmental policy or regulation,
particularly in countries with developing legal systems such as China;
restrictions on the transfer of funds into or out of the country;
import and export duties and quotas and other trade barriers;
domestic and foreign customs and tariffs;
varying tax systems;
different regimes controlling the protection of our intellectual property;
political unrest;
military outbreaks;
government instability;
nationalization of foreign assets; and
government protectionism.

We intend to continue to evaluate opportunities to establish new manufacturing and sales
operations outside the U. S. One or more of the foregoing factors could impair our current or
future international operations and, as a result, harm our overall business.
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We, and some of our major customers, have unionized employees and could be adversely
affected by labor disputes.

Some of our employees and some employees of our major customers are unionized. At
December 31, 2005, approximately 18% of our employees were unionized. Our unionized
employees are hourly workers located at both our Montreal, Quebec facility, where various
copper and copper alloy tube products and substantially all of our rod and bar products are
manufactured, and our Monterrey, Mexico facility, where technical copper and copper alloy tube
and fabricated products are manufactured. Our operations and financial results in 2005 were
negatively affected by an organized work slow-down and subsequent strike at our Montreal
facility by hourly workers in the first and second quarters of 2005. The strike was settled on
May 25, 2005. The new collective bargaining agreement with the union representing these
employees expires May 25, 2008. The collective bargaining agreement with the employees at
our Monterrey, Mexico facility expired on January 31, 2006. A new collective bargaining
agreement became effective February 1, 2006 and expires on January 31, 2007. Further labor
disputes by any of our employees, or our customers’ employees, could again have a significant
negative effect on our financial results and operations.

If we are unable to attract and retain key personnel, our ability to operate effectively may be
impaired.

Our ability to operate our business and implement strategies depends, in part, on the
efforts of our executive officers and other key employees. Our management philosophy of cost-
control means that we operate with a limited number of corporate personnel, and our
commitment to a less centralized organization also places greater emphasis on the strength of
local management. In addition, we have experienced significant turnover of our executive
officers and other key employees in the last several years. Our future success will depend on,
among other factors, our ability to attract and retain other qualified personnel, particularly
executive management. The loss of the services of any of our key employees or the failure to
attract or retain other qualified personnel, domestically or abroad, could have a material adverse
effect on our business or business prospects.

We could incur significant costs, including remediation costs, as a result of complying with
environmental laws.

Our facilities and operations are subject to extensive environmental laws and regulations
imposed by federal, state, provincial and local authorities in the U.S., Canada, China, Portugal
and Mexico relating to the protection of the environment and human health and safety, including
those governing emissions to air, discharges to waterways and the generation, handling, storage,
transportation, treatment and disposal of, and exposure to, hazardous materials. We could incur
substantial costs, including cleanup costs, fines or sanctions, and third-party claims for property
damage or personal injury, as a result of violations of or liabilities under environmental laws.
We have incurred, and in the future may continue to incur, liability under environmental statutes
and regulations with respect to the contamination detected at sites owned or operated by us
(including contamination caused by prior owners and operators of such sites, abutters or other
persons) and the sites at which we disposed hazardous substances. We have established a
reserve with respect to certain presently estimated environmental remediation costs. This reserve
may not be adequate to cover the ultimate costs of these liabilities (or ones that may be identified
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in the future) and the discovery of additional contaminants or the imposition of additional
cleanup obligations could result in significant costs. In addition, we expect that future
regulations, and changes in the text or interpretation of existing regulations, may subject us to
increasingly stringent standards. Compliance with such requirements may make it necessary, at
costs which may be substantial, for us to retrofit existing facilities with additional pollution-
control equipment, undertake new measures in connection with the storage, transportation,
treatment and disposal of by-products and wastes or take other steps.

Our competitive advantage could be reduced if our intellectual property becomes known by our
competitors, or if technological changes reduce our customers’ need for our products.

We own a number of trademarks and patents (in the U.S. and other jurisdictions) on our
products and related manufacturing processes and we have granted licenses with respect to some
of our trademarks and patents. In addition to trademark and patent protection, we rely on trade
secrets, proprietary know-how and technological advances that we seek to protect. If our
intellectual property is not properly protected or is independently discovered by others or
otherwise becomes known, our protection against competitive products could be diminished.
Because we compete primarily on the basis of these technical advantages of our commercial
products, technical improvements by our competitors could reduce our competitive advantage in
these product lines and thereby reduce our unit sales and profits per unit. In addition, the
development of new technologies in the air conditioning, refrigeration or other consumer
industries, including technologies developed in response to the elimination of CFCs and certain
refrigerants, could reduce or eliminate the need for copper and copper alloy based products and
thereby reduce our sales volumes and have a negative impact on our operating results.

If our internal computer network and applications suffer disruptions or fail to operate as
designed, our operations will be disrupted and our business may be harmed.

We rely on network infrastructure and enterprise applications, and internal technology
systems for our operational, marketing support and sales, and product development activities.
The hardware and software systems related to such activities are subject to damage from
earthquakes, floods, lightning, tornadoes, fire, power loss, telecommunication failures and other
similar events. They are also subject to acts such as computer viruses, physical or electronic
vandalism or other similar disruptions that could cause system interruptions and loss of critical
data, and could prevent us from fulfilling our customers’ orders. We have developed disaster
recovery plans and backup systems to reduce the potentially adverse effects of such events, but
there are no assurances such plans and systems would be sufficient. Any event that causes
failures or interruption in our hardware or software systems could result in disruption of our
business operations, have a negative impact on our operating results, and damage our reputation.

Our stock price may be volatile.

The market price of our common stock could be subject to significant fluctuations.
Among the factors that could affect our stock price are:

e quarterly variations in our operating results;
e our ability to meet our liquidity needs;
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e changes in revenue or earnings estimates or publication of research reports by
analysts;

failure to meet analysts’ or our own revenue or earnings estimates;

speculation in the press or investment community;

strategic actions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions or restructurings;

the impact of the risks discussed herein and our ability to react effectively to those
risks;

limited trading volume of our common stock;

a change in technology that may add to manufacturing costs;

actions by institutional stockholders;

general market conditions; and

domestic and international economic factors unrelated to our performance.

The stock markets in general have experienced extreme volatility that has often been
unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. These broad market fluctuations
may adversely affect the trading price of our common stock.

Limited trading volume of our common stock may contribute to its price volatility.

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange. During the year ended
December 31, 2005, the average daily trading volume of our common stock as reported by
Bloomberg L.P. was approximately 65,000 shares. It is uncertain whether a more active trading
market in our common stock will develop. Also, many investment banks no longer find it
profitable to provide securities research on small-cap and mid-cap companies. If analysts were
to discontinue coverage of our common stock, our trading volume may be further reduced. As a
result, relatively small trades may have a significant impact on the market price of our common
stock, which could increase the volatility and depress the price of such stock.

Future sales of our common stock may cause the price of our common stock to decline or impair
our ability to raise capital in the equity markets.

In the future, we may sell additional shares of our common stock in public or private
offerings, and we may also issue additional shares of common stock to finance future
acquisitions. Shares of our common stock are also available for future sales pursuant to stock
options and/or restricted stock that we have granted to certain employees and directors, and in
the future we may grant additional stock options and/or restricted stock to our employees and
directors. Sales of substantial amounts of common stock, or the perception that such sales could
occur, may adversely affect prevailing market prices for shares of our common stock and could
impair our ability to raise capital through future offerings.

Provisions in our charter documents, Delaware law and in other agreements may delay or
prevent an acquisition of Wolverine, which could decrease the value of our common stock.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and Delaware law contain provisions that
could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us without the consent of our board of

directors. These provisions include a classified board of directors, removal of directors only for
cause, and the inability of stockholders to act by written consent or to call special meetings.
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Delaware law also imposes some restrictions on mergers and other business combinations
between us and any holder of 15% or more of our outstanding common stock. Although we
believe these provisions provide for an opportunity to receive a higher bid by requiring potential
acquirers to negotiate with our board of directors, these provisions apply even if the offer may be
considered beneficial by some stockholders.

In addition, under the indenture governing our 10.5% Senior Notes, in the event a change
in control occurs, we may be required to repurchase all of our outstanding 10.5% Senior Notes at
101% of their original aggregate principal amount plus accrued interest. A change in control
would also result in an event of default or amortization event under our liquidity facilities.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

The Company has no unresolved SEC comments.

Item 2. Properties

We have a total of approximately 2.5 million square feet of manufacturing capacity at
facilities located in the United States, Canada, Mexico, Portugal, and China. Our corporate
headquarters is located in Huntsville, Alabama. We maintain various warehouse operations in
the United States and Canada, as well as warechouse and office space in Apeldorn, The
Netherlands. Listed below are our manufacturing facilities:
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Domestic Facilities

Location
Decatur, AL

Shawnee, OK

Jackson, TN(1)

Altoona, PA (2)

Carroliton, TX

Booneville, MS

Warwick, RI

Ardmore, TN

Owned/

Leased
Owned

Owned

Leased

Owned/
Leased

Owned

Owned

Owned

Owned

Property
Size
(acres)
165

51

35

32

30

28

Plant Size

(square feet)
620,000

309,000

112,000

210,000

165,000

152,000

70,000

65,000

Number of

Year Employees at
Opened Dec. 31, 2005

1948 522

1974 513

1998 40

1956 221

1999 284

1989 22

1978 147

1974 84

Description
Produces many of our copper tube product lines.
A significant portion of production in 2004 was
industrial and technical tube as well as wholesale
tube products. Decatur also produces smooth
feedstock tube for the Ardmore, Carrollton and
Altoona facilities. In 2005, technical tube
production was relocated to Shawnee, OK and
Monterrey, Mexico. This will allow for
increased production of industrial and wholesale
tube. The Decatur facility also houses a portion
of our corporate staff.
Produces a majority of our copper tube product
lines. A significant portion of production is
industrial and technical tube. Shawnee also
produces wholesale tube products. It produces
feedstock tube for the Ardmore and Carrollton
facilities, and fin blanks for Monterrey, Mexico.
Shawnee is also capable of supplying tube to
Altoona. In 2005, Shawnee increased production
of technical tube, and decreased production of
wholesale tube.
Produces welded copper enhanced surface
industrial tube.
A redraw facility that produces higher value
added commercial products, primarily precision
drawn and cut tubular products.
Designs, manufactures and provides outsource
project management of tubular fabricated
products and assemblies using various materials
including copper, copper alloy, aluminum, steel
and outsourced components. Fabrication
capabilities range from a single operation to
complex brazed assemblies.
This facility, partially closed in December 2003,
produces feedstock for our Carroliton, TX
facility, redraw base tube for our Altoona, PA
and Decatur, AL facilities and some customer
redraw base tube.
Produces brazing filler metals, fluxes and other
specialty alloys.
A redraw facility that produces higher margin
commercial products such as capillary tube and
specialty fabricated components, as well as
aluminum tubing.

(1) We sold the Jackson, Tennessee facility in December 2005, but continue to operate the facility under a

lease arrangement.

(2) Leased a portion of the facility from an industrial development agency at a cost of $3,500 annually in

perpetuity.
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International Facilities

: Number of
Owned/ Property Plant Size Year Employees at
Location Leased Size (acres) (square feet) Opened Dec. 31, 2005 Description
Montreal, Owned 25 424,000 1942 339 Produces wholesale tube products, copper and
Quebec copper alloy tube and copper and copper alloy
rod and bar and extruded shapes.
London, ' Owned 45 195,000 1958 249 Produces wholesale tube products and industrial
Ontario tube. London also houses corporate offices for
Wolverine Tube (Canada) Inc.
Shanghai, Leased 3 60,000 1998 181 Produces technical copper and copper alloy tube
China (1) from feedstock supplied by local copper tube
manufacturers and also produces brazed
assemblies.
Esposende, Owned 3 33,000 2001 59 Produces technical copper and copper alloy tube
Portugal from feedstock supplied by European copper and
copper alloy tube manufacturers and brazed
assemblies.
Monterrey, Leased 8 130,000 2004 238 Produces fabricated components and brazed
Mexico (2) assemblies from feedstock supplied by the

Shawnee, OK and Decatur, AL facilities. Began
producing technical copper and copper alloy tube
from feedstock supplied by the Shawnee, OK
and Montreal, Quebec facilities in 2005.

(1) Lease expires on December 31, 2011.
(2) Lease expires October 1, 2009.

We lease a 45,000 square foot warehouse in London, Ontario to service the wholesale
products market in Canada employing one employee. We also lease a facility in Apeldorn, The
Netherlands, comprised of a 20,000 square foot warehouse and 4,000 square feet of office space.
There were 10 employees at the Apeldorn facility at December 31, 2005.

We believe that our facilities are adequate for our current and reasonably anticipated
future needs.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Our facilities and operations are subject to extensive environmental laws and regulations,
and we are currently involved in various proceedings relating to environmental matters as
described under “Item 7 - Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations — Environmental Matters” and incorporated herein by reference. We are
not involved in any legal proceedings that we believe could have a material adverse effect upon
our business, operating results or financial condition.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2005.
|
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PART 11

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer
Purchases of Equity Securities

Our Common Stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol
“WLV”, As of March 9, 2006, there were 15,058,903 shares of Common Stock outstanding,
held by 247 stockholders of record.

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the range of high and low
reported sale prices for our Common Stock on the New York Stock Exchange:

2005 2004
Period High Low High Low
First Quarter $13.34 $8.44 $10.05 $6.10
Second Quarter 8.85 5.31 12.79 8.06
Third Quarter 8.55 5.35 13.15 10.40
Fourth Quarter 7.75 4.38 13.09 9.30

We did not declare or pay cash dividends on our Common Stock during the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 or 2003. We do not currently plan to pay cash dividends on our
Common Stock. In the foreseeable future, any future determination to pay cash dividends will
depend on our results of operations, financial condition, contractual restrictions and other factors
deemed relevant by the Board of Directors. We intend to retain earnings to support the growth
of our business. In addition, the agreement governing our secured revolving credit facility
generally prohibits the payment of cash dividends on our Common Stock and the agreement
governing our silver consignment and forward contracts facility incorporates this prohibition by
reference. The indenture governing our 10.5% Senior Notes limits our ability to pay cash
dividends on the Common Stock unless certain financial and other tests are met.

For many years, we have maintained a 401(k) plan through which employees may invest
in our Common Stock and other investment choices. We have a registration statement on Form
S-8 in effect that registered 50,000 shares for this 401(k) plan. Current investments in our
Common Stock exceed the 50,000 shares registered. Effective May 1, 2006, participants in the
401(k) plan may not make any new or additional investments in our Common Stock, but
continue to have other investment options. Because certain participants in the 401(k) plan
purchased unregistered shares of our Common Stock, they may have the right to rescind their
purchases or recover damages if they no longer own the shares, subject to the applicable one year
statute of limitations under securities laws. Due to the limited number of participants holding the
shares and the small number of unregistered shares sold, we do not believe that any potential
liability would be material.

The following table presents information with respect to repurchases of Common Stock
made by the Company during the quarter ended December 31, 2005. All of the repurchased
shares were surrendered to the Company by an employee for tax withholding purposes in
conjunction with the vesting of restricted shares held by the employee under the Company's 2003
Equity Incentive Plan.
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! \ Total Number of Shares ~ Approximate Dollar

Total Number Purchased as Part of  Value (in Millions) that
of Shares Average Price  Publicly Announced May Yet Be Purchased
Purchased Paid Per Share Plans Under the Plans or
Period N ) or Programs Programs

10/03/05 -10/30/05 - - ] - -
08105~ 112705 - -
11/28/05 — 12/31/05 8,304 4.93 - -
Total 8,304 4.93 -

(1) Shares surrendered to the Cornpany by an employee to satisfy individual tax withholding obligations upon
vesting of previously issued shares of restricted Common Stock. Shares are not part of any Company repurchase
plan. ‘

(2) Average price paid per share reflects the closing price of Wolverine Common Stock on the business day the
shares were surrendered by the employee stockholder.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data,

The historical consolidated financial data presented below should be read in conjunction
with the information set forth under “Item 7 — Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Resultsi of Operations” and our Consolidated Financial Statements

beginning on page F-1. \

The balance sheet data ﬁiesented below as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 and the
statement of operations data presented below for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2005, are derived from our audited Consolidated Financial Statements beginning
on page F-1. The other balance sheet and statement of operations data presented below are
derived from our previously audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, which are not presented herein.

Year Ended December 31,

Statement of Operations Data: 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
(In thousands, except per share amounts) '
Net sales ‘ $873,505 $797,875 $596,324 $550,523 $583,114
Cost of goods sold (a) ‘ 851,862 734,194 555,498 . 492,082 520,874
Gross profit 21,643 63,681 40,826 58,441 62,240
Selling, general and administrative expenses (b) - 37,074 37,259 32,103 30,616 32,254
Restructuring and other charges (c) ) 1,416 2,536 15,057 - 1,546
Operating income/(loss) from continuing operations (16,847) 23,886 (6,334) 27,825 28,440
Other expense/(income): ‘

Interest expense, net 20,727 20,860 21,218 19,681 13,100

Loss/(gain) on extinguishment of debt : - 3,009 - (1,349) -

Amortization and other, net (d) ' 2,802 1,261 1,856 1,008 (447)

Goodwill impairment | - - 23,153 - -
Income/(loss) from continuing operations before income

taxes (40,376) (1,244) (52,561) 8,485 15,787

Income tax provision/(benefit) (&) 1 (1,760) (1,888) (13,577) 1,315 4,345
Income/(loss) from continuing operations (f) j (38,616) 644 (38,984) 7,170 11,442
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax (g) - (262) (1,637) (1,610) (31,240)
Net income/(loss) (h) $(38,616) $382 $(40,621) 35,560 $(19,798)
Net income/(loss) applicable to common shares (i) | $(38,616) $382 $(40,621) $5,502 $(20,078)

| i

[

|
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Income/(loss) per common share-basic:

Continuing operations $(2.57) $0.05 $(3.18) $0.58 $0.92
Discontinued operations, net of tax - 0.02) 0.13) (0.13) (2.58)
Net income/(loss) per share $(2.57) $0.03 $3.31) $0.45 $(1.66)
Basic wej&hted average common shares 15,022 13,650 12,275 12,231 12,077
Income/(loss) per common share-diluted:

Continuing operations $(2.57) $0.05 $(3.18) $0.58 $0.91

Discontinued operations, net of tax - (0.02) (0.13) (0.13) (2.54)

Net income/(loss) per share $(2.57) $0.03 $(3.31) $0.45 $(1.63)

Diluted weighted average common and common

_equivalent shares 15,022 13,992 12,275 12,362 12,307
Year Ended December 31,

Other Data: 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

(In thousands, except per pound amounts)

Pounds shipped 320,568 339,417 327,354 310,240 308,177

Depreciation and amortization $17,049 $17,407 $19,009 $18,416 $18,679

Capital expenditures 10,009 11,302 5,969 7,747 27,612

Average monthly COMEX price of copper per pound () 1.68 1.29 0.81 0.72 0.73

December 31,

Balance Sheet Data: 2005 2004 2003 2002 200!

(In thousands)

Total assets $568,765 $587,458 $553,258 $550,720 $539,427

Total long-term debt 234,920 237,022 254,284 255,712 247,698

Redeemable cumulative preferred stock - - - - 2,000

Stockholders’ equity 163,302 209,502 179,351 200,635 201,412

(a) In 2001, we incurred charges that are included in cost of goods sold of approximately $1.4 million, related to realized
and anticipated reductions in demand for our product, and for the write-down of slow moving or obsolete inventory.

(b) In 2005, the Company recorded charges to SG&A expense totaling $3.6 million related to the termination of its
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, the freezing of its U.S. defined benefit and restoration benefit pension plans,
and accelerated restricted stock vesting.

(©) In 2005, 2004 and 2003, restructuring charges of $1.4 million (30.9 million after tax), $2.5 million ($1.7 million after
tax) and $15.1 million ($9.9 million after tax), respectively were incurred (see Note 23 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements).

() In December 2005, we entered into a sales arrangement for our Jackson, Tennessee facility. Included in the 2005
results is a $1.9 million loss associated with the write-down and sale of the property.

(e) In 2005, we established a valuation allowance related to our U.S. deferred tax assets in the amount of $12.6 million.

6] Income from continuing operations for 2001, adjusted to exclude amortization of expense recognized related to
goodwill, would have been $14.1 million.

(2) The operating results of Wolverine Ratcliffs, Inc. include losses of $0.3 million, $1.6 million, $1.6 million and $7.3
million (in each case net of tax) for the years ended 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and had been classified as
discontinued operations. In addition, we recorded an estimated $23.9 million (net of tax) loss on the disposal of the
Wolverine Ratcliffs operations in 2001 (see Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).

(h) Net income/(loss) for 2001, adjusted to exclude amortization expense related to goodwill, would have been $(16.9)
million.

1) Reflects the payment of preferred stock dividends and accretion of preferred stock redemption requirements.

0 Source: Metals Week.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations

The following discussio.n‘ of our consolidated operating results and financial condition for
the three years ended December 31, 2005 should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated
Financial Statements and related notes beginning on page F-1.

Overview

Wolverine is a world-class quality manufacturer of copper and copper alloy tube,
fabricated and metal joining products, and copper and copper alloy rod and bar products. Our
focus is on custom-engineered, higher value-added tubular products, fabricated and metal joining
products which enhance performance and energy efficiency in many applications, including
commercial and residential heating, ventilation and air conditioning, refrigeration, home
appliances, industrial equipment, power generation, petrochemicals and chemical processing.
We believe that we have the broadest product offering of any North American manufacturer of
copper and copper alloy tube, which allows the offering of packaged solutions and cross selling
opportunities. Our principal product lines are commercial products, wholesale products and rod,
bar and other products.

Executive Summary

We incurred a loss in 2005 of approximately $38.6 million, or $2.57 per share. The loss
includes after-tax restructuring and other charges totaling $17.2 million. These after-tax
restructuring and other charges include a $12.6 million non-cash charge related to the
establishment of a valuation allowance for the Company’s U.S. deferred tax assets, a $2.4
million charge related to the termination of the Company’s 2002 Supplemental Executive
Retirement Plan, the freezing of its U.S. defined benefit pension plan and Supplemental
Restoration Benefit Plan and acceleration of the vesting of certain restricted shares, $1.3 million
for the write-down and sale of the Jackson, Tennessee facility, and restructuring charges of $0.9
million relating primarily to a workforce reduction and the sale of the Company’s corporate
aircraft. The loss also includes a $0.5 million tax charge related to the repatriation of $10.2
million from China under the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 on February 28, 2005.

In 2005, our Company was impacted by weak wholesale product demand and pricing
caused by record high and erratic copper prices, the effect of an organized work slowdown,
subsequent strike and lingering post-strike effects at our Montreal, Quebec facility, along with
weak demand for industrial tube. In addition, operations in 2005 were also negatively impacted
by the increase in energy costs, the result of world-wide rising crude oil costs and U.S. natural
disasters that impacted supply which affected both utility and freight costs. Erratic price
movements in both the spot and forward markets for copper and natural gas negatively affected
our hedge positions, and contributed to a $9.1 million pre-tax hedge and metal valuation negative
impact on gross profit/(loss). The work slowdown, strike and subsequent slow recovery at our
Montreal, Quebec facility negatively impacted results between $5.0 and $7.0 million pre-tax in
2005. Decreased production as a result of planned inventory reductions also impacted our
profitability in a negative manner, as we were unable to absorb fixed costs. Additionally,
currency translation losses reflecting the weaker U.S. dollar versus the Canadian dollar had a
negative impact on profit.
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Beginning in mid-September, we began to see our incoming order rate for U.S. wholesale
and commercial products increase, and we observed some price improvement being achieved in
the U.S. wholesale market. Our Montreal facility still is not operating at pre-strike levels. Also,
we did not see, as expected, a significant demand increase in 2005 for industrial tube as the result
of production changeover to 13 SEER unitary air conditioning units. Rather, erratic customer
demand for industrial tube resulted from cautious buying on the part of manufacturers’ and their
desire to continue providing lower cost 10 SEER units. We believe demand for 10 SEER units
reflects late season hot weather, inventory build of lower cost units and unexpected demand
resulting from recent natural disasters.

Due to continued increases in copper prices throughout 2005 and current payment terms
with our major copper suppliers, we have had to invest additional dollars in working capital
relative to inventory and accounts receivable with little offset in accounts payable. The
increased working capital demands caused by this increase in copper prices has reduced our
liquidity, and has caused us to regularly draw-down on our liquidity facilities.

On February 28, 2005, the Company repatriated approximately $10.2 million in
previously unremitted earnings from its Chinese subsidiary. These funds had historically been
considered as unavailable for use in the U.S. due to significant tax payments that would be due
upon repatriation. The repatriation of these funds was mostly used to reduce the Company’s
domestic borrowings. The Company took a tax charge of approximately $0.5 million in 2005
associated with the repatriation.

General
The following general factors should be considered in analyzing our results of operations:
Critical Accounting Policies

We base this discussion and analysis of results of operations, cash flow and financial
condition on our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S.

Uses of Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles in the U.S. requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

~

Inventory

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined using the first-in,
first-out (FIFO) method. Inventory costs include material, labor, and factory overhead. Our
maintenance and operating supplies inventory is valued using an average cost method to
determine cost. In assessing the ultimate realization of inventories, we are required to make
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judgments as to future demand requirements and compare these with our current inventory
{evels. Obsolete or unsaleable inventories are reflected at their estimated net realizable values.

Derivatives and Hedging Activities

Our operations and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to changes in commodity
prices, foreign currency exchaﬁge rates and interest rates. We use derivative financial
instruments to manage commodity prices, foreign currency exchange rates and interest rate
exposures, though not for speculative purposes. Derivatives used are primarily commodity
forward contracts, foreign currency forward contracts and interest rate swaps.

We apply the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133,
Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended by Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 138, Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and
Certain Hedging Activities, and by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 149,
Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, (hereinafter
collectively referred to as SFAS 133), for most of our derivatives. Some of our derivatives are
designated as either a hedge of a recognized asset or liability or an unrecognized firm
commitment (fair value hedge), or a hedge of a forecasted transaction (cash flow hedge). For
fair value hedges, both the effective and ineffective portion of the changes in the fair value of the
derivative, along with any gain or loss on the hedged item that is attributable to the hedged risk,
are recorded directly to operations. The effective portion of changes in fair value of derivatives
that are designated as cash ﬂow hedges are recorded in accumulated other comprehenswe
income/(loss), until the hedged item is realized, when the gain/(loss) previously included in
accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) is recognized in operations. Our foreign
currency hedges are accounted for under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 52
(SFAS 52), Foreign Currency Translation.

Long-lived Assets

I
i
y

The values assigned to lon"g-lived assets such as property, plant and equipment, assets
held for sale and goodwill are reviewed as appropriate. We estimate the depreciable lives of
property, plant and equipment, and review the assets for impairment if events, or changes in
circumstances, indicate that we may not recover the carrying amount of an asset.

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 (SFAS 142), Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets, addresses financial accounting and reporting for acquired goodwill and other
intangible assets. SFAS 142 presumes that goodwill has an indefinite useful life and thus should
not be amortized, but rather tested at least annually for impairment using a lower of cost or fair
value approach. During 2005, we conducted the required annual goodwill impairment review,
and based upon the results of this review, determined that there is no impairment of goodwill for
2005. We also conducted the required annual goodwill impairment review in 2004, and based
upon the results of that review, determined that there is no impairment of goodwill for 2004. In
evaluating goodwill, we make certain assumptions regarding estimated growth rates, profit
projections, rates of interest and other estimates. If we fail to achieve estimated growth rates
and/or profit projections, if interest rates increase, or if other estimates or assumptions change in
the future, we may record additional impairment charges for goodwill in the future.
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Income Taxes

For financial reporting purposes, we determine our current and deferred tax liabilities in
accordance with the liability method of accounting for income taxes as specified in Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 109 (SFAS 109), Accounting for Income Taxes. Under
SFAS 109, deferred tax liabilities and assets are recorded for the expected future tax
consequences of events that have been recognized in our financial statements or tax returns.
Property, plant and equipment, inventories, prepaid pension, postretirement benefit obligations,
and certain other accrued liabilities are the primary sources of these temporary differences.
Deferred income tax also includes operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. The Company
establishes valuation allowances to reduce deferred tax assets to amounts it believes are more
than likely than not to be realized. These valuation allowances are adjusted based upon changing
facts and circumstances.

Pension and Postretirement Benefit Costs

Net pension and postretirement costs were $13.7 million, $7.7 million and $8.1 million,
respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003. Net pension and
postretirement costs for 2005 include $3.4 million to recognize the effects of the termination of
the 2002 Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan in December 2005, and the freezing of the
Company’s U.S. defined benefit pension plan and Supplemental Benefit Restoration Plan,
effective February 28, 2006. Total estimated pension and postretirement expense in 2006 is
expected to be approximately $3.2 million. These expenses are primarily included in cost of
goods sold, and in selling, general and administrative expenses. Lesser amounts are included in
restructuring charges and discontinued operations. In 2005 and 2004, we did not make a
contribution to our U.S. defined benefit pension plan. In 2005, 2004 and 2003, we made
contributions of $1.1 million, $1.1 million and $0.6 million, respectively, to our Canadian
defined benefit pension plans. In 2003, we also transferred $4.3 million to a rabbi trust to
partially fund the vested benefit obligations to certain executives under our nonqualified
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan.

‘Our pension and postretirement benefit costs are developed from actuarial valuations.
Inherent in these valuations are key assumptions including discount rates and expected long-term
rates of return on plan assets. Material changes in our pension and postretirement benefit costs
may occur in the future due to changes in these assumptions, changes in the number of plan
participants, changes in the level of benefits provided, changes to the level of contributions to
these plans and other factors.

We determine our actuarial assumptions for the U.S. and Canadian pension and post
retirement plans, after consultation with our actuaries, on December 31 of each year to calculate
liability information as of that date and pension and postretirement expense for the following
year. The discount rate assumption is determined based on Moody’s Aa corporate bonds using
the average for the month of December.

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets of the various plans reflects
projected returns for the investment mix of the various pension plans that have been determined
to meet each plan’s investment objectives. The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets
is selected by taking into account the expected weighted averages of the investments of the
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assets, the fact that the plan assets are actively managed to mitigate downside risks, the historical
performance of the market in general and the historical performance of the retirement plan assets
over the past ten years.

Estimates and assumptions concerning our pension and postretirement obligations and
related periodic costs can be found in Notes 13 and 14 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

EITF 00-10

Prior to 2005, the Company did not apply the provisions of the Emerging Issues Task
Force (EITF) Consensus 00-10 as freight amounts billed to customers were not material to the
financial statements as a whole. Beginning on January 1, 2005, because the Company now
believes that, due to rising fuel and other transportation costs, freight costs billed to customers
may become material, the Company began classifying freight billed to customers as revenue
instead of as a reduction to cost of goods sold in accordance with EITF 00-10. The impact of the
reclassification for the year ended December 31, 2005 was $0.5 million. Prior year results have
not been restated as amounts were not material.

Acceleration of Option Vesting

On October 18, 2005, the Company accelerated the vesting of all out-of-the-money,
unvested, non-qualified stock options held by officers and employees, including options held by
each Named Executive Officer on that date. All options priced above $7.42, the closing market
price of the Company’s common stock on October 18, 2005, were considered to be out-of-the-
money. The acceleration was effective as of October 18, 2005. The options were granted under
the Company’s 2003 Equity Incentive Plan. No options held by non-employee directors were
subject to the acceleration.

The Company accelerated the vesting of the options in anticipation of the impact of
SFAS 123R. The primary purpose of the accelerated vesting was to avoid recognizing
compensation expense associated with these options upon adoption by the Company of SFAS
123R. Without the acceleration, the Company estimates that pre-tax charges under SFAS 123R
relating to these options would have been $0.9 million, of which $0.7 million and $0.2 million
would have been recognized in fiscal 2006 and 2007, respectively. Additionally, because these
options had exercise prices in excess of then current market values and were not fully achieving
their original objectives of incentive compensation and employee retention, the Company
believed that the acceleration would have a positive effect on employee morale and retention.

Components of Cost of Goods Sold

The cost of raw materials, principally copper, is a substantial portion of our cost of goods
sold. The rise and fall of copper prices and other metal affects the levels of our net sales, costs of
goods sold and the carrying value of inventory, even in the absence of increases or decreases in
business activity. We enter into commodity forward contracts to sell copper in an effort to
protect a portion of the value of our inventory against decreases in copper prices. The remainder
of our mventory is purchased, processed and sold approximately one month later, at the average
COMEX price. The Company believes this to be an effective hedge of its inventory sold under
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this methodology. Thus, while these hedges are in place, and if copper prices continue to
increase, our gross margin may be affected.

Variability of Wholesale Product Gross Profit

Gross profit attributable to sales of our wholesale products has fluctuated and may
continue to fluctuate substantially from period to period. Gross profit/(loss) from sales of these
products was $0.7 million in 2005, $5.9 million in 2004 and $(0.3) million in 2003. Gross profit
derived from the sale of wholesale products is mainly affected by changes in selling prices and
the cost of metal. Selling prices for these products are affected principally by general economic
conditions, especially the rate of housing starts, general commercial building activity, industry
competition and manufacturing capacity, industry production levels and other market factors.
All of these factors are beyond our control. Wholesale products are also the only significant
product group for which we are not able to pass metal price changes directly to our customers.

Impact of Product Mix

Our products range from higher value-added and higher margin commercial products to
commodity-type products such as wholesale tube products and rod and bar products. Our overall
profitability from period to period is affected by the mix of sales within these categories. We
have substantial sales in Canada, and our product mix in that market, as compared to the U.S.
market, reflects a much higher percentage of our commodity-type products.

Cyclical and Seasonal Nature of Demand

Demand for our products, particularly our wholesale products, is cyclical and is
significantly affected by changes in general economic conditions that affect our customers'
markets. Demand in some industries to which we sell, including the residential air conditioning
industry and, to a lesser extent, the commercial air conditioning industry, is also seasonal. Our
sales to the residential air conditioning market have historically been greater in the first and
second quarters of the year and lower in the third and fourth quarters because manufacturers
typically increase inventories in the early part of the year in anticipation of summer air
conditioning sales and housing starts. In addition, sales of industrial tube are adversely affected
in years with unusually cool summers.

In 2005, due to the uncertainty of demand resulting from the anticipated conversion from
10 SEER unitary air conditioning units to 13 SEER units in the first half of 2005, we experienced
sales increases to the residential air conditioning market which were greater in the second half of
2005, particularly in the fourth quarter. Beginning January 23, 2006, all residential air
conditioner units being manufactured in the U.S. must meet the 13 SEER standard. Our
customers estimate that the 13 SEER units will initially require an estimated 25% - 35% more
copper tubing.
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Results of Continuing Operations
Year-Ended December 31, 2005, Compared with Year-Ended December 31, 2004

Total pounds shipped in 2005 were 320.6 million, versus 339.4 million pounds shipped in
2004, a decrease of 18.8 million pounds or 5.5%. The decrease in pounds shipped by business
segment was as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands, except for percentages) 2005 2004 Decrease % Decrease
Commercial products 213,962 225,996 12,034 5.3%
Wholesale products ) 88,455 89,078 623 0.7%
Rod, bar and other products 18,151 24,343 6,192 25.4%
Total 320,568 339417 18,849 5.5%

The decrease in pounds shipped in the commercial products segment was due primarily
to demand weakness in industrial tube reflecting the continued uncertainty by customers
surrounding the transition to production of 13 SEER air conditioning units, particularly in the
first nine months of 2005. Wholesale shipments for 2005 decreased slightly from 2004 levels.
Shipments of wholesale products throughout the first half of 2005 were negatively affected by
the continued high and erratic price of copper. Shipments of wholesale products began to
increase late in the third quarter reflecting the rebuilding of inventory levels by wholesalers and
distributors in order to service increased demand caused by rebuilding following several major
hurricanes. This increase in demand for wholesale products continued throughout the fourth
quarter. The decrease in pounds shipped in the rod, bar and other products segment is mainly the
result of the organized work slowdown by unionized employees at our Montreal, Quebec facility
during the first quarter of 2005, the effects of the subsequent strike during the second quarter,
and the longer than anticipated post-strike effects incurred at this facility during the second half
of 2005, which have not yet returned to pre-work slowdown levels.

Net sales increased by $75.6 million, or 9.5%, to $873.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005 from $797.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. The

increase/(decrease) in net sales by business segment was as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

3 %
Increase/ Increase/
_(In thousands, except for percentages) 2005 2004 Qecrease) (Decrease)
Commercial products $619,159 $570,666 $48,493 8.5%
Wholesale products 195,325 165,215 30,110 18.2%
Rod, bar and other products 59,021 61,994 (2,973) (4.8)%
Total $873,505 $797.875 $75,630 9.5%

Overall, the increase in revenue is the result of the rise in the average COMEX price of
copper increasing to $1.68 per pound in 2005 from $1.29 per pound in 2004. Average unit
fabrication revenues (sales less cost of metal) decreased two cents per pound to $1.03 per pound
in 2005, versus $1.05 per pound in 2004, primarily reflecting price erosion in our wholesale
products segment and the impact of our Chinese buy/resell program implemented in 2005, partly
offset by increases in fabrication revenues from fabricated and joining products.
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Commercial product sales increased $0.36 per pound, to $2.89 per pound in 2005 versus
$2.53 pér pound in 2004, a 14.2% increase. The majority of the improvement is due to the sharp
rise in copper prices year over year, partly offset by lower volumes. Fabrication revenue per
pound for the commercial product segment decreased 1% in 2005 to $1.24 per pound, from
$1.25 per pound in 2004. Wholesale product sales increased $0.35 per pound, to $2.21 per
pound in 2005 versus $1.86 in 2004, an 18.8% increase. This increase in price reflects the rising
COMEX price of copper on flat volume, partly offset by lower fabrication revenue. Fabrication
revenue‘ per pound for the wholesale products segment decreased 8.6% in 2005 to $0.53 per
pound, from $0.58 per pound in 2004. Rod, bar and other product sales decreased to $59.0
mllhon,1 or 4.8% from 2004, primarily reflecting reduced volumes related to our Montreal labor
issues, offset by the increase in copper prices. On a per unit basis, net sales for rod and bar
products increased 23.2% in 2005 over 2004 to $2.18 per pound, reflecting the increase in copper
prices. Fabrication revenue increased to $0.96 per pound in 2005 from $0.87 per pound in 2004,
a 10.3% increase principally due to price increases from the exit of a competitor in this product
segment.

|

Gross profit decreased $42.0 million, or 66.0%, to $21.6 million in 2005 from $63.7
million i in 2004. Gross profit decreased as average fabrication revenues decreased 2% in 2005 to
$1.03 per pound from $1.05 per pound in 2004 as discussed above, while the per pound cost to
manufacture increased approximately 8% in 2005 to $0.93 per pound from $0.86 per pound in
2004. Gross profit as a whole decreased to $0.07 per pound in 2005 from $0.19 per pound in
2004. The decrease in gross profit by business segment was as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31, .

(In thousands, except for percentages) 2005 2004 $ Decrease % Decrease
Commercial products $19,422 $52,918 $33,496 63.3%
© Wholesale products 650 5,924 5,274 89.0%
“ Rod, bar and other products 1,571 4,839 3,268 67.5%
Total $21,643 $63,681 $42,038 66.0%

The decrease in gross profit is mainly attributable to reduced production volumes
resulting in the under-absorption of fixed costs during 2005 given the fixed cost nature of our
business. In addition, gross margins were impacted by $9.1 million in pre-tax hedge and metal
valuation expenses (including backwardation losses and increased premiums over COMEX)
versus $2.3 million in 2004. Significant increases in energy costs, including natural gas, also had
a negative effect on gross profit, combined with weak pricing in the wholesale product segment.
The strike at our Montreal, Quebec facility, along with the impact of the pre and post strike
effects, and the year over year translation impact of the Canadian dollar versus the U.S. dollar
also negatively affected gross profit in 2005. For 2005, the percentage of sales made by our
Canadian facilities denominated in U.S. dollars was approximately 48% versus 51% in 2004.

Unit manufacturing costs for 2005 were $0.93 per pound, which includes the under-
absorption of overhead on lower production volumes, compounded by the Montreal strike, and
its pre and post strike effects and the increase in natural gas prices. This 2005 unit
manufacturing cost also includes a negative 0.01 cent per pound translation impact on
manufacturing costs due to the year-over-year strength of the Canadian dollar versus the U.S.
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dollar, and a $0.02 per pound year over year impact due to metal valuation expenses.
Manufacturing cost per pound in 2004 was $0.86.

Gross profit for the commercial products segment declined in 2005 due to $0.11 per
pound increase in manufacturing costs, which includes a year over year $0.04 cents per pound
impact due to metal valuation expenses. This is our largest segment, and therefore it was
allocated the majority of costs associated with the losses on the Company’s metal and natural gas
hedging programs. The increase in costs for the commercial products segments were mostly the
result of reduced production volumes caused by the planned inventory reductions resulting in the
under-absorption of fixed costs, a portion of the costs related to the Montreal facility strike and
its pre and post strike effects, lower margins associated with our buy/resell program, and a mix
shift in our technical and industrial tube products.

Gross profit for wholesale products decreased due principally to a decline in fabrication
revenue. Fabrication revenue decreased 8.6% from $0.58 per pound in 2004 to $0.53 per pound
in 2005. Gross profit declined in 2005 principally due to weak pricing throughout the first half
of the year. The average cost to manufacture per pound for wholesale products was flat at $0.51
per pound in both 2005 and 2004.

Gross profit for rod, bar and other products declined due to reduced volumes as a result
of the Montreal strike, and the pre and post strike effects, as well as cost increases out pacing
fabrication revenue gains. Fabrication revenue for 2005 increased 10.3% to $0.96 per pound
versus $0.87 per pound in 2004. Average cost to manufacture per pound for rod and bar
products in 2005 was $0.76 per pound versus $0.67 cents per pound in 2004, a 13.4% increase.

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expenses were $37.1 million for 2005 versus
$37.3 million for 2004, a decrease of $0.2 million, or 0.5%. The decrease in SG&A expense for
2005 as compared to 2004 is mostly the result of a decrease in compensation expense related to
reduced incentive accruals in 2005 and benefits achieved from reductions related to the
September 2005 workforce reduction. These gains were mostly offset by increased pension
curtailment expenses and accelerated vesting of certain restricted shares of $3.6 million.

The Company incurred restructuring expenses in 2005 of $1.4 million, as compared to
$2.5 million in 2004. The restructuring expenses incurred in 2005 were for severance and
benefit charges related to a reduction in workforce at the Company’s corporate headquarters’ and
for the elimination of certain support functions in its U.S. manufacturing operations, expenses
and a valuation write-down associated with the sale of our corporate aircraft, and credits
associated with the Booneville, MS facility closure. See Note 23 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.

The operating loss from continuing operations was $16.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005, as compared to an operating income from continuing operations of $23.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2004.

Net interest expense decreased $0.2 million to $20.7 million in 2005 from $20.9 million
in 2004 as a result of interest expense reductions from the repurchase of $18.6 million of our
10.5% Senior Notes in the second and third quarters of 2004 and increased interest income. This
was offset in 2005 by increased interest expense and fees due to a greater utilization of our
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liquidity facilities in 2005 versus 2004, along with the impact of higher interest rates on our
liquidity facilities, and the impact of increased interest rates on our interest rate swap valuation
(see Note 12 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

In 2004, the Company incurred charges of $3.0 million ($2.0 million net of tax),
associated with a loss on the extinguishment of debt, related to the repurchase of $18.6 million of
our 10.5% Senior Notes. Amortization and other, net was $2.8 million of expense in 2005, as
compared to $1.3 million of expense in 2004 primarily due to the loss in the 4™ quarter of 2005
on the sale of the Jackson, Tennessee facility. Amortization and other, net in 2005 also included
$0.5 million of foreign currency gains.

A net tax benefit of $1.8 million was recorded in 2005 as compared to a net tax benefit of
$1.9 million in 2004. The effective tax benefit rate in 2005 was 4.4%. The 2005 effective tax
benefit rate was reduced by a $12.6 million non-cash charge recorded to establish a valuation
allowance for its U.S. deferred tax assets. A $1.9 million tax benefit was recorded in 2004 on
pretax losses from continuing operations of $1.2 million. The high effective tax benefit rate
recorded in 2004 reflects federal tax benefits generated in the United States, where tax rates are
generally higher than in our foreign jurisdictions and where we had significant pre-tax losses.
The higher effective rate on adjusted pre-tax losses also reflects lower foreign tax rates and tax
holidays applicable to our profitable operations in China, Portugal and Canada.

The consolidated loss from continuing operations in 2005 was $38.6 million, or $2.57 per
diluted share, compared to income from continuing operations of $0.6 million, or $0.05 per
diluted share, in 2004.

Year-Ended December 31, 2004, Compared with Year-Ended December 31, 2003

Total pounds shipped in 2004 were 339.4 million, versus 327.3 million pounds shipped

during 2003, an increase of 12.1 million pounds or 3.7%. The increase/(decrease) in pounds

shipped by business segment was as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

%

Increase/ Increase/
(In thousands, except for percentages) 2004 2003 (Decrease)  (Decrease)
Commercial products 225,996 217,499 8,497 3.9%
Wholesale products 89,078 90,005 927) (1.0)%
Rod, bar and other products 24,343 19,850 4,493 22.6%
Total 339,417 327,354 12,063 3.7%

The increase in shipments of commercial products was primarily due to improvements in
the heating, ventilation and air conditioning (HVAC) and consumer appliance markets,
continued improvement in commercial construction and the continuation of favorable
outsourcing trends by customers to our fabricated products facilities. Wholesale shipments
decreased reflecting slower demand due to the hurricanes that impacted Florida in the third
quarter of 2004, and cautious purchasing by distributors and wholesalers due to erratic and rising
copper prices. Rod and bar products shipments increased due to market share gains.
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Net sales increased by $201.6 million, or 33.8%, to $797.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004 from $596.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. The increase in
net sales by business segment was as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands, except for percentages) 2004 2003 $ Increase % Increase
Commercial products $570,666 $442.471 $128,195 29.0%
Wholesale products 165,215 115,112 50,103 43.5%
Rod, bar and other products 61,994 38,741 23,253 60.0%
Total $797,875 $596,324 $201,551 33.8%

Overall, the increase in revenue is due to a combination of three factors: A 59% rise in
year Over year average copper prices, a 7.2% improvement in selling prices (excluding copper),
and a 3.7% rise in volume. For the 2004 year, the average monthly COMEX copper price was
$1.29 per pound, as compared to $0.81 per pound in 2003. The 7.2% improvement in selling
prices reflected a richer mix of products sold, as well as improved pricing.

Gross profit increased $22.9 million, or 56.0%, to $63.7 million in 2004 from $40.8
million in 2003. The increase in gross profit is mainly attributable to improved selling prices, the
increase in sales volumes, a richer mix of products sold, the elimination of overhead from our
Booneville, MS facility, tight cost controls associated with volume efficiencies and cost
reduction programs, all partly offset by the impact of the strengthening Canadian dollar on
manufacturing costs. Average sales revenue per pound (excluding metal) increased 7.2%, to
$1.05 per pound in 2004 from $0.98 per pound in 2003, while the per pound cost to manufacture
increased 1% overall in 2004 to $0.86 per pound from $0.85 per pound in 2003. Gross profit as
a whole increased to $0.19 per pound in 2004 from $0.13 per pound in 2003. The increase in
gross profit by business segment was as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

_(In thousands, except for percentages) 2004 2003 $ Increase % Increase
Commercial products $52,918 $38,997 $13,921 35.7%
Wholesale products 5,924 271) 6,195 NM*
Rod, bar and other products 4,839 2,100 2,739 130.4%
Total $63,681 $40,826 $22,855 56.0%

* Not Meaningful (NM)

The improvement in gross profit for commercial products is due to a combination of price
increases and product mix, and increases due to increased volumes. Manufacturing costs
decreased due to increased operational efficiencies and cost reduction programs. Average sales
revenue per pound in 2004 for commercial products (excluding metal) rose 4.2% to $1.25 per
pound from $1.20 per pound in 2003. Average cost to manufacture per pound decreased 1% to
$1.01 per pound in 2004 versus $1.02 in 2003.

Gross profit for wholesale products increased primarily due to increases in selling prices,
partly offset by metal valuation and the impact of the strengthening Canadian dollar on
manufacturing costs. Average sales revenue per pound in 2004 for wholesale products
(excluding metal) increased 23.4%, to $0.58 per pound in 2004 from $0.47 per pound in 2003.

40




Average cost to manufacture per pound increased 6.3% or $0.04 per pound, from $0.47 in 2003
to $0.51 in 2004.

Gross profit for rod, bar and other products benefited from increased volumes, improved
selling prices, partly reduced by increased manufacturing costs related to metal valuation and the
impact of the strengthening Canadian dollar on manufacturing costs. Average sales revenue per
pound in 2004 (excluding metal) increased 11.5% to $0.87 per pound in 2004 versus $0.78 in
2003. Average cost to manufacture per pound was basically flat at $0.67 per pound in both 2004
and 2003.

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expenses were $37.3 million for 2004 versus
$32.1 million for 2003, an increase of $5.2 million, or 16.2%. The increase in SG&A expense
for 2004 as compared to 2003 is mostly the result of increased employee costs, including
increased incentive compensation, increased employee benefit costs, and higher recruiting and
relocation costs. In addition, SG&A costs were also impacted in 2004 by increased professional
fees, including fees associated in complying with the internal control requirements of Section
404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as well as other professional fees.

The Company incurred restructuring expenses in 2004 of $2.5 million, as compared to
§$15.1 million in 2003. The restructuring expenses incurred in 2004 were mostly for severance
and benefit curtailment charges related to the transfer of equipment from our Decatur, Alabama
facility to our Shawnee, Oklahoma and Monterrey, Mexico facilities, expenses related to the
ramp-down of the Booneville, Mississippi facility, and for the sale of our previously closed
Roxboro, North Carolina facility. See Note 23 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for more information.

Operating income from continuing operations was $23.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004, as compared to an operating loss of $(6.3) million for the year ended
December 31, 2003.

Net interest expense decreased $0.3 million to $20.9 million in 2004 from $21.2 million
in 2003 due to lower interest costs related to the $18.6 million reduction in outstanding bonds, an
increase in interest expense related to increased average borrowings under the secured revolving
credit facility, an increase in interest expense related to rising short term interest rates, offset by a
reduction in interest expense due to increased capitalized interest and an increase in interest
income (see Note 12 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

In 2004, the Company incurred charges of $3.0 million ($2.0 million net of tax),
associated with a loss on the extinguishment of debt, related to the repurchase of $18.6 million of
our 10.5% Senior Notes. Amortization and other, net was $1.3 million of expense in 2004, as
compared to $1.9 million of expense in 2003. Amortization and other, net in 2004 included $0.2
million of foreign currency losses.

In 2004, we conducted the required annual goodwill impairment review, and based upon
the results of this review, determined that there is no impairment of goodwill for 2004. In the
third quarter of 2003, we incurred a charge of $23.2 million related to the write-off of all of the
goodwill associated with the Tube Group.
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A net tax benefit of $1.9 million was recorded in 2004 as compared to a net tax benefit of
$13.6 million in 2003. The effective tax rate recorded in 2004 reflects federal tax benefits
generated in the United States, where tax rates are generally higher than in our foreign
jurisdictions and where we had significant pre-tax losses. The higher effective rate on adjusted
pre-tax losses also reflects lower foreign tax rates and tax holidays applicable to our profitable
operations in China, Portugal and Canada. A $13.6 million tax benefit was recorded in 2003 on
pretax losses from continuing operations of $52.6 million, yielding an overall effective tax rate
of 25.9%. Adjusting the pre-tax loss to exclude $20.3 million of the $23.2 million charge for the
impairment of goodwill, which is not tax deductible, yields an adjusted effective tax rate of
42.1% for 2003.

Consolidated income from continuing operations in 2004 increased by $39.6 million to
$0.6 million, or $0.05 per diluted share, from a loss of $(39.0) million, or $(3.18) per diluted
share, in 2003.

Restructuring and Other Charges

In 2005, we recognized restructuring charges of $1.4 million ($0.9 million net of tax), of
which $1.3 million was for severance and benefit charges related to a reduction in workforce at
the Company’s corporate headquarters and for the elimination of certain support functions in its
U.S. and Canadian manufacturing operations, $0.6 million charge related to the sale of the
Company’s corporate aircraft, a $0.4 million credit associated with the Booneville, MS facility
closure and a $0.1 million credit related to our previously closed Roxboro, NC facility. At
December 31, 2005, reserves for restructuring charges totaled $0.8 million, all of which was for
the September 2005 workforce reduction. Restructuring reserves outstanding at December 31,
2004 were $0.4 million for the Booneville, MS closure and $0.2 million for severance at
Decatur, AL.

Restructuring expenses/(credits) for the twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2005
and 2004 are as follows;:

For the year ended
December 31
(In thousands) 2005 2004
Roxboro, NC closing $ (75 $1,413
Booneville, MS closing (420) 623
Employee severance 1,297 500
Sale of Company aircraft 614 -
Totals $1,416 $2,536
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table set forth selected information concerning our financial condition:

December 31, December 31,
2005 2004
{n thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents $ 27,329 $ 35,017
Working capital $181,427 $201,965
Total debt $235,168 $238,241
Current ratio 2.70 3.16

Overview and Outlook

Over the last six quarters, we have reported significant operating and restructuring losses.
Because our business has not generated sufficient unrestricted cash flow from operations to
satisfy our working capital needs, interest payment obligations, capital expenditures and other
cash requirements during 2005, we drew down amounts under our receivables sale facility and
our secured revolving credit facility in order to fund these requirements. In addition, our normal
working capital requirements typically increase during the first and second quarters of our fiscal
year. Continued rising copper prices, recent operating and restructuring losses, as well as normal
inventory builds during the first quarter have made it necessary for us to continue to draw-down
on our liquidity facilities to date in 2006. On February 1, 2006, Standard and Poor’s Ratings
Services (S&P) lowered its rating on our outstanding debt to CCC from CCC+, with an outlook
of negative. S&P’s expectation is that higher copper prices and operating losses will result in a
continued drain of our liquidity position.

Working with our commercial banks, on February 22, 2006, we completed amendments
to our secured revolving credit facility and our receivables sale facility which, by adjusting
certain eligibility and reserve calculations under the existing commitments, increased the current
availability under those facilities by an aggregate of up to $11.0 million compared to the
available amounts at December 31, 2005. As of February 26, 2006, our utilization of the
receivables sale facility was approximately $39.2 million, leaving approximately $5.8 million in
additional availability. Under our secured revolving credit facility, $12.8 million in letters of
credit and no revolving loans were outstanding, leaving approximately $18.4 million in
additional borrowing availability as of that date. We believe that the availability under these
amended facilities, combined with the unrestricted cash on hand in North America, should
provide the liquidity required during our peak use of working capital in the first half of 2006.

We are currently evaluating available means to obtain additional near-term liquidity, such
as a transaction to monetize our Canadian accounts receivable, should we deem it prudent for
reasons such as continued increases in metal prices. Because of significant debt incurrence
restrictions and other limitations contained in our senior note indentures and financing
agreements (primarily the indenture covenants that generally restrict our ability to incur secured
indebtedness for borrowed money in an aggregate amount greater than 10% of our consolidated
net tangible assets (which was $36.6 million at December 31, 2005), unless we equally and
ratably secure the senior notes), along with our already significant leverage and our current
financial condition and credit ratings, we may not be able to obtain significant additional
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incremental liquidity through our existing secured revolving credit facility or through a new
secured or unsecured lending arrangement. We are also evaluating refinancing or restructuring
alternatives in anticipation of the upcoming maturities of our secured revolving credit facility
and receivables sale facility in 2008, and senior note issues in 2008 and 2009. To assist
management in evaluating operating, liquidity and capital structure related issues, we have
engaged Rothschild, Inc.

With our current cash balances, amounts available under our amended liquidity facilities
and anticipated cash flow from continuing operations, we believe that we will be able to satisfy
existing working capital needs, debt service obligations and capital expenditure and other cash
requirements in the near to mid term. If, however, we cannot meet these obligations because we
are unable to generate sufficient cash from operations, access sufficient available funds under our
liquidity facilities or refinance or obtain additional liquidity sources, or if copper prices continue
to increase beyond our capacity to cover these increased costs, or because of other reasons, we
may face a default and acceleration of our debt, possibly leading to bankruptcy or insolvency.
See the discussion of related risks under Item 1A — “Risk Factors.”

Sources of Liquidity

Our principal sources of liquidity are cash and cash equivalents, cash provided by
operations, and amounts available under our liquidity facilities.

Cash and cash equivalents. During 2005, cash and cash equivalents decreased by $7.7
million. Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 were $27.3 million and
$35.0 million, respectively, of which $15.9 million and $23.8 million, respectively, were held by
subsidiaries located outside the U.S. On February 28, 2005, the Company repatriated
approximately $10.2 million in previously unremitted earnings from its Chinese subsidiary.
These funds had historically been considered as being “indefinitely invested”, and thus
unavailable for use in the U.S. The repatriation of these funds was mostly used to reduce
amounts outstanding under our secured revolving credit facility.

Approximately $6.6 million and $10.9 million of cash included in cash on hand was
restricted as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and was not available for general
corporate use. Restricted cash at December 31, 2005 included $2.4 million related to deposits
for margin calls on our metal and natural gas hedge programs, a $1.4 million deposit with Bank
of America related to our silver consignment facility, $1.2 million as collateral to secure our
travel and purchase credit card programs, $0.7 million to secure a letter of credit for a loan made
by the Portuguese government, $0.4 million as a deposit for the Monterrey, Mexico facility lease,
$0.3 million in escrow related to the sale of our former Roxboro, North Carolina facility, and
$0.2 to secure a letter of credit for the Canadian Customs Bureau. At December 31, 2004,
restricted cash included $7.6 million related to deposits for margin calls on our metal and natural
gas hedge program, $1.8 million to secure a letter of credit for a loan made by the Portuguese
government, $0.8 million as collateral to secure our travel and purchase credit card programs,
$0.4 million as a deposit for the Monterrey, Mexico facility lease and $0.3 million in escrow
related to the sale of our former Roxboro, North Carolina facility.

Cash generated from/(used for) operations. Cash used for operating activities in 2005
was $4.9 million. Cash used for operating activities in 2004 was $8.6 million and cash generated
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from operations in 2003 was $0.2 million. Planned inventory reductions throughout 2005 was
the primary factor in reducing 2005 cash used in operations from the 2004 level. The continued
rise in copper prices throughout 2005 and 2004 continues to negatively impact our working
capital position and also impacted cash from operations.

Borrowings under our secured revolving credit facility. We had no borrowings
outstanding under our secured revolving credit facility in place at December 31, 2005, and
approximately $12.5 million of standby letters of credit outstanding. After taking into account
$8.1 million of reserves and other holdbacks, we had $11.9 million in additional borrowing
availability under the secured revolving credit facility as of that date. As of December 31, 2004,
there was $1.0 million outstanding under the secured revolving credit facility. We also had
approximately $9.2 million of standby letters of credit issued under the secured revolving credit
facility and approximately $26.6 million (subject to a $2.0 million excess availability
requirement) in additional borrowing availability thereunder at December 31, 2004. Our ability
to borrow under our secured revolving credit facility depends on the amount of available
borrowing base, and our compliance with all covenants contained in the agreement. See
“Financing Agreements — Liquidity Facilities - Secured Revolving Credit Facility” below.

Cash from our receivables sale facility. The amount of cash available to us under our
receivables sale facility is based upon the amount of eligible receivables and certain reserves
required by the facility. Accordingly, availability may fluctuate over time, but in no case will it
exceed the facility’s $45.0 million purchase limit. Based upon a servicing report as of December
31, 2005, the value of receivables eligible to be purchased totaled approximately $34.0 million.
We had utilized $19.0 million under the facility at December 31, 2005, leaving approximately
$15.0 million in availability as of this date. See “Financing Agreements — Liquidity Facilities -
Receivables Sale Facility” below.

Uses of Liquidity

Our principal uses of liquidity are funding the losses from operations, working capital
needs, capital expenditures and interest, the funding of payments related to our outstanding debt
and other financing facilities, and the funding of pension obligations.

Working capital needs. As noted above, cash used by operating activities in 2005 was
$4.9 million, as compared to cash used by operating activities of $8.6 million for 2004 and cash
generated from operations of $0.2 million in 2003. The decrease in cash used by operations
during 2005 is primarily the result of planned inventory reductions, offset by increased working
capital needs caused by the significant increase in the price of copper. Our business typically
produces greater sales and requires a greater use of cash for working capital purposes in the first
half of the year, as compared to the second half of the year when working capital is normally
liquidated. The continued rise in copper prices during the third and fourth quarters of 2005
prolonged our inability to reduce our working capital during the second half of 2005, as is
usually the case.

Capital expenditures. In 2005, capital expenditures totaled $10.0 million versus $11.7

million in 2004 and $6.0 million in 2003. Capital expenditures include asset replacement,
environmental and safety compliance, cost reduction, productivity improvement items, and, in
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2005 and 2004, expenditures for our Monterrey, Mexico manufacturing facility. We expect to
spend approximately $9 million on capital expenditures in 2006.

Payments related to our outstanding debt and other financing facilities. In 2005, we
made interest and other fee payments on our senior notes, liquidity facilities and other debt
totaling $21.1 million, versus payments of $21.5 million in 2004 and $22.5 million in 2003. The
decrease in interest and other fee payments from 2004 to 2005 is the result of interest expense
reductions from the repurchase of $18.6 million of our 10.5% Senior Notes in the second and
third quarters of 2004 and increased interest income, offset in 2005 by increased interest and fee
expense due to a greater utilization of our liquidity facilities in 2005 versus 2004, along with the
impact of higher interest rates on our liquidity facilities, and the impact of increased interest rates
on our interest rate swap valuation.

Funding of pension obligations. In 2005 and 2004, we did not make any contributions to
our U.S. qualified defined benefit pension plan. In 2005, 2004 and 2003, we made contributions
of $1.1 million, $1.1 million and $0.6 million, respectively, to our Canadian defined benefit
pension plans. In 2006, we anticipate making mandatory contributions totaling $1.4 million to
our U.S. qualified defined benefit plan as required by funding regulations or laws. In addition,
we expect to make a $2.6 million contribution to our Canadian pension plans in 2006.

The Company has announced it is freezing its U.S. defined benefit pension plan and
Supplemental Benefit Restoration Plan, effective February 28, 2006. In conjunction with the
freezing of these plans, the Company on March 1, 2006, made enhancements to its 401(k) plan
for the employees impacted by this action. These enhancements include an automatic three
percent contribution to each affected employee’s 401(k) account, a match of employees’
contributions, the addition of a success sharing component to the 401(k) plan, and the provision
of transition contributions for five years for certain employees based upon an employee’s age
and years of service as of February 28, 2006. With the implementation of these changes, the
Company estimates its 2006 401(k) expense to be approximately $4.8 million.

In 2003, we transferred $4.3 million to a rabbi trust to partially fund the vested benefit
obligations to certain executives under our 2002 Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan.
There has been no additional funding of the rabbi trust. In 2005, we paid James E. Deason $1.6
million from our general operating funds due to his retirement in March 2005, which represented
Mr. Deason’s vested benefits under the 2002 Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan and the
Supplemental Benefit Restoration Plan. We also made payments of $0.1 million to participants
of the Supplemental Benefit Restoration Plan in 2005 to cover expected normal payouts. In
2006, we anticipate making payments to participants of the Supplemental Benefit Restoration
Plan totaling $0.1 million, which represents the equivalent of the normal amount of benefits. We
also anticipate paying, in 2006, a lump sum distribution of $5.7 million to Dennis J. Horowitz,
who retired on December 9, 2005, which represents his vested benefits under the 2002
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan and Supplemental Benefit Restoration Plan. Mr.
Horowitz’s payout will be made from a combination of the funds previously held in the rabbi
trust and from general corporate funds.




Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

On April 28, 2005, we established a three-year receivables sale facility arranged by
Wachovia Bank, National Association (Wachovia) under which we can sell on a revolving basis
up to $45 million of eligible accounts receivable. We consider the receivables sale facility to be
a critical component of our overall liquidity. Along with our secured revolving credit facility,
we look to the receivables sale facility as a primary source of funding for our working capital
requirements. Generally, the receivables sale facility allows us to fund these cash requirements
more cost effectively than the secured revolving credit facility.

Under the receivables sale facility, the Company and two of its U.S. subsidiaries (the
Originators) sell certain receivables at a discount and without recourse to DEJ 98 Finance, LLC
(DEJ), a bankruptcy-remote, special purpose entity that is a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company. In turn, DEJ may sell undivided interests in a specified portion of these receivables,
as necessary, to Variable Funding Capital Company LLC (VFCC), a commercial paper conduit
affiliated with Wachovia, or in certain cases to Wachovia as liquidity provider. The Company
structured the sale of receivables by the Originators to DEJ and the sale of receivable interests
from DEJ as “true sales” under applicable laws. Any interests in the sold receivables which are
retained by DEJ, the special purpose, bankruptcy-remote entity, will not be available to the
Company or its creditors. VFCC and Wachovia have no recourse to the Company’s or the
Originators’ assets for losses resulting from the financial inability of customers to pay amounts
owed on the receivables when they become due. Wolverine Finance, LLC (a subsidiary of the
Company), services the receivables sold to DEJ. The Company has guaranteed the performance
by its subsidiaries of their obligations under the receivables sale facility. Costs associated with
amounts outstanding under the receivables sale facility are generally based upon VFCC’s cost of
funds for issuing commercial paper plus monthly fees that vary based upon outstanding amounts
and our fixed charge coverage ratio. To the extent that purchases are funded by Wachovia
instead of VFCC, our monthly costs vary in relation to short-term interest rates and our fixed
charge coverage ratio. We also pay commitment and other bank fees related to this facility.

The amount of cash available to us under the receivables sale facility (within the $45
million limit) is based upon the amount of eligible receivables and certain reserves required by
the facility. Accordingly, availability may be reduced, perhaps materially, as a result of adverse
changes in receivables eligibility balances and facility reserves, which are affected primarily by
changes in various criteria related to the quality of receivables within the receivables pool. In
addition, Wachovia can terminate purchases of receivables interests prior to the scheduled
expiration date of the receivables sale facility on April 28, 2008 upon the occurrence of certain
“amortization events,” including, among others, our non-compliance with the facility’s various
covenants and requirements and a default on (or termination of) certain of our other financing
arrangements. An amortization event under the receivables sale facility, without waivers from
the relevant counterparties, would trigger an event of default under our secured revolving credit
facility and our silver consignment and forward contracts facility, which in turn could result in
the acceleration of our obligations under those arrangements as well as under our senior note
indentures. As a result, if we are unable to obtain appropriate waivers, a termination of the
receivables sale facility would not only prevent us from accessing our alternative source of
working capital funding (the secured revolving credit facility), but would also require us to
refinance or restructure the receivables sale facility, the secured revolving credit facility and the
silver consignment and forward contracts facility (and possibly our senior note financings) in a
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timely manner. If we are unable to do so, we could face bankruptcy or insolvency.

The terms of the agreements governing the receivables sale facility are more fully
described below in “Financing Agreements—Liquidity Facilities—Receivables Sale Facility”
and in Note 11 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

In accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 140 (SFAS 140), Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets, the Company
includes in accounts receivable in its consolidated balance sheets the portion of receivables sold
to DEJ which have not been resold by DEJ to VFCC or Wachovia and certain other purchasers.
At December 31, 2005, the outstanding amount of investment by VFCC of commercial paper
under the agreements was $19.0 million. Accordingly, accounts receivable in the consolidated
balance sheets have been reduced by $19.0 million at December 31, 2005, representing the face
amount of the outstanding receivables sold at that date.

Other than the receivables sale facility, the Company had no other off-balance sheet
arrangements as of December 31, 2005 that either have, or are reasonably likely to have, a
material current or future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition,
revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The following table provides a summary of our contractual obligations and commercial
commitments as of December 31, 2005. Other non-current liabilities included in our
Consolidated Balance Sheet that may not be fully disclosed below include accrued pension, post
retirement and environmental costs. Refer to Notes 13, 14, 15, 16, and 21 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Payments due or expiring by period

Less than 1 More than

_(In thousands) Total year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years

Contractual obligations:

Long-term debt $235,168 $ 248 $137,638 $97,282 $ -

Operating leases 6,913 3,084 3,122 688 19

Commitments for capital expenditures 494 494 - - -

Estimated interest and fee payments on

senior notes, liquidity facilities and other

debt 66,903 20,522 37,683 8,698 -

Estimated payments on interest rate swap 2,572 388 2,184 - -

Estimated payments for U.S. defined

benefit pension plan 9,800 1,400 6,800 1,600 -

Estimated payments for Canadian

defined pension plans 8,900 2,561 3,419 2,920 -

Other purchase obligations 1,071 1,071 - - -

Total contractual obligations $331,821 $29,768 $190,846 $111,188 $19

Other commercial commitments (by

scheduled expiration dates): - - - - -

Standby letters of credit $12,534 $1,600 $10,934 - -
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At December 31, 2005, we also had commitments to purchase approximately 130.2
million pounds of copper during 2006, to be priced when purchased at COMEX plus an average
fixed spread of $0.06 per pound. During 2005, the average monthly COMEX price of copper
ranged from $1.45 to $2.17 per pound. These commitments were negotiated in the normal
course of business and represent a portion of our copper requirements for 2006, which we
anticipate will exceed 341 million pounds.

Financing Agreements
Liquidity Facilities

On April 28, 2005, we established a three year receivables sale facility of up to $45
million arranged by Wachovia Bank, National Association (Wachovia); amended and restated
our secured revolving credit facility with Wachovia pursuant to an Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement to provide for a three year facility of up to $35 million; and amended and restated our
silver consignment and forward contracts facility with BANA, pursuant to an Amended and
Restated Consignment Agreement. The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement and the
Amended and Restated Consignment Agreement included amendments to the consolidated
EBITDA covenants in each of those agreements to bring us into compliance with the
consolidated EBITDA requirements for the first quarter of 2005.

Because we would not have been in compliance with the second quarter 2005
consolidated EBITDA requirement in the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, the
Amended and Restated Consignment Agreement or the Receivables Purchase Agreement
relating to the receivables sale facility, we further amended these agreements on August 1, 2005.
The August 2005 amendments included modifications to the consolidated EBITDA requirements
in these agreements to bring us into compliance with the consolidated EBITDA requirements for
the second quarter of 2005. In addition, because we would not have been in compliance with the
consolidated EBITDA requirements in both the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement and
the Receivables Purchase Agreement for the third quarter of 2005, we further amended these
agreements effective as of September 30, 2005. The September 2005 amendments suspended
the minimum consolidated EBITDA covenants in these agreements until quarterly testing
resumes in the second quarter of 2007. All of our existing and amended liquidity facilities have
cross default provisions.

As of December 31, 2005 and after giving effect to the September 2005 amendments, we
are in compliance with the financial covenants contained in the Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement, the Amended and Restated Consignment Agreement and the Receivables Purchase
Agreement.

The following summary of our secured revolving credit facility, our silver consignment
and forward contracts facility and our receivables sales facility reflects the terms of the relevant
agreements at December 31, 2005 as amended by the August 2005 and September 2005
amendments. We further amended each of these agreements in February 2006, as described
below in “February 2006 Amendments™.
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Secured Revolving Credit Facility

Availability. The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement we entered into in April 2005
provided for maximum aggregate borrowing availability of up to $35.0 million, subject to a $5.0
million excess availability requirement. The August 2005 amendment to the Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement eliminated this excess availability requirement. The aggregate
amount available under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement included a $12.0 million
sub-limit for letters of credit, and this sub-limit was increased to $18.0 million in the August
2005 amendment.

Borrowing Base. At any time before the maturity of the facility, we may draw, repay and
re-borrow amounts available under the borrowing base up to the maximum aggregate availability
discussed above. Under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement we entered into in April
2005, the borrowing base generally equaled the sum of (i) 85% of our eligible U.S. accounts
receivable (other than accounts of Wolverine Joining Technologies, LLC) and (ii) 60% of our
eligible U.S. inventory (eligible inventory attributable to Wolverine Joining Technologies, LLC
is capped at $3.0 million). The August 2005 amendment added to this borrowing base 25% of
the net book value of our eligible U.S. equipment, capped at $8.0 million. The administrative
agent is allowed to establish reserve requirements, and those reserve requirements and eligibility
standards may be adjusted during the term. As of December 31, 2005, the reserve requirement
was $6.0 million.

Interest and Fees. Under our secured revolving credit facility, borrowings generally bear
interest, at our option, at the following rates (i) the Eurodollar rate or the LMIR rate plus a
margin between 1.75% to 3.00%, depending on the fixed charge coverage ratio of the Company
and its consolidated subsidiaries, or (ii) the greater of the prime rate or adjusted federal funds
rate plus a margin between 0.00% to 0.50%, depending on the fixed charge coverage ratio.
Accrued interest is payable monthly on outstanding principal amounts, quarterly in the case of
Eurodollar loans. In addition, fees and expenses are payable based on unused borrowing
availability (0.25% to 0.50% per annum, depending on the fixed charge coverage ratio),
outstanding letters of credit (1.75% to 3.00% fee, depending on the fixed charge coverage ratio)
and administrative and legal costs.

Maturity. The maturity date of the secured revolving credit facility is April 28, 2008, at
which time all amounts borrowed under the facility will be due and outstanding letters of credit
must be cash collateralized. The facility may be terminated early upon the occurrence of an
event of default.

Security. The obligations under the secured revolving credit facility are secured by (i) a
first priority lien on substantially all of our U.S. assets, including inventory and accounts
receivable not sold in the receivables sale facility (but excluding real estate) and (ii) a first
priority pledge of the capital stock of existing and future first-tier foreign subsidiaries of the
Company and its U.S. subsidiaries. In addition, the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement we
entered into in April 2005 provided for a springing first priority lien on our U.S. equipment at
such time as the outstanding obligations reached $18 million. However, the August 2005
amendment provided for an immediate grant of a first priority lien on our U.S. equipment (other
than leased or owned aircraft).
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Covenants. The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement contains customary
representations and warranties, as well as covenants which, among other things, limit our ability
to incur additional indebtedness and liens; enter into transactions with affiliates; make
acquisitions; pay dividends; redeem or repurchase capital stock or senior notes; make
investments or loans; make negative pledges; consolidate, merge or effect asset sales; or change
the nature of our business. The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement we entered into in
April 2005 also contained certain financial covenants including: (a) a minimum consolidated
EBITDA test measured quarterly on a rolling four quarter basis; (b) a $15 million annual
consolidated capital expenditure limitation; (c¢) a minimum $5 million ongoing excess
availability requirement; and (d) a monthly minimum fixed charge coverage ratio to be tested at
and after any time when outstanding obligations under the secured revolving credit facility
equal or exceed $18 million (which, if such requirement were applicable in 2005, would be 1.0
to 1.0).

The August 2005 amendment adjusted the consolidated EBITDA covenant (a) to require
minimum consolidated EBITDA, measured on a rolling four quarter basis, to be at least
$19,250,000 for the second fiscal quarter of 2005, in order to bring us into compliance with this
covenant for that period; (b) to require minimum consolidated EBITDA to be tested monthly on
-a rolling twelve-month basis beginning in September 2005 through September 2006, with
quarterly tests to resume in December 2006; and (c) to revise the definition of consolidated
EBITDA to eliminate adjustments for extraordinary losses and to provide limited adjustments
for certain backwardation (inverted market) hedge-related losses and restructuring charges.
This amendment also eliminated the $5 million excess availability requirement and added or
enhanced certain financial and operational reporting obligations.

The September 2005 amendment eliminated the requirement that minimum consolidated
EBITDA be tested monthly on a rolling twelve-month basis beginning with the production
month ending closest to September 30, 2005 and further adjusted this covenant to require
minimum consolidated EBITDA to be greater than or equal to $32,000,000, calculated on a
rolling four quarter basis, commencing with the fiscal quarter ending closest to June 30, 2007
and for each fiscal quarter thereafter. As a result, the minimum consolidated EBITDA covenant
is suspended until quarterly testing resumes for the second fiscal quarter of 2007.

Events of Default and Acceleration. The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
contains customary events of default for credit facilities of this size and type, and includes,
without limitation, payment defaults; defaults in performance of covenants or other agreements
contained in the transaction documents; inaccuracies in representations and warranties; certain
defaults, termination events or similar events with respect to the receivables sale facility or the
silver consignment and forward contracts facility; certain defaults with respect to our outstanding
senior notes or other indebtedness in excess of $2.5 million; certain bankruptcy or insolvency
events; the rendering of certain judgments in excess of $2.5 million; certain ERISA events;
certain change in control events and the defectiveness of any liens under the secured revolving
credit facility. Obligations under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement may be
accelerated upon the occurrence of an event of default.

We had no borrowings outstanding under our secured revolving credit facility at
December 31, 2005, and approximately $12.5 million of standby letters of credit outstanding.
After taking into account $8.1 million of reserves and other holdbacks, we had $11.9 million in
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additional borrowing availability under the secured revolving credit facility as of that date. As of
December 31, 2004, we had $1.0 million in outstanding borrowings under our secured revolving
credit facility, approximately $9.2 million of standby letters of credit outstanding, and
approximately $26.6 million (subject to a $2.0 million excess availability requirement) in
additional borrowing capacity available thereunder. Borrowing capacity available as of
December 31, 2005, and December 31, 2004 reflects a reduction in the available amount for the
value of the interest rate swap outstanding of $1.8 million and $0.7 million, respectively.

Silver Consignment and Forward Contracts Facility

Under our Amended and Restated Consignment Agreement, BANA extends to us a silver
consignment facility, pursuant to which BANA consigns certain amounts of silver upon request,
as well as a silver forward contracts facility, pursuant to which we may contract to purchase
certain amounts of silver from BANA in the future for a set price. Under the agreement we
entered into on April 2005, the maximum value of consigned silver available to us at any time
under the consignment facility is limited to the lesser of $17 million dollars or the value of
2.4 million fine troy ounces of silver, in either case less an amount equal to 20% of the face
value of all outstanding forward contracts under the forward contract facility. The forward
contract limit is $700,000, which permits us to have up to $3.5 million in aggregate face value of
forward contracts outstanding under this facility. The remaining terms of the Amended and
Restated Consignment Agreement include:

Fees. We pay BANA a market premium per troy ounce of consigned silver as well as a
floating consignment fee on consigned silver at an annual rate fixed by BANA from time to time
(4.7% at December 31, 2005). We may elect, in certain circumstances, to pay a fixed
consignment fee on specific quantities and forms of consigned silver at a market rate reflective
of BANA’s cost of funding. When silver is purchased and withdrawn from consignment,
whether upon election or sale to customers in the ordinary course of business, we are obligated to
either pay BANA the purchase price of the silver or deliver an equal amount of silver to BANA’s
account. We may also enter into floating forward contracts which bear interest payable on a
monthly basis at a per annum rate equal to the prime rate minus 1-1/2%, or hybrid forward
contracts under which the purchase price includes the carrying cost.

Security. To secure our obligations under the Amended and Restated Consignment
Agreement, BANA has a first priority security interest in the silver subject to consignment or
outstanding forward contracts and any proceeds and products thereof (other than receivables and
associated collections sold by us in connection with the receivables sale facility). In addition, in
the August 2005 amendment, we granted BANA a security interest in all of our silver bullion
(whether or not consigned by BANA) and the proceeds and products thereof (other than
receivables and associated collections sold in connection with the receivables sale facility). As
of December 31, 2005, we had placed $1.4 million in escrow to cover the costs of refining,
processing and recovery of the consigned silver, and provided BANA with a letter of credit for
$3.5 million at December 31, 2005 that may be drawn by BANA to fund our required purchase
of consigned silver upon the earlier of the occurrence of an event of default and acceleration or
the termination of the silver consignment facility. On January 13, 2006, the letter of credit was
amended to increase the face amount to $6.0 million and on February 3, 2006, the escrow funds
held by BANA in the amount of $1.4 million were returned to us.
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Representations, Warranties and Covenants. The Amended and Restated Consignment
Agreement includes customary representations, warranties and covenants and incorporates by
reference all of the representations, warranties and covenants contained in the Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement, as discussed above. The Amended and Restated Consignment
Agreement we entered into in April 2005 contained financial covenants consistent with those in
the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement. The August 2005 amendment eliminated all
financial covenants, including the consolidated EBITDA test for the second fiscal quarter of
2005. The August 2005 amendment also shortened certain monthly reporting deadlines.

Termination and Events of Default. Under the Amended and Restated Consignment
Agreement we entered into in April 2005, the consignment facility and/or the forward contracts
facility, and BANA’s obligations thereunder, were terminable by BANA upon 30 days prior
written notice. Upon such termination, all sums outstanding under the relevant facility would
become due and payable and upon termination of the consignment facility, any consigned silver
that had not been purchased and paid for would be required to be returned to BANA. The
August 2005 amendment revised this termination provision, providing that the consignment
facility and/or the forward contracts facility, and BANA’s obligations thereunder, may be
terminated by BANA at any time, with payment for all sums outstanding under such terminated
facility due within three business days after written notice of termination. In addition, upon the
occurrence of any of the events of default contained in the Amended and Restated Consignment
Agreement, BANA may terminate its obligations, and accelerate all of our obligations
thereunder. Events of default include, among others, defaults in payment or performance of
obligations under any transaction agreement or to BANA or Fleet National Bank or any affiliate;
inaccuracy of representations or warranties; certain defaults, termination events or similar events
with respect to the receivables sale facility, the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, our
outstanding senior notes or other indebtedness in excess of $2.5 million; certain bankruptcy or
insolvency events; certain material loss, theft or damage to, or attachment of, the consigned
silver; the determination by BANA in good faith that the Company has suffered a material
adverse change; and certain change in control events.

At December 31, 2005, we had $13.5 million of silver in our inventory under the silver
consignment facility, with a corresponding amount included in accounts payable, and $1.1
million committed to under the forward contracts facility. At December 31, 2004, we had $13.9
million in our inventory under the silver consignment facility, with a corresponding amount
included in accounts payable, and $0.7 million outstanding under the forward contracts facility.

Receivables Sale Facility

On April 28, 2005, in conjunction with amending and restating our secured revolving
credit facility and our silver consignment and forward contracts facility, we established a three
year receivables sale facility of up to $45 million arranged by Wachovia.

Structure. Under the receivables sale facility, the Company and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries Small Tube Manufacturing, LLC and Tube Forming, L.P. (collectively, the
Originators) continuously sell certain receivables without recourse to DEJ 98 Finance, LLC
(DEJ), a wholly owned, bankruptcy-remote special purpose entity, pursuant to a Receivables
Sale Agreement between the Originators and DEJ. Wolverine Finance, LLC (Wolverine
Finance), a whelly owned subsidiary of the Company, has been engaged by DEJ to service the
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sold receivables. The books and records of DEJ 'are included in the consolidated financial
statements of the Company for financial reporting purposes.

The Originators sell, or transfer as a contribution of capital, certain U.S. receivables, at a
discount and without recourse, to DEJ, whose sole business purpose is the acquisition and
financing of the receivables. DEJ can then further sell undivided interests in a specified portion
of these receivables, as necessary, to Variable Funding Capital Company, LLC, assignee of Blue
Ridge Asset Funding Corporation (VFCC), or, to the extent that VFCC elects not to purchase, to
Wachovia and certain other purchasers (the Liquidity Banks), pursuant to a Receivables
Purchase Agreement among DEJ, Wolverine Finance, the Company, VFCC, the Liquidity Banks
from time to time party thereto and Wachovia, as agent, in order to provide the funds required to
purchase receivables from the Originators. Proceeds from the collection of the receivables are
used by DEJ to purchase additional receivables from the Originators, repay VFCC or the
Liquidity Banks in the event that sufficient additional receivables are not available to maintain
their investment, or pay fees and expenses. The Company has guaranteed the performance by
the other Originators of their obligations under the Receivables Sale Agreement and Wolverine
Finance’s obligations under the Receivables Purchase Agreement. The Company structured the
sale of receivables by the Originators to DEJ and the sale of receivable interests from DEJ as
“true sales” under applicable laws. Any interests in the sold receivables which are retained by
DEJ, the special purpose, bankruptcy-remote entity, will not be available to the Company or its
creditors. VFCC and Wachovia have no recourse to the Company’s or the Originators’ assets for
losses resulting from the financial inability of customers to pay amounts owed on the receivables
when they become due. DEJ is a separate entity with its own creditors who, in the event of
DEJ’s liquidation, will be entitled to a claim on DEJ’s assets prior to any distribution to the
Company.

Available Amounts. The amount of cash available to us from VFCC or the Liquidity
Banks is based upon the amount of eligible receivables and certain reserves required by the
facility. Accordingly, availability may fluctuate over time given changes in eligible receivables
balances and calculation of reserves, but in no case will it exceed the facility’s $45 million
purchase limit.

Based upon the servicing report prepared by Wolverine Finance as of December 31,
2005, the value of receivables eligible to be purchased by VFCC totaled approximately $34.0
million. We utilized $19.0 million under the facility at December 31, 2005, leaving remaining
availability at this date of approximately $15.0 million.

Costs. Our costs associated with the receivables sale facility depend on whether
purchases are funded by VFCC or by the Liquidity Banks. To the extent that purchases are
funded by VFCC, our costs will be based on VFCC’s cost of funds for issuing commercial paper
plus monthly fees based on the average aggregate daily outstanding balance funded by VFCC
multiplied by a per annum rate of between 0.80% to 1.75%, depending on our fixed charge
coverage ratio. To the extent that purchases are not funded by VFCC, but instead are funded
directly by the Liquidity Banks, our costs, payable monthly, will generally accrue on outstanding
balances at either (i) the LIBO rate plus a margin between 1.75% to 3.00%, depending on the
fixed charge coverage ratio, or (ii) the greater of the prime rate or adjusted federal funds rate plus
a margin between 0.00% to 0.50%, dependir-g on our fixed charge coverage ratio. Commitment
fees are payable monthly at a per annum - .te of between 0.35% to 0.50%, depending on our
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fixed charge coverage ratio, and accrue on the unused portion of the facility. DEJ also pays
certain fees and expenses of Wachovia and VFCC, including an annual administration fee and
audit and legal fees of VFCC and Wachovia associated with the receivables sale facility. We
also paid a one-time structuring fee to Wachovia at closing.

Representations, Warranties, Covenants and Indemnities. The receivables sale facility
contains representations, warranties, covenants and indemnities customary for facilities of this

type.

Termination. The receivables sale facility is scheduled to expire on April 28, 2008.
Although VFCC is not committed to purchase undivided ownership interests in receivables, the
Liquidity Banks have committed to (if VFCC does not) purchase receivables interests, on the
terms and subject to the conditions in the receivables sale facility, until this expiration date. The
Company can terminate the receivables sale facility upon 10 days notice without a termination
fee.

Wachovia, as agent for VFCC and the Liquidity Banks, can terminate purchases of
receivables interests prior to the scheduled expiration date upon the occurrence of certain events,
including, among others, non-performance by us of payments or other agreements under the
receivables sale facility; inaccuracy of the representations and warranties made in the facility
documents; defaults with respect to other obligations of DEJ; defaults with respect to
indebtedness in excess of $2.5 million of the Company or its subsidiaries other than DEJ;
bankruptcy or insolvency events regarding us or any of our subsidiaries; certain statistics
concerning collections of the receivables not meeting specified criteria; certain change of control
events; the rendering of judgments in excess of specified amounts against DEJ, us or our
subsidiaries; the termination of any of the transaction documents, the cessation of any transfers
of receivables under the Receivables Sale Agreement or the ineffectiveness of our performance
guarantee; the agent’s interest in the receivables ceasing to be valid; the outstanding amount
received by us exceeding the $45 million purchase limit or the aggregate adjusted amount of
outstanding receivables; certain events that materially adversely affect the credit quality of
receivables or the Company and its subsidiaries taken as a whole; certain ERISA events; and
defaults in any of the financial requirements contained in the Receivables Purchase Agreement,
which are the same as the financial covenants included in the Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement.

In accordance with the provisions of SFAS 140, the Company includes in accounts
receivable in its consolidated balance sheets the portion of receivables sold to DEJ which have
not been resold by DEJ to VFCC or the Liquidity Banks. At December 31, 2005, the outstanding
amount of investment by VFCC of commercial paper under the agreements was $19.0 million.
Accordingly, accounts receivable in the consolidated balance sheets have been reduced by
$19.0 million at December 31, 2005 representing the face amount of the outstanding receivables
sold at that date.

The August 2005 amendment to the Receivables Purchase Agreement included:

e an amendment to the consolidated EBITDA requirement for the second fiscal quarter
of 2005 in order to bring the Company into compliance with this requirement for that
period, as well as a prospective adjustment to the consolidated EBITDA test, both
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consistent with the revised consolidated EBITDA covenant contained in the August
2005 amendment to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement;

¢ the addition or enhancement of certain financial and operational reporting obligations,
including those obligations required under the August 2005 amendment to the
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement;

e an adjustment to the loss reserve and dilution reserve formulas that are used in the
availability calculation; and

e the elimination of the obligation to comply with the $5 million excess availability
requirement under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement.

The September 2005 amendment to the Receivables Purchase Agreement adjusted the
minimum consolidated EBITDA requirements to be consistent with the revised minimum
consolidated EBITDA covenant contained in the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement. As a
result, the minimum consolidated EBITDA covenant is effectively suspended until quarterly
testing resumes for the second fiscal quarter of 2007. In addition, the September 2005
amendment requires DEJ to furnish audited annual financial statements to Wachovia.

February 2006 Amendments

On February 22, 2006, we entered into amendments to the secured revolving credit
facility, receivables sale facility and silver consignment and forward contracts facility.

The terms of the amendment to the secured revolving credit facility included:

adjustments to the borrowing base calculation, including an increase in the book
value of eligible equipment included in the borrowing base from $8 million to $11
million, as well as the inclusion of certain billet inventory in the borrowing base;

a provision permitting the filing of certain precautionary financing statements in
connection with ordinary course tolling arrangements with customers; and
adjustments to certain reporting requirements.

As of February 26, 2006, $12.8 million in letters of credit and no revolving loans were
outstanding under the secured revolving credit facility. After giving effect to this amendment
and taking into account $2.1 million of reserves and other holdbacks (including $1.8 million in
interest rate swap-related reserves) as of that date, we had approximately $18.4 million in
borrowing availability under the secured revolving credit facility as February 26, 2006.

The terms of the amendment to the receivables sale facility included:

the institution of a weekly reporting and collections system;

a provision making the termination of the Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement an amortization event under the Receivables Purchase Agreement; and
certain adjustments to concentration and reserve calculations, including an
increase in the general obligor concentration limit for non-rated and non-
investment grade obligors to from 3% to 5%, an increase in one special obligor
concentration limit from 7.5% to 10%, and an increase in the fixed portion of the
required reserve factor floor from 13.5% to 22%.
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As of February 26, 2006, utilization of the receivables sale facility was approximately

$39.2 million, leaving approximately $5.8 million in additional availability thereunder after
giving effect to this amendment.

The terms of the amendment to the silver consignment and forward contracts facility

included:

an adjustment to the consignment limit decreasing the maximum value of
consigned silver available at any time under the consignment facility to the lesser
of $17.0 million dollars or the value of 2.0 million fine troy ounces of silver (as
this limit may be changed from time to time by the parties), in either case less an
amount equal to 20% of the face value of all outstanding forward contracts under
the forward contracts facility;

an increase in the floating consignment fee on consigned silver from an annual
rate of 4.50% to 5.25% (as this rate may be changed from time to time by
BANA);

an increase in the frequency of precious metal inventory reporting to twice
monthly; and

an agreement that BANA will not request additional letters of credit or other
collateral for the Company’s and Wolverine Joining’s obligations under the
Amended and Restated Consignment Agreement until the earlier of the
termination of the consignment facility, the termination of the forward contracts
facility or the occurrence of an event of default.

As of February 26, 2006, the value of consigned silver in inventory under the

consignment facility was approximately $14.4 million and the value of silver committed to
under the forward contracts facility was approximately $0.8 million.

10.5% Senior Notes due 2009

At December 31, 2005 we had outstanding $99.4 million in principal amount of our 10.5%
Senior Notes. Our 10.5% Senior Notes were issued pursuant to an indenture, dated as of March
27, 2002, between us and Wachovia Bank, National Association (successor to First Union
National Bank), as trustee. Our 10.5% Senior Notes:

have interest payment dates on April 1 and October 1 of each year;

are redeemable after the dates and at the prices (expressed in percentages of principal
amount on the redemption date), as set forth below:

Year Percentage
April 1,2006 ....ooviiiiii 105.250%
April 1, 2007 .o 102.625%
April 1,2008 and thereafter .............c.ooooiiiiiii 100.000%

are senior unsecured obligations and are equal priority in right of payment with any of
our existing and future senior unsecured indebtedness;

57




e are guaranteed by certain of our subsidiaries; and :

e are subject to the terms of the indenture governing our 10.5% Senior Notes, which
contains certain covenants, including covenants that limit our ability to, among other
things, incur unsecured indebtedness, incur indebtedness for borrowed money secured by
certain liens, make certain restricted payments, dispose of certain assets, enter into
affiliate transactions or engage in sale/leaseback transactions. :

7.375% Senior Notes due 2008

At December 31, 2005 we had outstanding $136.8 million in principal amount of our 7:375%
Senior Notes. Our 7.375% Senior Notes were issued pursuant to an indenture, dated as of
August 4, 1998, between us and Wachovia Bank, National Association (successor to First Union
National Bank), as trustee. Our 7.375% Senior Notes:

e have interest payment dates on February 1 and August 1 of each year;

e are redeemable at our option at a redemption price equal to the greater of (a) 100% of the
principal amount of our 7.375% Senior Notes to be redeemed, or (b) the sum of the
present value of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest thereon from
the redemption date to the maturity date, discounted to the redemption date on a
semiannual basis at the Treasury Rate plus 25 basis points, plus in each case, accrued
interest thereon to the date of redemption;

e are senior unsecured obligations and are equal priority in right of payment with any of
our existing and future senior unsecured indebtedness;

e are guaranteed by certain of our subsidiaries, all of which are also guarantors under the
10.5% Senior Notes issued in March 2002;

e are subject to the terms of the indenture governing our 7.375% Senior Notes, which
contains certain covenants, including covenants that limit our ability to incur
indebtedness for borrowed money secured by certain liens and to engage in
sale/leaseback transactions.

Other Credit Facilities

We have a credit facility with a Netherlands bank, payable on demand and providing for
available credit up to 1.8 million euros. At December 31, 2005, we had outstanding borrowings
in U.S. dollars of $4 thousand.

In 2002, we obtained an interest free loan from the Portuguese government in the amount
of 1.9 million euros that matures in 2008. Based on the performance of our Portugal facility and
the terms of the loan, the Portuguese government forgave 40% of the loan in 2003, or 0.7 million
euros. Accordingly, we classified 0.7 million euros of the loan as deferred income in 2003, and
are amortizing this into income over the life of the equipment purchased with the loan proceeds.
The loan balance at December 31, 2005 is 0.9 million euros which equates to $1.1 million U.S.
dollars (based on current exchange rates). The loan provides for annual payments in U.S. dollars
of $0.2 million in 2006, $0.4 million in 2007 and $0.5 million in 2008.
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Market Risks

We are exposed to various market risks, including changes in interest rates, commodity
prices and foreign currency rates. Market risk is the potential loss arising from adverse changes
in market rates and prices. We do not enter into derivatives or other financial instruments for
trading or speculative purposes. In the ordinary course of business, we enter into various types
of transactions involving financial instruments to manage and reduce the impact of changes in
interest rates, commodity prices and foreign exchange rates.

Commodity Price Risk

The price our customers pay for a product includes a metal charge that represents, in
some cases, the market value of the copper used in that product as of the date we ship the product
to the customer. Effective September 1, 2005, we changed our method of charging certain
customers from COMEX price for metal at date of shipment to the average COMEX price of the
month prior to shipment. This pricing model is expected to serve as a natural hedge against
changes in the commodity price of copper, and allows us to better match the cost of copper with
the selling price to our customers. However, as an accommodation to our customers, we often
enter into fixed price commitments to purchase copper on their behalf in order to fix the price of
copper in advance of shipment. We account for these transactions as cash flow hedges under
SFAS 133. The fair value of these derivative assets is recognized in prepaid expenses and other
in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Hedge ineffectiveness is recognized in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations under cost of goods sold. Information regarding this type of derivative
transaction is as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

_(In millions) 2005 2004
Gain arising from ineffectiveness included in operations $1.4 5 -
Gains reclassed from other comprehensive income/(loss) (“OCI”) to
operations $3.4 $0.7

December 31

(In millions) 2005 2004
Aggregate notional value of derivatives outstanding $8.8 $10.5
Period through which derivative positions currently exist December 2006  September 2006
Gain in fair value of derivatives $2.8 $1.1
The change in fair value due to the effect of a 10% adverse

change in commodity prices to current fair value $(1.2) $(1.3)
Deferred gains included in OCI $2.3 $1.1
Gains included in OCI to be recognized in the next 12 months $2.3 $1.1
Number of months over which gain in OCI is to be recognized 12 21

We have firm-price purchase commitments with some of our copper suppliers under
which we agree to buy copper at a price set in advance of the actual delivery of that copper to us.
Under these arrangements, we assume the risk of a price decrease in the market price of copper
between the time this price is fixed and the time the copper is delivered. In order to reduce our
market exposure to price decreases, at the time we enter into a firm-price purchase commitment,
we also often enter into commodity forward contracts to sell a like amount of copper at the then-
current price for delivery to the counterparty at a later date. We account for these transactions as
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cash flow hedges under SFAS 133. The fair value of these derivative liabilities is recognized in
accrued liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Hedge ineffectiveness is recognized in the
Consolidated Statement of Operations under cost of goods sold. Information on this type of
derivative transaction is as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2005 2004
(Loss) arising from ineffectiveness included in operations : $(1.3) s -
(Losses) reclassed from OCI to operations $(4.2) $(1.7
December 31

(In millions) 2005 2004
Aggregate notional value of derivatives outstanding $ 5.6 $26.1
Period through which derivative positions currently exist January 2006 March 2005
(Loss) in fair value of derivatives $ - $(0.9)
The change in fair value due to the effect of a 10% adverse change in

commodity prices to current fair value $(0.6) $2.7)
Deferred gains/(losses) included in OCI $0.2 $(0.8)
Gains/(losses) included in OCI to be recognized in the next 12 months $0.2 $(0.8)
Number of months over which gain/(loss) in OCl is to be recognized » 1 3

We have entered into commodity forward contracts to sell copper in order to hedge or
protect the value of the copper carried in our inventory from price decreases. During the first
three quarters of 2004, these forward contracts were not designated as hedges, and were marked
to market each period, with the corresponding gains and losses recorded in cost of goods sold.
Beginning in the fourth quarter of 2004, we began accounting for these forward contracts as fair
value hedges under SFAS 133. The fair value of these derivative liabilities is recognized in
accrued liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Hedge ineffectiveness is recognized in the
Consolidated Statement of Operations under cost of goods sold. Information on this type of
derivative transaction is as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,
__(In millions) 2005 2004

(Loss) arising from ineffectiveness included in operations $(2.7) $(0.5)

December 31

(In millions) 2005 2004
Aggregate notional value of derivatives outstanding $29.6 $64.1
Period through which derivative positions currently exist March 2006 March 2005
(Loss) in fair value of derivatives $(2.4) $(1.8)
The change in fair value due to the effect of a 10% adverse change in

commodity prices to current fair value $(3.2) $(6.6)

We have also entered into commodity futures contracts to purchase natural gas to reduce
our risk of future price increases. We account for these transactions as cash flow hedges under
SFAS 133. The fair value of these derivative assets is recognized in prepaid expenses and other
in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Hedge ineffectiveness is recognized in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations under cost of goods sold. Information on this type of derivative
transaction is as follows:




For the Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2005 2004
Gain arising from ineffectiveness included in operations $2.3 $ -
Gains reclassed from OCI to operations 31 1.0

December 31

(In millions) 2005 2004
Aggregate notional value of derivatives outstanding $12.2 $11.9
Period through which derivative positions currently exist December 2008  December 2006
Gain in fair value of derivatives $1.9 $0.1
The change in fair value due to the effect of a 10% adverse change in

commodity prices to current fair value $(1.4) $(1.2)
Deferred gains/(losses) included in OCI $(0.3) $0.1
Gains included in OCI to be recognized in the next 12 months $0.5 $0.1
Number of months over which gain in OCI is to be recognized 36 24

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

We are subject to market risk exposure from fluctuations in foreign currencies. Foreign
currency exchange forward contracts may be used from time to time to hedge the variability in
cash flows from the forecasted payment or receipt of currencies other than the functional
currency. We do not enter into forward exchange contracts for speculative purposes. These
forward currency exchange contracts and the underlying hedged receivables and payables are
carried at their fair values, with any associated gains and losses recognized in current period
operations. These contracts cover periods commensurate with known or expected exposures,
generally within three months. As of December 31, 2005, we had forward exchange contracts
outstanding to sell foreign currency with a notional amount of $1.4 million. The estimated fair
value of these forward exchange contracts to sell foreign currency was an immaterial gain. The
effect of a 10% adverse change in exchange rates would reduce the fair value by approximately
$128 thousand.

We also use foreign currency forward exchange contracts to hedge our inventory
currency risk in Canada. These contracts are denominated in U.S. and Canadian dollars. As of
December 31, 2005, we had foreign currency forward exchange contracts outstanding through
December 2006 to purchase foreign currency with a notional amount of $8.6 million. As of
December 31, 2005, we had an unrealized gain of $17 thousand associated with these foreign
currency forward exchange contracts. The effect of a 10% adverse change in exchange rates
would reduce the fair value by approximately $0.8 million.

|
Interest Rate Risk L

The fair market value of long-term fixed, interest rate debt is subject to interest rate risk.
Generally, the fair market value of fixed interest rate debt will increase as interest rates fall and
decrease as interest rates rise. The estimated fair values of our total long-term fixed interest rate
debt as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 were $177.5 million and $243.7 million, respectively,
versus carrying values of $235.5 million and $235.3 million as of December 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. A 1% increase from prevailing interest rates would result in a decrease in fair value
of this debt by approximately $4.0 million as of December 31, 2005. The estimated fair market
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value of our debt is based upon the indicative bid price for our Senior Notes which approximates
their trade value. The yield implicit in the value of the 7.375% and 10.5% Senior Notes is 20.8%
as of December 31, 2005. Generally, changes in the market value of our fixed-rate debt do not
affect us, unless we repurchase the debt in the open market.

In October 2002, we entered into an interest rate swap transaction on $50.0 million of our
7.375% Senior Notes. The interest rate swap calls for semi-annual interest payments on
February 1 and August 1, a floating interest rate based upon the six month LIBOR plus a spread
of 3.76%, and an August 1, 2008 maturity date. The interest rate swap resulted in an increase in
interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2005 of $0.4 million and a reduction of interest
expense of $0.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2004.

As of December 31, 2005, the fair market value of the interest rate swap was a liability of
$1.6 million, which is included in other liabilities with a corresponding decrease to the hedged
debt. Equal and offsetting unrealized gains and losses are included in other expense/(income).
For the year ended December 31, 2005, the interest rate swap effectively converted $50 million
of fixed rate 7.375% Senior Notes to variable rates of 8.15%. As of December 31, 2004, the fair
market value of the interest rate swap was a liability of $0.7 million, which was included in other
liabilities with a corresponding decrease to the hedged debt. Equal and offsetting unrealized
gains and losses were included in other expense/(income). For the year ended December 31,
2004, the interest rate swap effectively converted $50 million of fixed rate 7.375% Senior Notes
to variable rates of 6.07%.

Material Limitations

The disclosures with respect to the above noted risks do not take into account the
underlying commitments or anticipated transactions. If the underlying items were included in
the analysis, the gains or losses on the forward contracts may be offset. Actual results will be
determined by a number of factors that are not generally under our control and could vary
significantly from those factors disclosed.

We are exposed to credit losses in the :vent of nonperformance by counterparties on the
above instruments, as well as credit or perfo; iance risk with respect to our hedged customers’
commitments. Although nonperformance is | ssible, we do not anticipate nonperformance by
any of these parties. ‘ a
Environmental Matters »‘,
{

Our facilities and operations are subj o extensive environmental laws and regulations.
During the year ended December 31, / -, we spent approximately $0.1 million on
environmental matters, which included re. . ation costs, monitoring costs, legal and other
costs. We had a reserve of $0.9 million at .\ _.t.mber 31, 2005 for undiscounted environmental
remediation costs which is reflected in our Cohsolidated Balance Sheet. We expect to spend
approximately $0.1 million for capital expenditures for regulatory matters, relating to
environmental, health and safety during 2006. Based upon currently available information, we
believe that the costs of the environmental matters described below are not reasonably likely to
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
However, actual costs related to environmental matters could differ materially from the amounts
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we estimated and accrued at December 31, 2005 and could result in additional exposure if these
environmental matters are not resolved as anticipated. ‘

Decatur, Alabama

In 1999, we entered into a Consent Order under Section 3008(h) of the Resource
Conservation and Recovery Act. This order incorporated the Corrective Measures Study,
commonly referred to as the CMS, submitted to the Environmental Protection Agency (the
“EPA”) regarding a waste burial site at the Decatur, Alabama facility. The order also included
an upgrade to an existing chrome ground water remediation system.

Part of the ground water contamination plume had previously been detected underneath a
section of property not owned by us. Since December 2002, samples taken from the adjoining
property indicate there are no longer detectable levels of chrome beyond our property. We
believe that due to our remediation efforts, this plume has retracted and attenuated, and will
continue to do so.

In July of 2000, we notified the EPA and the Alabama Department of Environmental
Management (ADEM) that low levels of volatile organic compounds and petroleum
hydrocarbons had been detected in the ground water at the Decatur, Alabama facility during an
expansion of the facility. On June 13, 2001, we received a letter from ADEM stating that a
preliminary assessment would be forthcoming, but no further correspondence has been received
to date. If and when the assessment is received, we will take the necessary steps to comply with
the findings of the assessment, and if needed, to re-assess the sufficiency of our reserves.

The estimated remaining assessment, monitoring, remedial, legal and other costs related
to the environmental matters at our Decatur, Alabama facility are $0.1 million as of December
31, 2005.

Ardmore, Tennessee

On December 28, 1995, we entered into a Consent Order and Agreement with the
Tennessee Division of Superfund (Tennessee Division), relating to the Ardmore, Tennessee
facility, under which we agreed to conduct an assessment on whether volatile organic
compounds detected in and near the municipal drinking water supply are related to the Ardmore
facility and, if necessary, to undertake an appropriate response. That site assessment revealed
contamination, including elevated concentrations of volatile organic compounds, in the soil in
areas of the Ardmore facility, and also revealed elevated levels of certain volatile organic
compounds in the shallow residuum ground water zone at the Ardmore facility.

The water currently delivered to residents by the municipality is treated prior to human
consumption, and thus does not contain volatile organic compounds above acceptable drinking
water standards. We do not know whether the municipality may have delivered untreated water
to its water consumers prior to the installation of the water treatment process. However, due to
dilution with non-contaminated water, which we believe occurs in the operation of the municipal
well system, it is unlikely that any consumer was exposed in the past to volatile organic
compounds above acceptable drinking water standards. No notice or threat of any claim has
been made from the municipality or its residents with respect to the drinking water.
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The Tennessee Division has approved an interim corrective measures action plan. The
interim corrective measures will use the dual phase extraction system. Installation of the system
began in April 2005. Pilot testing of the dual phase extraction system began in the third quarter
of 2005 and is continuing. Based on recent testing efforts at the facility and available
information, it is estimated that costs of $0.8 million will be incurred to complete the
investigation and remediation of this site.

Altoona, Pennsylvania

On August 26, 1999, we entered our Altoona, Pennsylvania facility into the State of
Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection Act II Program. This program addresses
contamination issues related to closed hazardous waste lagoons and oil contamination of soil.
The previous site owner closed the hazardous waste lagoons at this site in 1982, A Remedial
Investigation/Feasibility Study (RIFS) was submitted to the Pennsylvania Department of
Environmental Protection on April 20, 2004. No active remediation is anticipated at this site.
However, we are still awaiting a response from the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental
Protection to our RIFS.

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards

See Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Recent Accounting
Pronouncements, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

The information required by this item is contained in “Item 7 - Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and is incorporated herein by
reference.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Page
Consolidated Statements of Operations—For the years ended December 31, -1
2005, 2004 and 2003. )
Consolidated Balance Sheets—December 31, 2005 and 2004. F-2
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity—For the years ended F3
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows—For the years ended December 31, Fo4
2005, 2004 and 2003. )
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. ‘ F-5
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. F-56
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. F-57
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. F-58
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial
Disclosure

On August 19, 2004, Ernst & Young LLP resigned as the independent registered public
accounting firm of Wolverine.

The reports of Ernst & Young LLP on Wolverine’s audited consolidated financial
statements as of and for each of the years ended December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002 did
not contain any adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion, nor were they qualified or modified as
to uncertainty, audit scope, or accounting principles.

In connection with Ernst & Young LLP’s audits for the fiscal years ended December 31,
2003 and December 31, 2002, and during the subsequent interim period through August 19,
2004, Wolverine has had no disagreements with Emst & Young LLP on any matter of
accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure,
which disagreements, if not resolved to the satisfaction of Emst & Young LLP, would have
caused Ernst & Young LLP to make reference to the subject matter of the disagreement in their
report on Wolverine’s consolidated financial statements for such periods. In addition, during the
fiscal years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003, and through August 19, 2004, there have been
no reportable events as described in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K.

Wolverine provided Ernst & Young LLP with a copy of the foregoing disclosures in
connection with the filing of Wolverine’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A on August 25, 2004. A
copy of Ernst & Young LLP’s letter addressed to the SEC, dated August 25, 2004, stating its
agreement with such disclosures is attached as Exhibit 16.1 to that Current Report, as well as this
Annual Report.

Also on August 19, 2004, Wolverine engaged KPMG LLP as its independent registered
public accounting firm. Wolverine’s decision to engage KPMG LLP was approved by its audit
committee and its board of directors. During the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003, and
through August 19, 2004, Wolverine has not consulted with KPMG LLP regarding either (i) the
application of accounting principles to a proposed or completed specified transaction or the type
of audit opinion that might be rendered on Wolverine’s consolidated financial statements, or
(ii) any matter that was either the subject of a disagreement as described in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of
Regulation S-K or a reportable event as described in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our Chief
Executive Officer, Johann R. Manning, Jr., and our Chief Financial Officer, James E. Deason,
we carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange
Act)) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, Messts.
Manning and Deason have concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this report, our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Based upon the evaluation performed by our management, which was conducted with the
participation of Messrs. Manning and Deason, there has been no change in our internal control
over financial reporting during the fourth quarter of 2005 that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responstble for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control
over financial reporting as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a—15(f). Management,
with the participation of Messrs. Manning and Deason, assessed the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005. In making this assessment,
management used the framework set forth in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based upon this
assessment, our management concluded that, as of December 31, 2005, our internal control over
financial reporting was effective.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control has been audited by
KPMG LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report on page F-
58 included in this 10-K
Item 9B. Other Information

None.




PART III

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information required by this item with respect to our directors, audit committee, and
our audit committee financial experts is incorporated by reference from the information under
the caption “Election of Directors” contained in our definitive proxy statement for the 2006
Annual Meeting of Stockholders. The required information concerning our executive officers is
contained in Part I — Item 1 - “Business — Executive Officers of the Registrant.” The required
information concerning our adoption of a code of ethics that applies to our chief executive
officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller or persons
performing similar functions and the availability of this code of ethics upon written request is
contained in Part I - Item 1 - “Business — Available Information” of this report.

The required information concerning compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act
is incorporated by reference from the information under the caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial
Ownership Reporting Compliance” contained in our definitive proxy statement for the 2006
Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information
under the captions “Executive Compensation” and “Company Stock Price Performance” in our
definitive proxy statement for the 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information
under the caption “Stock Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and
“Executive Compensation - Equity Compensation Plan Information” in our definitive proxy
statement for the 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information
contained under the caption “Executive Compensation - Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions” in our definitive proxy statement for the 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information
under the caption “Ratification of Appointment of Independent Auditors - Principal Accounting
Firm Fees” and “Ratification of Appointment of Independent Auditors — Audit Committee’s Pre-
Approval Policies and Procedures” contained in our definitive proxy statement for the 2006
Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) Index to exhibits, financial statements and schedules.

(1) The following consolidated financial statements and reports are included beginning on

page F-1 hereof:
Consolidated Statements of Operations — For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004,

and 2003.
Consolidated Balance Sheets — December 31, 2005 and 2004,
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity — For the years ended December 31,

2005, 2004, and 2003,
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — For the years ended December 31, 2005,

2004, and 2003.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

(2) The following consolidated financial statement schedule of the Company is included on
page S-1 hereof;

SCHEDULE I Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other financial statements and schedules not listed have been omitted since the
required information is included in the consolidated financial statements or the notes
thereto, or is not applicable or required.

(3) Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K:
The following exhibits are included in this Form 10-K:

Exhibit No. Description

10.40* 2002 Change in Control, Severance and Non-Competition Agreement,
dated as of July 12, 2002, by and between the Company and Garry K.

Johnson.

10.41* Form of Letter for Amendment to Split Dollar Agreement Dated May 1,
1999

10.42* Form of Letter for Vesting of Underwater Options

21 List of Subsidiaries.

23.1 Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm.

232 Consent of Emst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public

Accounting Firm




Exhibit No.

Description

311

31.2

32.1

322

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002,

The following exhibits are incorporated by reference:

Exhibit No.

Description

3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

43

10.1

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, as amended
through May 1, 1998 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended July 4,
1998).

Secretary’s Certificate, dated February 6, 2004, attached to a complete
copy of the Bylaws of the Company, as amended May 22, 1997
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2003).

Rights Agreement, dated as of February 13, 1996, between the Company
and Society National Bank, as Rights Agent (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.0 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form §-A, filed
on February 22, 1996).

Indenture, dated as of August 4, 1998, among the Company, certain of
the Company’s subsidiaries and Wachovia Bank, National Association
(successor to First Union National Bank) as Trustee (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q for the period ended July 4, 1998).

Indenture, dated as of March 27, 2002, among the Company, certain of
the Company’s subsidiaries and Wachovia Bank, National Association
(successor to First Union National Bank), as Trustee (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the period ended December 31, 2001).

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of April 28, 2005,
among the Company, its U.S. subsidiaries, the lenders named therein and
Wachovia Bank, National Association, as administrative agent
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended July 3, 2005).
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Exhibit No.

Description

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10*

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, date
of August 1, 2005, among the Company, its U.S. subsidiaries, the lenc
named therein and Wachovia Bank, National Association,

administrative agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tht
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 5, 2005).

Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, effective
September 30, 2005, among the Company, its U.S. subsidiaries, the
lenders named therein and Wachovia Bank, National Association, as
administrative agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 31, 2005).
Amended and Restated Consignment Agreement, dated as of April 28,
2005, among the Company, Wolverine Joining Technologies, LLC and
Fleet Precious Metals Inc., operating as Bank of America Precious
Metals (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 4, 2005).
First Amendment to Amended and Restated Consignment Agreement,
dated as of August 1, 2005, among the Company, Wolverine Joining
Technologies, LLC and Fleet Precious Metals Inc., operating as Bank of
America Precious Metals (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 5, 2005).
Receivables Sale Agreement, dated as of April 28, 2005, among the
Company, Small Tube Manufacturing, LLC, Tube Forming, L.P. and
DEJ 98 Finance, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form §-K filed on May 4, 2005).
Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 28, 2005, among DEJ
98 Finance, LLC, Wolverine Finance, LLC, the Company, Blue Ridge
Asset Funding Corporation, the liquidity banks from time to time party
thereto and Wachovia Bank, National Association, as agent (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed on May 4, 2005).
Amendment No. 1 to Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of
Aungust 1, 2005, among DEJ 98 Finance, LLC, Wolverine Finance, LLC,
the Company, Blue Ridge Asset Funding Corporation and Wachovia
Bank, National Association, individually and as agent (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on August 5, 2005).
Amendment No. 2 to Receivables Purchase Agreement, effective
September 30, 2005, among DEJ 98 Finance, LLC, Wolverine Finance,
LLC, the Company, Blue Ridge Asset Funding Corporation and
Wachovia Bank, National Association, individually and as agent
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on October 31, 2005).
Wolverine Tube, Inc. 1993 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (File No. 33-65148)).
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Exhibit No.

Description

10.11*

10.12*

10.13*

10.14*

10.15*

10.16*

10.17*

10.18*

10.19*

10.20*

10.21*

10.22*

10.23*

Form of Non-Qualified Option Agreement under the Wolverine Tube,
Inc. 1993 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.15 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period
ended July 2, 1994).

1993 Stock Option Plan for Outside Directors of Wolverine Tube, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 33-65148)).

Amendment One to Amended and Restated 1993 Stock Option Plan for
Outside Directors of Wolverine Tube, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
period ended April 1, 2001).

2001 Stock Option Plan for Outside Directors of Wolverine Tube, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Appendix B to the Company’s Proxy
Statement dated April 12, 2001).

Form of Non-Qualified Option Agreement under the Company’s 1993
Stock Option Plan for Outside Directors and 2001 Stock Option Plan for
Outside Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended October
3, 2004).

Wolverine Tube, Inc. 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the period ended June 29, 2003).

First Amendment to the Wolverine Tube, Inc. 2003 Equity Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 29, 2003).

Form of Non-Qualified Option Agreement under the Wolverine Tube,
Inc. 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period
ended October 3, 2004).

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the Wolverine Tube, Inc.
2003 Equity Incentive Plan, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 25, 2005).
Form of SAR Agreement under the Wolverine Tube, Inc. 2003 Equity
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended October
3, 2004).

Wolverine Tube, Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the period ended April 3, 1999).

Wolverine Tube, Inc. 2003 Annual Performance Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2002).
Wolverine Tube, Inc. Supplemental Benefit Restoration Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2002).
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Exhibit No.

Description

10.24*

10.25*

10.26*

10.27*

10.28*

10.29*

10.30*

10.31*

10.32*

10.33*

10.34*

. dated as of July 12, 2002, by and between the Company and Massoud

Deferred Compensation Trust Agreement, dated February 13, 2001, t!
and between the Company and AmSouth Bank, as Trustee (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Forn
10-Q for the period ended March 30, 2003).
Amendment Number One to Deferred Compensation Trust Agreement,
dated May 7, 2003, by and between the Company and AmSouth Bank, as
Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 30, 2003).
2002 Change in Control, Severance and Non-Competition Agreement,
dated as of July 12, 2002, by and between the Company and Johann R.
Manning, Jr. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2002).
2002 Change in Control, Severance and Non-Competition Agreement,
dated as of July 12, 2002, by and between the Company and Keith Weil
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2002).
2002 Change in Control, Severance and Non-Competition Agreement,

Neshan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2002).
2004 Change in Control, Severance and Non-Competition Agreement,
dated as of December 1, 2004, by and between the Company and Thomas
Sabol, (incor:porated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 1, 2004).
Severance ALgreement, dated as of November 4, 2005, between the
Company and Thomas B. Sabol (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November
9,2005).
Consultant Agreement, dated as of February 10, 2005, by and between
the Company|and James E. Deason (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February
16, 2005).
Offer Letter, dated as of November 7, 2005, between the Company and
James E. Deason (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 9, 2005).
Retirement Agreement, dated as of November 17, 2005, between the
Company and Dennis J. Horowitz (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November
23, 2005).
Director Agreement, dated as of November 17, 2005, between the
Company and Dennis J. Horowitz (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November
23, 2005).
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Exhibit No. Description

10.35% Consultant Agreement, dated as of November 17, 2005, between the
Company and DH Partners, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November
23, 2005).

10.36* Summary of Non-Employee Director Compensation (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on May 25, 2005).

10.37* 2005 Base Salaries and Other Compensation of Named Executive
Officers (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the period ended July 3, 2005).

10.38* Form of Director Indemnification Agreement, dated as of February 10,
2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 16, 2005).

10.39* Form of Officer Indemnification Agreement, dated as of February 10,
2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 16, 2005).

16.1 Letter, dated August 25, 2004, to the Securities and Exchange
Commission from Ermnst & Young LLP (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 16.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on
August 25, 2004).

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

73




SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Huntsville, State of Alabama, on the 10th day of March

2006.
WOLVERINE TUBE, INC.

By:_/s/ James E. Deason

Name: James E. Deason

Title: Senior Vice President, Chief
Financial Officer, and
Secretary

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been
signed below by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
By: /s/ Johann R. Manning, Jr. President and Chief Executive March 10, 2006
Johann R. Manning, Jr. Officer and Director

(Principal Executive Officer)

By:_/s/ James E. Deason Senior Vice President, Chief March 10, 2006
James E. Deason Financial Officer, and Secretary
. (Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)

By: /s/ Dennis J. Horowitz Non-Executive Chairman of March 10, 2006
Dennis J. Horowitz the Board and Director
By: /s/ Julie A. Beck Director March 10, 2006

Julie A. Beck

By:_/s/ John L. Duncan Director March 10, 2006
John L. Duncan

By:_/s/ David M. Gilchrist, Jr, Director March 10, 2006
David M. Gilchrist, Jr.

By:/s/ William C. Griffiths Director March 10, 2006
William C. Griffiths

By:_/s/ Jan K. Ver Hagen Director March 10, 2006
Jan K. Ver Hagen

By:_/s/ Stephen E. Hare Director March 10, 2006
Stephen E. Hare

By: /s/ Gail O. Neuman Director March 10, 2006
Gail O. Neuman
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Wolverine Tube, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Year ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands except per share agmounts)
Net sales $873,505 $797,875 $596,324
Cost of goods sold 851,862 734,194 555,498
Gross profit 21,643 63,681 40,826
Selling, general and administrative expenses 37,074 37,259 32,103
Restructuring and other charges 1,416 2,536 15,057
Operating income/(loss) from continuing operations (16,847) 23,886 (6,334)
Other expense:
Interest expense, net 20,727 20,860 21,218
Loss on extinguishment of debt - 3,009 -
Amortization and other, net 2,802 1,261 1,856
Goodwill impairment - - 23,153
(Loss) from continuing operations before income taxes (40,376) (1,244) (52,561)
Income tax (benefit) (1,760) (1,888) (13,577)
Income/(loss) from continuing operations (38,616) 644 (38,984)
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income tax
benefit of (30.1) million and ($0.8) million for 2004
and 2003, respectively - (262) (1,637)
Net income/(loss) $ (38,616) $ 382 $ (40,621)
Income/(loss) per share—basic:
Continuing operations $(2.57) $0.05 $(3.18)
Discontinued operations - (0.02) (0.13)
Net income/(loss) per share—basic $(2.57) $0.03 $(3.31)
Basic weighted average number of shares 15,022 13,650 12,275
Income/(loss) per share—diluted:
Continuing operations $(2.57) $0.05 $(3.18)
Discontinued operations - (0.02) (0.13)
Net income/(loss) per share—diluted $(2.57) $0.03 $(3.31)
Diluted weighted average number of common and
common equivalent shares 15,022 13,992 12,275

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Wolverine Tube, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31,

2005 2004
{In thousands except share and per share amounts)
Assets
Current assets
Cash and equivalents $ 27,329 $ 35,017
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of 104,186 93,964
$0.4 million in both 2005 and 2004
Inventories 146,705 151,979
Prepaid expenses and other 10,209 6,905
Deferred taxes, current - 7,707
Total current assets 288,429 295,572
Property, plant and equipment, net 181,238 194,966
Goodwill, net 77,064 77,312
Deferred charges, net 7,726 11,892
Deferred income taxes, non-current 13,469 1,008
Investments 8 5,561
Assets held for sale - 1,147
Notes receivable 831 -
Total assets $568,765 $587,458
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $71,802 $59,912
Accrued liabilities 34,952 32,476
Short-term borrowings 248 1,219
Total current liabilities 107,002 93,607
Long-term debt 234,920 237,022
Pension liabilities 42,389 27915
Postretirement benefit obligation 19,722 18,422
Accrued environmental remediation 930 990
Total liabilities 405,463 377,956
Stockholders’ equity
Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share; 40,000,000 shares
authorized, 15,058,803 and 14,927,577 shares issued as of
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively 151 149
Additional paid-in capital 91,711 90,571
Retained earnings 85,734 124,350
Unearned compensation (329) (309)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net (13,970) (5,259
Total stockholders’ equity 163,302 209,502
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $568,765 $587,458

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Wolverine Tube, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Accumulated
Other Total
Additional Unearned Compre- Stock-
Common Stock Paid-In  Retained Compen- hensive Treasury holders’
(In thousands except number of shares) Shares Amount Capital Earnings sation Income (Loss) Stock Equity
Balance at December 31, 2002 14,326,239 $143 $103,213  $164,547 $(302) $(29,591)  $(37,375) $200,635
Net loss - - - (40,621) - - - (40,621)
Translation adjustments - - - - - 17,383 - 17,383
Change in fair value of derivatives and
reclassification adjustments, net of tax
of $1,032 - - - - - 1,918 - 1,918
Minimum pension liability, net of tax
benefit of $132 - - - - - (220) - (220)
Total comprehensive loss - - - - - - - (21,540)
Issuance of restricted stock award and
amortization of unearned compensation 18,567 - 126 - 130 - - 256
Balance at December 31, 2003 14,344,806 143 103,339 123,926 (172) (10,510)  (37,375) 179,351
Net income - - - 382 - - - 382
Translation adjustments - - - 1 - 7,565 - 7,566
Change in fair value of derivatives and
reclassification adjustments, net of tax of
$118 - - - - - (1,433) - (1,433)
Minimum pension liability, net of tax
expense of $454 - - - - - (881) - (881)
Total comprehensive income - - - - - - - 5,634
Common stock issued 2,450,000 25 22,808 - - - - 22,833
Retirement of treasury stock (2,063,800) 21 (37,354) - - - 37,375 -
Exercise of non-qualified stock options,
including income tax benefits 155,482 2 1,314 - - - - 1,316
Issuance of restricted stock award and
amortization of unearned compensation 41,089 - 464 - (137) - - 327
Other - - - 41 - - - 41
Balance at December 31, 2004 14,927,577 149 90,571 124,350 (309) (5,259) - 209,502
Net loss - - - (38,616) - - - (38,616)
Translation adjustments - - - - - 165 - 165
Change in fair value of derivatives and
reclassification adjustments - - - - - 2,024 - 2,024
Minimum pension liability - - - - - (10,900) - (10,900)
Total comprehensive loss - - - - - - - 47.327)
Exercise of non-qualified stock options,
including income tax benefits 88,125 1 501 - - - - 503
Issuance of restricted stock award and
amortization of unearned compensation 43,101 1 639 - (15) - - 624
Balance at December 31, 2005 15,058,803 $151 $91,711 $85,734 $(324) $(13,970) $ - $163,302

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Wolverine Tube, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Year ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003
Operating Activities
Income/(loss) from continuing operations $(38,616) $644 $(38,984)
Adjustments to reconcile income/(loss) from continuing ,
operations to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 15,412 15,862 17,443
Amortization 1,636 1,545 1,566
Deferred income taxes 4,574) (4,954) (12,541)
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 2,027 - -
Goodwill impairment - - 23,153
Loss/(gain) on retirement of Senior Notes - 3,009 -
Non-cash portion of restructuring and other 661 1,821 12,382
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net (29,617) (5,499) (17,202)
Sale of accounts receivable 19,000 - -
Inventories 5,368 (41,668) (8,751)
Refundable income taxes 1,307 838 9,077
Prepaid expenses and other (4,499) 1,713 (1,200)
Accounts payable 12,381 11,714 4,334
Accrued liabilities, including pension, postretirement »
benefit and environmental 14,632 6,333 10,972
Net cash provided by/(used for) operating activities (4,882) (8,642) 249
Investing Activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment (10,009) (11,728) (5,969)
Disposal of assets 5,412 2,926 12
Funds received from/(investment in) rabbi trust 4,413 - (4,289)
Other - 82 -
Net cash used for investing activities (184) (8,720) (10,246)
Financing Activities
Financing fees and expenses paid (1,101) (151) (52)
Net borrowings from /(repayments of) revolving credit facilities (2,222) 1,009 (1,122)
Retirement of Senior Notes - (20,510) -
Issuance of common stock 503 24,164 -
Other financing activities 33 (346) (6)
Net cash provided by/(used for) financing activities 2,787) 4,166 (1,180)
Effect of exchange rate on cash and equivalents 165 2,386 2,645
Net cash used for continuing operations (7,688) (10,810) (8,532)
Cash flows of discontinued operations (Revised - See Note 2)
Operating cash flows - (262) 697
Investing cash flows - - -
Financing cash flows - - -
Effect of exchange rate on cash and equivalents - - 4
Net cash provided by/(used for) discontinued operations - (262) 701
Net decrease in cash and equivalents (7,688) (11,072) (7,831)
Cash and equivalents at beginning of vyear 35,017 46,089 53,920
Cash and equivalents at end of year $27,329 $35,017 $46,089
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow:
Interest paid $21,100 $21,549 $22,510
Income taxes paid/(refunded), net $466 $(173) $(9,012)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Wolverine Tube, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Nature of Operations

Wolverine Tube, Inc. (Wolverine) manufactures and distributes copper and copper alloy
tubular products, fabricated and metal joining products, as well as rod and bar products. Our
focus is developing and manufacturing high value added tubular products with superior heat
transfer capabilities used in engineered applications. Our major customers’ headquarters are
primarily in North America and include commercial and residential air conditioning and
refrigeration equipment manufacturers, appliance manufacturers, industrial equipment manu-
facturers, utilities and other power generating companies, refining and chemical processing
companies and plumbing wholesalers.

Over the last six quarters, we have drawn-down our liquidity facilities as a result of
continued rising copper prices and recent operating losses. As a result and as further discussed
in Note 10, we have made several amendments to our secured revolving credit facility and, in
2005, established a receivables sale facility (see Note 11). We also engaged a consultant to assist
us in both short-term liquidity planning and consult on longer term capital strategies. Aggregate
availability under these facilities at December 31, 2005 was approximately $26.9 million, versus
$26.6 million at December 31,2004. Working with our commercial banks, we completed
amendments to our secured revolving credit facility and our receivables sale facility which
increased the current availability under those facilities compared to amounts available at
December 31, 2005. Based on our 2006 operating plan and cash flow projections, we believe
that the availability under these facilities, combined with the unrestricted cash on hand in North
America, should provide the liquidity required during 2006. However, peak working capital
demands, historically high copper prices, and future operating losses may exhaust funds
available under these facilities and require the Company to seek other financing alternatives.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The significant accounting policies followed by us are described below.
Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Wolverine
and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions and accounts have been
eliminated in consolidation.
Uses of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent assets and

liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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Revenue Recognition Policy

Revenues are generally recognized when title to products transfer to an unaffiliated
customer, and the product is shipped. Sales are made under normal terms and usually do not
require collateral. Revenues are recorded net of estimated returns and allowances and volume
discounts. The reserve for sales returns and allowances is calculated by applying a historical
percentage against certain receivables. The reserve for volume discounts is calculated by
applying a customer specific discount percentage to sales made to that customer.

Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid short-term investments purchased with a maturity of three
months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are carried at cost, which approximates
market value. Approximately $6.6 million and $10.9 million of cash included in cash on hand
was restricted as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and is not available for general
corporate use.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Allowance for doubtful accounts ensure that trade receivables are not overstated due to
issues of collectability and are established for certain customers based upon a variety of factors:
including past due receivables, macroeconomic conditions, significant one-time events and
historical experience. Specific reserves for individual accounts may be established due to a
customer’s inability to meet their financial obligations, such as in the case of bankruptcy filings
or the deterioration in a customer’s operating results or financial position. As circumstances
related to customers change, estimates of the recoverability of receivables are adjusted.

Sales of Accounts Receivable

The Company’s sales of its receivables to a special purpose entity is accounted for as a
sale in accordance with Statement of Accounting Standards No. 140 (SFAS 140), Accounting for
Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishment of Liabilities.
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined using the first-in,
first-out (FIFO) method. Inventory costs include material, labor, and factory overhead. Our
maintenance and operating supplies inventory is valued using an average cost method to

determine cost. Obsolete or unsaleable inventories are reflected at their estimated net realizable
values.

Total inventories in 2005 and 2004 included the following classifications (in thousands):
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2005 2004

(In thousands)

Finished products $ 58,000 $ 61,376
Work-in-process 38,983 35,920
Raw materials 23,545 27,653
Supplies 26,177 27,030
Totals $146,705 $151,979

Property, Plant and Equipment

Land, buildings and equipment are carried at cost. Expenditures for maintenance and
repairs are charged directly against income, while major renewals/betterments are capitalized.
When properties are retired or otherwise disposed of, the original cost and accumulated
depreciation are removed from the respective accounts, and the profit or loss resulting from the
disposal is reflected in income. Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the
assets, generally on the straight-line method for financial reporting purposes (furniture and
fixtures 2 — 9 years, software 3 -5 years, tooling 3 — 10 years, buildings and improvements 3 — 39
years and machinery and equipment 5 — 30 years), and on accelerated methods for tax purposes.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Impairments of long-lived assets are recognized under the provisions of Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144
(SFAS 144), Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. When facts and
circumstances indicate that long-lived assets used in operations may be impaired, and the
undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated from those assets are less than their carrying
values, an impairment charge is recorded equal to the excess of the carrying value over fair
value. Long-lived assets held for disposal are valued at the lower of the carrying amount or
estimated fair value less cost to sell.

Employment-Related Benefits

Employment-related benefits associated with pensions and postretirement health care are
expensed as actuarially determined. The recognition of expense is impacted by estimates made
by management, such as discount rates used to value certain liabilities, investment rates of return
on plan assets, increases in future wage amounts and future health care costs. The Company uses
third-party specialists to assist management in appropriately measuring the expense and
liabilities associated with employment-related benefits.

We determine our actuarial assumptions for the U.S. and Canadian pension and post
retirement plans, after consultation with our actuaries, on December 31 of each year to calculate
liability information as of that date and pension and postretirement expense for the following
year. The discount rate assumption is determined based on Moody’s Aa corporate bonds using
the average for the month of December.

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets of the various plans reflects
projected returns for the investment mix of the various pension plans that have been determined
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to meet each plan’s investment objectives. The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets
is selected by taking into account the expected weighted averages of the investments of the
assets, the fact that the plan assets are actively managed to mitigate downside risks, the historical
performance of the market in general and the historical performance of the retirement plan assets
over the past ten years.

Income Taxes

Under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109 (SFAS 109), Accounting for
Income Taxes, deferred tax liabilities and assets are recorded for the expected future tax
consequences of events that have been recognized in our financial statements or tax returns.
Property, plant and equipment, inventories, prepaid pension, postretirement benefit obligations,
and certain other accrued liabilities are the primary sources of these temporary differences.
Deferred income tax also includes operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. The Company
establishes valuation allowances to reduce deferred tax assets to amounts it believes are more
than likely than not to be realized. These valuation allowances are adjusted based upon changing
facts and circumstances.

Goodwill

Goodwill is evaluated utilizing Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142
(SFAS 142), Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Under this statement, goodwill is presumed
to have an indefinite useful life and, thus, is not amortized, but tested no less than annually for
impairment using a lower of cost or fair value approach. Goodwill had been amortized through
2001. We ceased the amortization of goodwill at the beginning of 2002, as required by SFAS
142.

During the third quarter of 2005 and 2004, we conducted goodwill impairment reviews,
and prepared updated valuations for our Fabricated Products Group (the only reporting unit with
remaining goodwill) using a discounted cash flow approach based on forward-looking
information regarding market share, revenues and costs. Based on the results of these reviews,
the fair value of the Fabricated Products Group reporting unit exceeded its carrying values, and
thus, no impairment charge was recorded.

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, we had $77.1 million and $77.3 million of goodwill, net
of $10.7 million of accumulated amortization in both 2005 and 2004, which represents our only
non-amortizable intangible asset. See Note 8 for a discussion of certain amortizable intangible
assets.

Investments

Prior to December 30, 2005, we had held a portfolio of marketable debt securities in a
rabbi trust to partially fund benefit obligations to certain executives under our 2002
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan. These securities had been marked to market through
income. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on these securities, which were designated as
trading assets, were not significant. The rabbi trust was liquidated on December 30, 2005 in
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order to pay benefits due in January 2006. The proceeds received from the rabbi trust of $4.4
million are included in cash on hand at December 31, 2005.

Earnings/(Loss) Per Common Share

Basic earnings/(loss) per share were computed by dividing net income/(loss) by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Where applicable, diluted
earnings/(loss) per share were calculated by including the effect of all dilutive securities,
including stock options and unvested restricted stock. To the extent that stock options and
unvested restricted stock are anti-dilutive, they are excluded from the calculation of diluted
earnings/(loss) per share.

Derivatives and Hedging Activities

Our operations and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to changes in commodity
prices, foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. We use derivative financial
instruments to manage commodity prices, foreign currency exchange rates and interest rate
exposures, though not for speculative purposes. Derivatives used are primarily commodity
forward contracts, foreign currency forward contracts and interest rate swaps.

We apply the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133,
Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended by Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 138, Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and
Certain Hedging Activities, and by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 149,
Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, (hereinafter
collectively referred to as SFAS 133), for most of the Company’s derivatives. Some of our
derivatives are designated as either a hedge of a recognized asset or liability or an unrecognized
firm commitment (fair value hedge), or a hedge of a forecasted transaction (cash flow hedge).
For fair value hedges, both the effective and ineffective portion of the changes in the fair value of
the derivative, along with any gain or loss on the hedged item that is attributable to the hedged
risk, are recorded directly to operations. The effective portion of changes in fair value of
derivatives that are designated as cash flow hedges are recorded in accumulated other
comprehensive income, until the hedged item is realized, when the gain/(loss) previously
included in accumulated other comprehensive income is recognized in operations. Our foreign
currency hedges are accounted for under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 52
(SFAS 52), Foreign Currency Translation.

Fair Values of Financial Instruments

We use the following methods in estimating fair value disclosures for financial
instruments:

Cash and equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable: The carrying amount reported
in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for these assets approximates their fair value.




Revolving credit facility and long-term debt: The carrying amount of our borrowings under our
revolving credit facilities approximates fair value. The fair value of our 7.375% Senior Notes
and our 10.5% Senior Notes and any derivative financial instruments are based upon quoted
market prices.

Derivatives: The fair value of our interest rate, foreign currency and commodity derivative
instruments are determined by reference to quoted market prices.

The following table summarizes fair value information for our financial instruments:

2005 2005 2004 2004
Assets/(liabilities) Carrving value _ Fair value _ Carrying value _ Fair value
{In thousands)
Investments in Rabbi Trust (trading portfolio) $14 $14 $4,316 $4,316
Senior Notes (235,518) (177,523) (235,318) (243,729)
Other debt (1,220) (1,220) (3,576) (3,576)
Interest rate swap (1,570) (1,570) (653) (653)
Foreign currency exchange contracts 19 19 225 225
Commodity forward contracts 2,268 2,268 (1,518) (1,518)

Environmental Expenditures

Environmental expenditures that pertain to our current operations and relate to future
revenues are expensed or capitalized consistent with our capitalization policy. Expenditures that
result from the remediation of an existing condition caused by past operations, and that do not
contribute to future revenues, are expensed. Liabilities, which are undiscounted, are recognized
for remedial activities when the cleanup is probable and the cost can be reasonably estimated.

Stock Options

At December 31, 2005, we had stock-based employee and outside director compensation
plans, which are described more fully in Note 20. We account for these plans under the
recognition and measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 (APB
25), Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related interpretations. No employee or
outside director stock-based compensation cost is reflected in the statements of operations, as all
options granted under those plans had an exercise price equal to the market value of the
underlying Common Stock on the date of grant.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income/(loss) and earnings per share as if
we had applied the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123 (SFAS 123), Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, to our stock option
compensation plans:




2005 2004 2003

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Net income/(loss), as reported $(38,616) $382 $(40,621)
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense
determined under fair value based method for all awards, net

of related tax effects (1,508) (494) (825)
Pro forma net (loss) - $(40,124) $(112) $(41,446)
(Loss) earnings per share:
Basic — as reported $(2.57) $0.03 $(3.31)
Basic — pro forma $(2.67) $(0.01) $(3.38)
Diluted — as reported $(2.57) $0.03 $(3.31)
Diluted — pro forma $(2.67) $(0.01) $(3.38)

The weighted average fair value of options granted estimated on the date of grant using
the Black-Scholes pricing model was $4.79, $5.21 and $1.94 for 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. The fair value for these options was estimated at the date of grant using the
following weighted average assumptions for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively: risk free interest
rates of 4.05%, 3.42% and 2.98%; volatility factors of the expected market price of our Common
Stock of 0.476, 0.462 and 0.432; and weighted average expected lives of the options of 8.3, 4.4
and 5.9 years. For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of the options is
amortized to expense over the options’ vesting period. The effects of applying SFAS 123 for pro
forma disclosure may not be representative of the effects on reported pro forma net income/(loss)
in future years.

Translation to U.S. Dollars

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are translated to U.S. dollars at
rates of exchange at the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates during the period. Translation adjustments arising from changes in exchange
rates are included in the accumulated other comprehensive loss component of stockholders’
equity. Realized exchange gains and losses are included in “Amortization and other, net” in the
consolidated statements of operations. Foreign currency exchange (gains)/losses were $(0.5)
million in 2005 and $(0.2) million in 2004 and $0.2 million in 2003.

Research and Development Costs

Expenditures relating to the development of new products and processes, including
significant improvements and refinements to existing products, are expensed as incurred. The
amounts charged to expense were $3.1 million in 2005, $3.5 million in 2004, and $2.9 million in
2003.

Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year

presentation. In addition, for 2004 and 2003, the Company has separately disclosed the
operating, investing and financing portions of the cash flows attributable to its discontinued




operations, which in prior periods were reported on a combined basis as a single amount. The
Company has no discontinued operations for 2005.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2005, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 154
(SFAS 154), Accounting Changes and Error Corrections—a replacement of APB Opinion No.
20 and FASB Statement No. 3, which replaces APB Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes, and
SFAS 3, Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements. SFAS 154 changes the
requirements for the accounting and reporting of a change in an accounting principle. The
statement requires retrospective application of changes in an accounting principle to prior
periods’ financial statements unless it is impracticable to determine the period-specific effects or
the cumulative effect of the change. SFAS 154 is effective for accounting changes and
corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005. Our results of
operations and financial condition will only be impacted by SFAS 154 if we implement changes
in accounting principles that are addressed by the standard or have corrections of accounting
errors.

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
123R (SFAS 123R), Share-Based Payment. This statement amends SFAS 123, and requires
companies to recognize in their financial statements the compensation cost relating to share-
based payment transactions. The effective date of this standard is for interim and annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2005. Historically, we have elected to follow the intrinsic value
method in accounting for employee stock options as prescribed under APB 25, and its related
interpretations, under which no compensation cost has been recognized. Upon the adoption of
SFAS 123R, we will be required to recognize in operations the cost of employee services
received in exchange for equity instruments granted as measured at grant-date fair value. The
cost of the options granted would be recognized over the requisite service period, normally the
vesting period. Adoption of this standard is expected to reduce the Company’s net earnings and
earnings per share for interim and annual periods after adoption. In 2005, the Company
accelerated the vesting of all out-of-the-money, unvested, non-qualified stock options held by
officers and employees in anticipation of the impact of SFAS 123R (see Note 20). Management
expects fiscal year 2006 ecarnings and diluted earnings per share will be reduced by
approximately $0.2 million and $0.01, respectively, under the modified prospective method of
reporting based on the unvested options outstanding as of December 31, 2005.

In November 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
151 (SFAS 151), Inventory Costs, an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, to clarify the
accounting for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs and spoilage.
SFAS 151 requires that these costs be recognized as current-period charges. In addition, this
Statement requires that allocation of fixed production overheads be based on the normal capacity
of the production facilities. SFAS 151 is effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal
years beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company will adopt SFAS 151 on January 1, 2006,
and does not expect the adoption of SFAS 151 to have a material impact on its consolidated
financial statements.
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In March 2005, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 47 (FIN 47), Accounting for
Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations, which requires conditional asset retirement
obligations to be recognized if a legal obligation exists to perform asset retirement activitics and
a reasonable estimate of the fair value of the obligation can be made. FIN 47 also provides
guidance as to when an entity would have sufficient information to reasonably estimate the fair
value of an asset retirement obligation. The Company adopted the provisions of FIN 47 on
December 31, 2005. No conditional asset retirement obligations were recognized and,
accordingly, the adoption of FIN 47 had no effect on the Company’s financial statements or
results of operation.

On July 14, 2005, the FASB issued an Exposure Draft of a proposed Interpretation,
Accounting for Uncertain Tax Positions — an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (the
Interpretation), proposing guidance on the recognition and measurement of certain positions
taken in tax return filings as well as the related accrual of interest and penalties and classification
of liabilities resulting from the positions. On January 11, 2006, FASB met to resume
deliberations of the pending Interpretation. FASB is expected to release its final Interpretation in
March or April 2006. The new proposed effective date is expected to apply to the first fiscal
year beginning after December 2006.

Prior to 2005, the Company did not apply the provisions of the Emerging Issues Task
Force (EITF) Consensus 00-10 as freight amounts billed to customers were not material to the
financial statements as a whole. Beginning on January 1, 2005, because the Company now
believes that, due to rising fuel and other transportation costs, freight costs billed to customers
may become material, the Company began classifying freight billed to customers as revenue
instead of as a reduction to cost of goods sold in accordance with EITF 00-10. The impact of the
reclassification for the year ended December 31, 2005 was $0.5 million. Prior year results have
not been restated as amounts were not material.

3. Discontinued Operations

During the year ended December 31, 2001, we discontinued the operations of Wolverine
Ratcliffs, Inc. (WRI), which was previously included in the rod, bar and other products segment.
Operating results of the discontinued WRI operations for 2005, 2004, and 2003, in excess of the
previous provision for losses recorded in the fourth quarter of 2001, are as follows:

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)
Loss before income tax benefit $ - $(389) $(2.406)
Income tax benefit - (127) (769)
Net loss $ - $(262) $(1,637)

On February 16, 2005, we entered into an agreement for the sale of the WRI land and
building for $1.1 million U.S. dollars. This transaction closed on May 3, 2005 (See Note 6).
The Company incurred a loss of approximately $0.1 million on the sale of this property. In
2004, the remainder of the equipment from WRI was sold for $0.8 million. As part of the sales
transaction, the Company received from the purchasers a note receivable of approximately $0.8
million.
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4. Prepaid Expenses and Other

Prepaid expenses and other are as follows at December 31:

2005 2004
(In thousands)
Prepaid expenses $ 4,713 $5,684
Other assets recording the fair value of hedging instruments (Note 5) 5,496 1,221
Totals $10,209 $6,905
S. Derivatives

The price our customers pay for a product includes a metal charge that represents, in
some cases, the market value of the copper used in that product as of the date we ship the product
to the customer. Effective, September 1, 2005, we changed our method of charging certain
customers from COMEX price for metal at date of shipment to the previous monthly average
COMEX price for metal. This pricing model is expected to serve as a natural hedge against
changes in the commodity price of copper, and allows us to better match the cost of copper with
the selling price to our customers. However, as an accommodation to our customers, we often
enter into fixed price commitments to purchase copper on their behalf in order to fix the price of
copper in advance of shipment. We account for these transactions as cash flow hedges under
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities, as amended by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 138,
Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities, and by Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 149, Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities, (hereinafter collectively referred to as SFAS 133). The fair
values of these derivative assets are recognized in prepaid expenses and other in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet. Hedge ineffectiveness is recognized in the Consolidated Statement
of Operations under cost of goods sold. Information regarding this type of derivative transaction
is as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2005 2004
Gain arising from ineffectiveness included in operations $1.4 & -
Gains reclassed from other comprehensive income/(loss) (“OCI”) to
operations $3.4 $0.7
December 31

_(In millions) 2005 2004
Aggregate notional value of derivatives outstanding $8.8 $10.5
Period through which derivative positions currently exist December 2006  September 2006
Gain in fair value of derivatives $2.8 $1.1
The change in fair value due to the effect of a 10% adverse

change in commedity prices to current fair value $(1.2) $(1.3)

Deferred gains included in OCI $2.3 $1.1
Gains included in OCI to be recognized in the next 12 months $2.3 $1.1
Number of months over which gain in OCI is to be recognized 12 21




We have firm-price purchase commitments with some of our copper suppliers under
which we agree to buy copper at a price set in advance of the actual delivery of that copper to us.
Under these arrangements, we assume the risk of a price decrease in the market price of copper
between the time this price is fixed and the time the copper is delivered. In order to reduce our
market exposure to price decreases, at the time we enter into a firm-price purchase commitment,
we also often enter into commodity forward contracts to sell a like amount of copper at the then-
current price for delivery to the counterparty at a later date. We account for these transactions as
cash flow hedges under SFAS 133. The fair value of these derivative liabilities is recognized in
accrued liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Hedge ineffectiveness is recognized in the
Consolidated Statement of Operations under cost of goods sold. Information on this type of
derivative transaction is as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2005 2004
(Loss) arising from ineffectiveness included in operations $(1.3) s -
(Losses) reclassed from OCI to operations $(4.2) $(1.7)
December 31

(In millions) 2005 2004
Aggregate notional value of derivatives outstanding $ 5.6 $26.1
Period through which derivative positions currently exist January 2006 March 2005
(Loss) in fair value of derivatives $ - $(0.9)
The change in fair value due to the effect of a 10% adverse change in

commodity prices to current fair value $(0.6) $(2.7)
Deferred gains/(losses) included in OCI $0.2 $(0.8)
Gains/(losses) included in OCI to be recognized in the next 12 months $0.2 $(0.8)
Number of months over which gain/(loss) in OCI is to be recognized 1 3

We have entered into commodity forward contracts to sell copper in order to hedge or
protect the value of the copper carried in our inventory from price decreases. During the first
three quarters of 2004, these forward contracts were not designated as hedges, and were marked
to market each period, with the corresponding gains and losses recorded in cost of goods sold.
Beginning in the fourth quarter of 2004, we began accounting for these forward contracts as fair
value hedges under SFAS 133. The fair value of these derivative liabilities is recognized in
accrued liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Hedge ineffectiveness is recognized in the
Consolidated Statement of Operations under cost of goods sold. Information on this type of

derivative transaction is as follows:
For the Year Ended December 31,
(In millions) 2005 2004

(Loss) arising from ineffectiveness included in operations $(2.7) $(0.5)

December 31

(In millions) 2005 2004
Aggregate notional value of derivatives outstanding $29.6 $64.1
Period through which derivative positions currently exist March 2006 March 2005
(Loss) in fair value of derivatives $(2.4) $(1.8)
The change in fair value due to the effect of a 10% adverse change in

commodity prices to current fair value $3.2) $(6.6)

F-15




We have also entered into commodity futures contracts to purchase natural gas to reduce
our risk of future price increases. We account for these transactions as cash flow hedges under
SFAS 133. The fair value of these derivative assets is recognized in prepaid expenses and other
in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Hedge ineffectiveness is recognized in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations under cost of goods sold. Information on this type of derivative
transaction is as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2005 2004
Gain arising from ineffectiveness included in operations $2.3 $ -
Gains reclassed from OCI to operations 31 1.0

December 31

(In millions) 2005 2004
Aggregate notional value of derivatives outstanding $12.2 $11.9
Period through which derivative positions currently exist December 2008  December 2006
Gain in fair value of derivatives $1.9 $0.1
The change in fair value due to the effect of a 10% adverse change in

commodity prices to current fair value $(1.4) $(1.2)
Deferred gains/(losses) included in OCI $(0.3) $0.1
Gains included in OCI to be recognized in the next 12 months $0.5 $0.1
Number of months over which gain in OCI is to be recognized 36 24

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

We are subject to market risk exposure from fluctuations in foreign currencies. Foreign
currency exchange forward contracts may be used from time to time to hedge the variability in
cash flows from the forecasted payment or receipt of currencies other than the functional
currency. We do not enter into forward exchange contracts for speculative purposes. These
forward currency exchange contracts and the underlying hedged receivables and payables are
carried at their fair values, with any associated gains and losses recognized in current period
earnings. These contracts cover periods commensurate with known or expected exposures,
generally within three months. As of December 31, 2005, we had forward exchange contracts
outstanding to sell foreign currency with a notional amount of $1.4 million. The estimated fair
value of these forward exchange contracts to sell foreign currency was an immaterial gain. The
effect of a 10% adverse change in exchange rates would reduce the fair value by approximately
$128 thousand.

We also use foreign currency forward exchange contracts to hedge our inventory
currency risk in Canada. These contracts are denominated in U.S. and Canadian dollars. As of
December 31, 2005, we had foreign currency forward exchange contracts outstanding through
December 2006 to purchase foreign currency with a notional amount of $8.6 million. As of
December 31, 2005, we had an unrealized gain of $17 thousand associated with these foreign
currency forward exchange contracts. The effect of a 10% adverse change in exchange rates
would reduce the fair value by approximately $0.8 million.




Interest Rate Risk

In October 2002, we entered into an interest rate swap transaction on $50.0 million of our
7.375% Senior Notes. The interest rate swap calls for semi-annual interest payments on
February 1 and August 1, a floating interest rate based upon the six month LIBOR plus a spread
of 3.76%, and an August 1, 2008 maturity date. The interest rate swap resulted in an increase in
interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2005 of $0.4 million and a reduction of interest
expense of $0.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2004.

-As of December 31, 2005, the fair market value of the interest rate swap was a liability of
$1.6 million, which is included in other liabilities with a corresponding decrease to the hedged
debt (Note 9). Equal and offsetting unrealized gains and losses are included in other
expense/(income). For the year ended December 31, 2005, the interest rate swap effectively
converted $50 million of fixed rate 7.375% Senior Notes to variable rates of 8.15%. As of
December 31, 2004, the fair market value of the interest rate swap was a liability of $0.7 million,
which was included in other liabilities with a corresponding decrease to the hedged debt. Equal
and offsetting unrealized gains and losses were included in other expense/(income). For the year
ended December 31, 2004, the interest rate swap effectively converted $50 million of fixed rate
7.375% Senior Notes to variable rates of 6.07%.

The disclosures with respect to the above noted risks do not take into account the
underlying commitments or anticipated transactions. If the underlying items were included in
the analysis, the gains or losses on the forward contracts may be offset. Actual results will be
determined by a number of factors that are not generally under our control and could vary
significantly from those factors disclosed.

We are exposed to credit losses in the event of nonperformance by counterparties on the
above instruments, as well as credit or performance risk with respect to our hedged customers’
commitments. Although nonperformance is possible, we do not anticipate nonperformance by
any of these parties.

6. Assets Held for Sale

At December 31, 2005, we had no assets classified as being held for sale. In 2004, we
sold our previously closed Roxboro, North Carolina facility for $2.5 million, which was the
carrying value of the property after write-downs of $0.8 million that were taken in 2004. The
WRI property, as discussed in Note 3, was sold on May 3, 2005 and was the only asset held for
sale as of December 31, 2004.
7. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment at December 31 are as follows:
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2005 2004

(In thousands)
Land and improvements $13,995 $14,353
Building and improvements 51,065 54,758
Machinery and equipment 294,077 290,668
Construction-in-progress 2,914 4,772
362,051 364,551
Less accumulated depreciation (180,813) (169,585)
Totals $181,238 $194,966

8. Deferred Charges
Deferred charges include debt issuance costs, patents and an intangible pension asset.
Debt issuance costs are deferred and amortized over the terms of the debt to which they relate

using a method which approximates the interest method.

Deferred charges are as follows at December 31:

2005 2004

{In thousands)
Deferred debt issuance cost $10,975 $ 9,873
Patents and other 1,889 2,342
Unrecognized prior service cost for
pensions 1,507 4,739

14,371 16,954
Less accumulated amortization (6,645) (5,062)
Totals $ 7,726 $11,892

Deferred charges other than unrecognized prior service cost for pensions are subject to
amortization. Net deferred debt issuance costs of $4.9 million will be amortized utilizing a
method which approximates the interest method over a weighted average remaining life of 3
years, resulting in amortization expense of $1.7 million, $1.6 million, $1.3 million and $0.3
million in each of the next four succeeding years beginning in 2006. We recorded $1.4 million
of amortization expense related to deferred debt issuance costs and patents and other in each of
the years for the three year period ended December 31, 2005. Capitalized patents costs of $0.8
million are being amortized on a straight line basis over the patent life. Other deferred costs are
amortized over the estimated useful life of the intangible asset.

9. Accrued Liabilities

Accnied liabilities are as follows at December 31:
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2005 2004

(In thousands)

Interest $7,304 $ 6,764
Income taxes 3,388 2,254
Reserve for restructuring 785 524
Fair value of derivatives and unsettled

derivative liabilities (Note 5) 10,962 10,873
Other accrued operating expenses 12,513 12,061
Totals $34,952 $32,476

10.  Financing Arrangements and Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following at December 31:

2005 2004
(In thousands)
Secured revolving credit facility, due March 2007 $ - $ 1,000
Senior Notes, 7.375%, due August 2008 135,180 136,097
Discount on 7.375% Senior Notes, original issue
discount amortized over 10 years (75) (103)
Senior Notes, 10.5%, due April 2009 99,400 99,400
Discount on 10.5% Senior Notes, original issue
discount amortized over 7 years (557) (729)
Netherlands facility, 5.13%, due on demand 4 976
Other foreign facilities 1,104 1,494
Capitalized leases 112 106
235,168 238,241
Less short-term borrowings (248) (1,219
Totals $234,920 $237,022

Aggregate maturities of long-term debt are as follows:

(In thousands)

2006 $ 248
2007 392
2008 137,246
2009 97,282
Totals $235,168

Liquidity Facilities

On April 28, 2005, we established a three year receivables sale facility of up to $45
million arranged by Wachovia Bank, National Association (Wachovia) (see Note 11); amended
and restated our secured revolving credit facility with Wachovia pursuant to an Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement to provide for a three year facility of up to $35 million; and amended
and restated our silver consignment and forward contracts facility with Bank of America, N.A.,
successor in interest to Fleet Precious Metals Inc., (BANA), pursuant to an Amended and
Restated Consignment Agreement. The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement and the
Amended and Restated Consignment Agreement included amendments to the consolidated
EBITDA covenants in each of those agreements to bring us into compliance with the
consolidated EBITDA requirements for the first quarter of 2005.
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Because we would not have been in compliance with the second quarter 2005
consolidated EBITDA requirement in the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, the
Amended and Restated Consignment Agreement or the Receivables Purchase Agreement
relating to the receivables sale facility, we further amended these agreements on August 1, 2005.
The August amendments included modifications to the consolidated EBITDA requirements in
these agreements to bring us into compliance with the consolidated EBITDA requirements for
the second quarter of 2005. In addition, because we also would not have been in compliance
with the consolidated EBITDA requirements in the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
and the Receivables Purchase Agreement for the third quarter of 2005, we further amended these
agreements effective as of September 30, 2005. The September amendments suspended the
requirement of the minimum consolidated EBITDA covenants in these agreements until
quarterly testing resumes beginning in the second quarter of 2007. All of our existing and
amended liquidity facilities have cross default provisions.

As of December 31, 2005, we were in compliance with the financial covenants contained
in the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, the Amended and Restated Consignment
Agreement and the Receivables Purchase Agreement.

We had no borrowings outstanding under our secured revolving credit facility at
December 31, 2005, and approximately $12.5 million of standby letters of credit outstanding.
After taking into account $8.1 million of reserves and other holdbacks, we had $11.9 million in
additional borrowing availability under the secured revolving credit facility as of that date. As of
December 31, 2004, we had $1.0 million in outstanding borrowings under our secured revolving
credit facility, approximately $9.2 million of standby letters of credit outstanding, and
approximately $26.6 million (subject to a $2.0 million excess availability requirement) in
additional borrowing capacity available thereunder. Borrowing capacity available as of
December 31, 2005 and 2004 reflects a reduction in the available amount for the value of the
interest rate swap outstanding of $1.8 million and $0.7 million, respectively.

Under our silver consignment and forward contracts facility at December 31, 2005, we
had $13.5 million of silver in our inventory under the silver consignment facility, with a
corresponding amount included in accounts payable and $1.1 million committed to under the
forward contracts facility. At December 31, 2004, we had $13.9 million in our inventory under
the silver consignment facility, with a corresponding amount included in accounts payable and
$0.7 million outstanding under the forward contracts facility.

10.5% Senior Notes due 2009

There is $99.4 million in principal amount of 10.5% Senior Notes outstanding at
December 31, 2005. The 10.5% Senior Notes were issued pursuant to an Indenture, dated as of
March 27, 2002. The 10.5% Senior Notes (i) have interest payment dates of April 1 and October
1 of each year; (ii) are redeemable after the dates and at the prices (expressed in percentages of
principal amount on the redemption date), as set forth below:

F-20




-]

Year Percentage
April 1, 2006 105.250%
April 1, 2007 102.625%
April 1, 2008 and thereafter 100.000%

(111) are senior unsecured obligations and are senior in right of payment to any of our future
subordinated obligations, (iv) are guaranteed by certain of our subsidiaries and (v) are subject to
the terms of the indenture governing such Senior Notes, which contain certain covenants,
including covenants that limit our ability to incur indebtedness, make certain restricted payments
and dispose of certain assets.

7.375% Senior Notes due 2008

There is $136.8 million in principal amount of 7.375% Senior Notes outstanding at
December 31, 2005. The 7.375% Senior Notes were issued pursuant to an Indenture, dated as of
August 4, 1998. The 7.375% Senior Notes: (i) have interest payment dates of February 1 and
August 1 of each year; (i1) are redeemable at our option at a redemption price equal to the greater
of (a) 100% of the principal amount of the Senior Notes to be redeemed, or (b) the sum of the
present value of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest thereon from the
redemption date to the maturity date, discounted to the redemption date on a semiannual basis at
a rate based upon the yield of the specified treasury securities plus 25 basis points, plus, in each
case, accrued interest thereon to the date of redemption; (iii) are senior unsecured obligations and
are pari passu in right of payment with any of our existing and future senior unsecured
indebtedness, including borrowings under the Facility; (iv) are guaranteed by certain of our
subsidiaries; and (v) are subject to the terms of the Indenture, which limits our ability to incur
indebtedness secured by certain liens and to engage in sale/leaseback transactions.

Our financing agreements also contain covenants that among other things, require us to
maintain certain financial ratios and place other restrictions and limitations on us, including
restrictions on our payment of dividends, limitations on the issuance of additional debt and
limitations on investments, contingent obligations, the redemption of capital stock and the sale or

transfer of assets. The Company is in compliance with the above covenants as of December 31,
2005.

Other Credit Facilities

We have a credit facility with a Netherlands bank, payable on demand and providing for
available credit of up to 1.8 million euros. At December 31, 2005 and 2004, we had outstanding
borrowings in U.S. dollars of approximately $4 thousand and $1.0 million under this facility,
respectively.

In 2002, we obtained an interest free loan from the Portuguese government in the amount
of 1.9 million euros that matures in 2008. Based on the performance of our Portugal facility, the
Portuguese government forgave 40% of the loan, or 0.7 million euros in 2003. Accordingly, we
classified 0.7 million euros of the loan as deferred income in 2003, and are amortizing this into
income over the life of the equipment purchased with the loan proceeds. The loan balance at
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December 31, 2005 is 0.9 million euros which equates to $1.1 million U.S. dollars (based on
current exchange rates). The loan provides for annual payments in U.S. dollars of $0.2 million
in 2006, $0.4 million in 2007 and $0.5 million in 2008.

11.  Receivables Sale Facility

On April 28, 2005, in conjunction with amending and restating our secured revolving
credit facility and our silver consignment and forward contracts facility, we established a new
three year receivables sale facility of up to $45 million arranged by Wachovia.

Structure. Under the receivables sale facility, the Company and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries Small Tube Manufacturing, LLC and Tube Forming, L.P. (collectively, the
Originators) continuously sell certain receivables without recourse to DEJ 98 Finance, LLC
(DEJ), a wholly owned, bankruptcy-remote special purpose entity, pursuant to a Receivables
Sale Agreement between the Originators and DEJ. Wolverine Finance, LLC (Wolverine
Finance), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, has been engaged by DEJ to service the
sold receivables. The books and records of DEJ are included in the consolidated financial
statements of the Company for financial reporting purposes.

The Originators sell, or transfer as a contribution of capital, certain U.S. receivables, at a
discount and without recourse, to DEJ, whose sole business purpose is the acquisition and
financing of the receivables. DEJ can then further sell undivided interests in a specified portion
of these receivables, as necessary, to Variable Funding Capital Company LLC, assignee of Blue
Ridge Asset Funding Corporation (VFCC), or, to the extent that VFECC elects not to purchase, to
Wachovia and certain other purchasers (the Liquidity Banks), pursuant to a Receivables
Purchase Agreement among DEJ, Wolverine Finance, the Company, VFCC, the Liquidity Banks
from time to time party thereto and Wachovia, as agent, in order to provide the funds required to
purchase receivables from the Originators. Proceeds from the collection of the receivables are
used by DEJ to purchase additional receivables from the Originators, repay VFCC and/or the
Liquidity Banks in the event that sufficient additional receivables are not available to maintain its
investment, and pay fees and expenses. The Company has guaranteed the performance by the
other Originators of their obligations under the Receivables Sale Agreement and Wolverine
Finance’s obligations under the Receivables Purchase Agreement. The Company structured the
sale of receivables by the Originators to DEJ and the sale of receivable interests from DEJ as
“true sales” under applicable laws. Any interests in the sold receivables which are retained by
DEJ, the special purpose, bankruptcy-remote entity, will not be available to the Company or its
creditors. VFCC and Wachovia have no recourse to the Company’s or the Originators’ assets for
losses resulting from the financial inability of customers to pay amounts owed on the receivables
when they become due. DEJ is a separate corporate entity with its own creditors who, in the
event of DEJ’s liquidation, will be entitled to a claim on DEJ’s assets prior to any distribution to
the Company.

Available Amounts. The amount of cash available to us from VFCC or the Liquidity

Banks is based upon the amount of eligible receivables and certain reserves required by the
facility. Accordingly, availability may fluctuate over time given changes in eligible receivables
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balances and calculation of reserves, but in no case will it exceed the facility’s $45 million
purchase limit,

Based upon the servicing report prepared by Wolverine Finance as of December 31,
2005, the value of receivables eligible to be purchased by VFCC totaled approximately $34.0
million. We utilized $19.0 million under the facility at December 31, 2005, leaving remaining
availability at this date of approximately $15.0 million.

Costs. Our costs associated with the receivables sale facility depend on whether
purchases are funded by VFCC or by the Liquidity Banks. To the extent that purchases are
funded by VFCC, our costs will be based on VFCC'’s cost of funds for issuing commercial paper
plus monthly fees based on the average aggregate daily outstanding balance funded by VFCC
multiplied by a per annum rate of between 0.80% to 1.75%, depending on our fixed charge
coverage ratio. To the extent that purchases are not funded by VFCC, but instead are funded
directly by the Liquidity Banks, our costs, payable monthly, will generally accrue on outstanding
balances at either (i) the LIBO rate plus a margin between 1.75% to 3.00%, depending on the
fixed charge coverage ratio, or (ii) the greater of the prime rate or adjusted federal funds rate plus
a margin between 0.00% to 0.50%, depending on our fixed charge coverage ratio. Commitment
fees are payable monthly at a per annum rate of between 0.35% to 0.50%, depending on our
fixed charge coverage ratio, and accrue on the unused portion of the facility. DEJ also pays
certain fees and expenses of Wachovia and VFCC, including an annual administration fee and
audit and legal fees of VFCC and Wachovia associated with the receivables sale facility. We
also paid a one-time structuring fee to Wachovia at closing.

Representations, Warranties, Covenants and Indemnities. The receivable sales facility
contains representations, warranties, covenants and indemnities customary for facilities of this

type.

Termination. The receivables sale facility is scheduled to expire on April 28, 2008.
Although VFCC is not committed to purchase undivided ownership interests in receivables, the
Liquidity Banks have committed to (if VFCC does not) purchase receivables interests, on the
terms and subject to the conditions in the receivables sale facility, until this expiration date. The
Company can terminate the receivables sale facility upon 10 days notice without a termination
fee.

Wachovia, as agent for VFCC and the Liquidity Banks, can terminate purchases of
receivables interests prior to the scheduled expiration date upon the occurrence of certain events,
including, among others, non-performance by us of payments or other agreements under the
receivables sale facility; inaccuracy of the representations and warranties made in the facility
documents; defaults with respect to other obligations of DEJ; defaults with respect to
indebtedness in excess of $2.5 million of the Company or its subsidiaries other than DEJ;
bankruptcy or insolvency events regarding us or any of our subsidiaries; certain statistics
concerning collections of the receivables not meeting specified criteria; certain change of control
events; the rendering of judgments in excess of specified amounts against DEJ, us or our
subsidiaries; the termination of any of the transaction documents, the cessation of any transfers
of receivables under the Receivables Sale Agreement or the ineffectiveness of our performance
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guarantee; the agent’s interest in the receivables ceasing to be valid; the outstanding amount
received by us exceeding the $45 million purchase limit or the aggregate adjusted amount of
outstanding receivables; certain events that materially adversely affect the credit quality of
receivables or the Company and its subsidiaries taken as a whole; certain ERISA events; and
defaults in any of the financial requirements contained in the Receivables Purchase Agreement,
which are the same as the financial covenants included in the Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement.

In accordance with the provisions of SFAS 140, the Company includes in accounts
receivable in its consolidated balance sheets the portion of receivables sold to DEJ which have
not been resold by DEJ to VFCC or the Liquidity Banks. At December 31, 2005, the outstanding
amount of investment by VFCC of commercial paper under the agreements was $19.0 million.
Accordingly, accounts receivable in the consolidated balance sheets have been reduced by
$19.0 million at December 31, 2005 representing the face amount of the outstanding receivables
sold at that date.

The August amendment to the Receivables Purchase Agreement included:

e an amendment to the consolidated EBITDA requirement for the second fiscal quarter
of 2005 in order to bring the Company into compliance with this requirement for that
period, as well as a prospective adjustment to the consolidated EBITDA test, both
consistent with the revised consolidated EBITDA covenant contained in the August
amendment to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement;

¢ the addition or enhancement of certain financial and operational reporting obligations,
including those obligations required under the August amendment to the Amended
and Restated Credit Agreement;

e an adjustment to the loss reserve and dilution reserve formulas that are used in the
availability calculation; and :

e the elimination of the obligation to comply with the $5 million excess availability
requirement under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement.

The September amendment to the Receivables Purchase Agreement adjusted the
minimum consolidated EBITDA requirements to be consistent with the revised minimum
consolidated EBITDA covenant contained in the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement. As a
result, the minimum consolidated EBITDA covenant is suspended until quarterly testing resumes
in the second fiscal quarter of 2007. In addition, the September amendment requires DEJ to
furnish audited annual financial statements to Wachovia.

12. Interest Expense

The following table summarizes interest expense, net:
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Year Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003

(in thousands)

Interest expense — bonds and other $20,862 $22,002 $22,934
Interest expense — asset securitization 640 - -
Interest expense — revolver 165 344 40
Effect of interest rate swap 388 (655) (1,123)
Interest income (1,064) (637) (556)
Capitalized interest (264) (194) 7
Interest expense, net $20,727 $20,860 $21,218

13.  Retirement and Pension Plans

We have 401(k) plans covering substantially all of our U.S. employees. We provide, at
our discretion, a match of employee salaries contributed to the plans. We recorded expense with
respect to these plans of $0.7 million in 2005, $0.7 million in 2004, and $0.4 million in 2003.

U.S. Qualified Retirement Plan

We have a U.S. defined benefit pension plan (U.S. Retirement Plan) that is
noncontributory covering the majority of all our U.S. employees fulfilling minimum age and
service requirements. Benefits are based upon years of service and a prescribed formula based
upon the employee’s compensation.

The weighted average asset allocations for our U.S. Retirement Plan at December 31 are
as follows:

2005 2004
Equity securities 59% 59%
Debt securities 40 - 38
Cash and equivalents 1 3
Total 100% 100%

The investment policy of our U.S. Retirement Plan states that the overall target allocation
of investments should be 60% equities and 40% bonds. The investment policy of our U.S.
Retirement Plan states that all assets selected for the portfolio must have a readily ascertainable
market value and must be readily marketable. The policy expressly prohibits certain types of
assets or transactions including commodities, futures, foreign securities (other than those listed
on the New York Stock Exchange), private placements, warrants, purchasing of securities on
margin, selling short, options, derivatives, interest rate swaps, limited partnerships and real
estate.

The investment policy of our U.S. Retirement Plan states that investments in equity
securities must be of good quality and diversified so as to avoid undue exposure to any single
economic sector, industry or group or individual security. The policy states that investments in
debt securities should be rated “A” or better, allowing debt securities with a rating of “BBB” as
long as the total amount rated “BBB” does not exceed 10% of the debt securities portfolio at the
time of purchase and as long as the debt securities portfolio maintains an overall rating of at least
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“A”. The investment policy limits the debt securities of any one issuer, excluding investments in
U.S. Government guaranteed obligations, and states that no debt securities should have a
maturity of longer than thirty years at the time of purchase.

On December 31, 2005, the annual measurement date, our U.S. Retirement Plan had an
unfunded accumulated benefit obligation of $33.4 million and an accrued pension liability of
$4.3 million, resulting in an additional minimum liability of $29.1 million. This difference is
primarily the result of the change in the discount rate assumption to 5.75% in 2005 from 6.00%
in 2004. As a result, we have reflected as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss
the additional minimum liability of $29.1 million. The amount charged to other comprehensive
loss before tax during 2005 arising from the change in the additional minimum pension liability
was $9.7 million, which decreased stockholders’ equity.

The accumulated benefit obligations at December 31, 2005 and 2004 were $164.6 million
and $149.7 million, respectively. The amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets
before taxes are as follows at December 31:

2005 2004
(In thousands)
Accrued benefit liability $(33,372) $(18,587)
Intangible asset - 765
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 29,071 19,396
Net amount recognized $(4,301) $ 1,574

Certain assumptions utilized in determining the benefit obligations for the U.S.
Retirement Plan for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

2005 2004
Discount rate 5.75% 6.00%
Rate of increase in compensation 3.00% 3.50%

A summary of the components of net periodic pension cost for the U.S. Retirement Plan
for the years ended December 31 is as follows:

2005 2004 2003

(In thousands)

Service cost $ 4,960 $ 4,358 $ 3,963
Interest cost 9,928 9,371 9,145
Expected return on plan assets (11,541) (11,194) (10,052)
Amortization of prior service cost 120 120 137
Amortization of net actuarial loss 1,763 1,236 1,102
Effect of curtailment 645 - 102
Net periodic pension cost $5.875 $ 3,891 $ 4,397

The amortization of our net actuarial loss in 2005 of $1.8 million is the amortization of
total unrecognized losses as of January 1, 2005 that exceeds 10% of our projected benefit
obligation, approximately $38.1 million, and is being amortized over the expected average
remaining years of service of the plan participants which is 12 years.
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Certain assumptions utilized in determining the net periodic benefit cost for the years
ended December 31 are as follows:

2005 2004 2003
Discount rate 6.00% 6.25% 7.00%
Rate of increase in compensation 3.5% 3.50% 3.50%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 9.00% 9.00% 9.00%

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is selected by taking into account the
expected weighted averages of the investments of the assets, the fact that the plan assets are
actively managed to mitigate downside risks, the historical performance of the market in general
and the historical performance of the U.S. Retirement Plan assets over the past ten years. For the
ten year period ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, the U.S. Retirement Plan assets have
provided a weighted rate of return of 10.6% and 11.7%, respectively.

The following table sets forth a reconciliation of the projected benefit obligation for the
years ended December 31:

2005 2004

(In thousands)

Benefit obligation at the beginning of the year $165,004 $153,488
Service costs 4,960 4,358
Interest costs 9,928 9,371
Actuarial loss 10,858 5,272
Benefits paid (7,361) (7,485)
Curtailment (18,727) -
Benefit obligation at the end of the year $164,662 $165,004

The actuarial loss for the year ended December 31, 2005 results from a $4.0 million loss
due to personnel experience (primarily pay increases larger than expected), a $3.1 million gain
due to the decrease in the future salary increase assumption from 3.5% to 3.0%, a $5.9 million
loss due to the change in the discount rate from 6.0% to 5.75%, and a $4.0 million loss due to the
use of an updated mortality table. The actuarial loss for the year ended December 31, 2004
results from a $5.4 million loss due to the change in the discount rate to 6.00% from 6.25% and a
$0.1 million gain due to personnel experience different than assumed.

The following table sets forth a reconciliation of the plan assets for the years ended
December 31:

2005 2004

(In thousands)

Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year $131,149 $127,768
Accrued expenses (18) -
Accrued interest 738 -
Actual return on plan assets 6,749 10,866
Benefits paid (7,361) (7,485)
Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year $131,257 $131,149

In 2006, with regard to the U.S. Retirement Plan, we anticipate making mandatory
contributions totaling $1.4 million as required by funding regulations or laws.

F-27




The following table sets forth the funded status of the plan and the amounts recognized in
our Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31:

2005 2004
(In thousands)
Unfunded status $(33,405) $(33,855)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss 29,104 34,664
Unrecognized prior service costs - 765
Prepaid pension asset/(liability) $(4,301) $1,574

The expected future benefits payments for the plan are as follows:
(in thousands)

2006 $ 7,801
2007 8,189
2008 8.564
2009 8,947
2010 9,309
2011 - 2015 51,947

The Company announced the freezing of this plan, effective February 28, 2006. In
conjunction with the freezing of the plan, the Company recorded a curtailment charge in the
amount of $0.7 million in 2005 in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 87 (SFAS 87), Employers’ Accounting for Settlements and Curtailments of Defined Benefit
Pension Plans and for Termination Plans.

U.S. Nonqualified Pension Plans

The Company previously had two nonqualified pension plans in the United States. The
Supplemental Benefit Restoration Plan (the Restoration Plan) was established as of January 1,
1994. The Restoration Plan is a non-funded, defined benefit pension plan that provides benefits
to employees identical to the benefits provided by the U.S. Retirement Plan, except that under
the U.S. Retirement Plan final average annual compensation for purposes of determining plan
benefits for 2005 was capped at $210,000. Benefits under the Restoration Plan are not subject to
this limitation. However, Restoration Plan benefits are offset by any benefits payable from the
U.S. Retirement Plan. The Company announced the freezing of the Restoration Plan, effective
February 28, 2006.

The Company also had previously established, on January 1, 2002, the 2002
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (the Executive Plan) to provide retirement benefits to
executives who were employed at the level of senior vice president or above and who were
approved for participation by the Compensation Committee upon the recommendation of the
Chief Executive Officer (CEO). The Executive Plan, in general, provided a monthly benefit to
participants at the normal retirement age of 65 of 55% of average pay reduced by benefits under
the U.S. Retirement Plan, the Restoration Plan and Social Security. The annual benefit payable
to the CEO was increased by $6,000 for each year of service. Benefits became fully vested upon
a change in control and were immediately payable in the event of a termination of employment
following a change in control. Otherwise, benefits vested upon attaining age 55 and earning 12
years of service. The Executive Plan was terminated by the Company on December 9, 2005,
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effective December 16, 2005. At the time of the termination of the Executive Plan, there were 4
participants. No current participants were vested under the Executive Plan on the date of
termination other than the CEO who retired on December 9, 2005. With the exception of the
CEO (who retired on December 9, 2005 and whose Executive Plan benefits will be payable in
2006), no further benefits will be payable to any participant under the Executive Plan. Benefits
due to the CEO will be paid from funds previously held in a rabbi trust and from the general
operating funds of the Company.

The U.S. nonqualified pension plans use a December 31 measurement date.

The unfunded accumulated benefit obligation for our combined nonqualified pension
plans of $6.9 million exceeded the plans’ accrued liability of $6.7 million by $0.2 million at
December 31, 2005. As a result, we have reflected as a component of accumulated other
comprehensive loss the additional minimum liability of $0.2 million. The amount charged to
other comprehensive loss before tax during 2005 arising from the change in the additional
minimum pension liability was $0.2 million, which decreased stockholders’ equity.

The amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets before taxes are as follows
at December 31:

2005 2004
{In thousands)
Accrued benefit liability $(6,913) $(7,118)
Intangible asset - 2,935
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 234 -
Net amount recognized $(6,679) $(4,183)

Certain assumptions utilized in determining the benefit obligations for the nonqualified
pension plans for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

2005 2004
Discount rate 5.75% 6.00%
Rate of increase in compensation 3.00% 3.50%

A summary of the components of net periodic pension cost for the nonqualified pension
plans for the years ended December 31 is as follows:

2005 2004 2003

(In thousands)

Service cost $ 216 $202 $152
Interest cost 472 494 430
Amortization of prior service cost 368 367 368
Amortization of net actuarial loss 49 43 -
Curtailment 2,784 - -
Settlement 261 - -
Net periodic pension cost $4,150 $1,106 $950

The following table sets forth a reconciliation of the projected benefit obligation for the
years ended December 31:
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2005 2004

(In thousands)

Benefit obligation at the beginning of the year $8,485 37,406
Service costs 216 202
Interest costs 472 494
Actuarial loss 210 463
Curtailment (806) -
Benefits paid (1,654) (80)
Benefit obligation at the end of the year $6,923 $8,485

The following table sets forth a reconciliation of the plan assets for the years ended
December 31:

2005 2004
(In thousands)
Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year $ - : 5 -
Company contributions 1,654 80
Benefits paid (1,654) (80)
Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year $ - $ -

In 2006, we anticipate making payments to participants of $0.1 million, which represents
the equivalent of the normal amount of benefits. We also anticipate paying a lump sum
distribution of $5.7 million to the former CEO, who retired on December 9, 2005, which
represents his vested benefits under the two plans. The payments will be made from a
combination of the funds previously held in the rabbi trust and from general corporate funds.

The following table sets forth the funded status of the plans and the amounts recognized
in our Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31:

2005 2004
(In thousands)
Unfunded status (6,923) $(8,485)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss 244 1,151
Unrecognized prior service costs - 3,151
Accrued benefit cost (6,679) $(4,183)

The expected future benefits payments for the plan is as follows:

(in thousands)

2006 $ 5815
2007 80
2008 80
2009 80
2010 30
2011 - 2015 490

Canadian Plans

We sponsor a defined contribution profit-sharing retirement plan for our London, Ontario
facility employees who are required to contribute 4% of regular wages, subject to a maximum
contribution limit specified by Canadian income tax regulations. Company contributions were
$0.3 million in 2005, $0.4 million in 2004 and $0.4 million in 2003.

F-30




We also have established two noncontributory defined benefit pension plans covering
substantially all our employees at the Montreal, Quebec facility (Canadian Plans). The two plans
are the Wolverine Tube (Canada) Inc. Pension Plan for Salaried Employees (the Salaried Plan)
and the Wolverine Tube (Canada) Inc. Pension Plan for Operational Employees (the Operational
Plan). We contribute the actuarially determined amounts annually into the plans. Benefits for
the hourly employees are based on years of service and a negotiated rate. Benefits for salaried
employees are based on years of service and the employee’s highest annual average
compensation over five consecutive years.

The investment policy of our Canadian Plans states that all assets selected for the
portfolio must have a readily ascertainable market value and must be readily marketable. The
policy expressly limits the use of certain types of assets or transactions including commodities,
futures, private placements, warrants, purchasing of securities on margin, selling short, options,
derivatives, interest rate swaps and limited partnerships.

The investment policy of our Canadian Plans states that investments in equity securities
must be of good quality and diversified so as to avoid undue exposure to any single economic
sector, industry or group or individual security. The policy states that investments in debt
securities should be rated “BBB” or better. The investment policy limits the debt securities of
any one issuer, excluding investments in federal government guaranteed obligations,

The investment policy of our Canadian Plans state that investments in assets should be in
accordance with the maximum and minimum ranges for each asset category as follows:

Minimum Maximum
Canadian equity securities 15% 35%
Foreign equity securities 20 30
Debt securities 33 53
Cash and equivalents 0 15

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is selected by taking into account the
expected weighted averages of the investments of the assets, the fact that the plan assets are
actively managed to mitigate downside risks, the historical performance of the market in general
and the historical performance of the Canadian Plans assets over the past ten years. For the ten
year period ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Canadian Plans assets have provided a
weighted average rate of return of 9.2% and 9.5%, respectively.

The discount rates utilized in determining the benefit obligations for the Canadian Plans
were 5.5% and 6.0% for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The
expected rate of increase in compensation used in accounting for the Salaried Plan was 3.0% for
the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003. The rate of increase in compensation is not
applicable in accounting for the Operational Plan for the same periods.

Salaried Plan

The weighted average asset allocation for our Salaried Plan at December 31 is as follows:
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2005 2004

Canadian equity securities 31% 32%
Foreign equity securities 29 27
Debt securities 39 40
Cash and equivalents 1 1
Total 100% 100%

On December 31, 2005, the accumulated benefit obligations for the Salaried Plan
exceeded the fair value of the plan assets. This difference is primarily the result of changing the
discount rate assumption to 5.5% in 2005 from 6.00% in 2004. As a result and in accordance
with SFAS 87, we have an additional minimum pension liability of $1.8 million, reflected as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive loss. The amount charged to accumulated other
comprehensive loss before tax in 2005 arising from the change in the additional minimum
pension liability was $1.8 million, which decreased stockholders’ equity. The $1.8 million
minimum pension liability reflects a reduction in prepaid pension assets of $1.5 million and a
$0.3 million pension liability. In conjunction with the recognition of the additional minimum
pension liability, we also recorded a deferred tax asset and decreased accumulated other
comprehensive loss by $0.6 million.

The accumulated benefit obligations at December 31, 2005 and 2004 for the Salaried
Plan were $9.9 million and $8.1 million, respectively. The amounts recognized in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets before taxes are as follows at December 31:

2005 2004
{In thousands)
Prepaid benefit cost $ - $1,222
Accrued benefit liability (281) -
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 1,802 -
Net amount recognized $1,521 $1,222

A summary of the components of net periodic pension cost for the Salaried Plan for the
years ended December 31 is as follows:

2005 2004 2003
{In thousands)
Service cost $233 $200 $207
Interest cost 553 486 444
Expected return on plan assets (588) (501) (396)
Amortization of net actuarial loss 85 100 107
Net periodic pension cost $283 $285 $362

Certain assumptions utilized in determining the net periodic benefit cost for the Salaried
Plan for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

2005 2004 2003
Discount rate 6.00% 6.25% 6.75%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 7.00% 7.50% 7.50%
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The following table sets forth a reconciliation of the benefit obligation for the Salaried
Plan for the years ended December 31:

2005 2004

(In thousands)

Benefit obligation at the beginning of the year $ 9,461 $7.,886
Service costs 233 200
Interest costs 553 486
Actuarial loss 1,062 780
Benefits paid (845) (545)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes 345 654
Benefit obligation at the end of the year $10,809 $9,461

The following table sets forth a reconciliation of the plans assets for the Salaried Plan for
the years ended December 31:

2005 2004

(In thousands)

Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year $8,618 $6,768
Actual return on plan assets 963 1,353
Company contribution 532 445
Benefits paid (845) (545)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes 305 597
Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year $9.,573 $8,618

In 2006, we anticipate providing approximately $0.9 million in contributions to the
Salaried Plan.

The following table sets forth the funded status of the Salaried Plan and the amounts
recognized in our Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31:

2005 2004
{In thousands)
Funded status $(1,236) $ (842)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss 2,757 2,064
Prepaid benefit cost $1,521 $1,222

The expected future benefits payments for the Salaried Plan are as follows:

(in thousands)

2006 $ 620
2007 608
2008 617
2009 609
2010 591
2011 -2015 3,434

Operational Plan

The weighted average asset allocation for our Operational Plan December 31 is as
follows:

F-33




2005 2004

Canadian equity securities 31% 33%
Foreign equity securities 29 30
Debt securities 40 36
Cash and equivalents - 1
Total 100% 100%

On December 31, 2005, the accumulated benefit obligations for the Operational Plan
exceeded the fair value of the plan assets. This difference is primarily the result of changing the
discount rate assumption to 5.5% in 2005 from 6.00% in 2004. As a result and in accordance
with SFAS 87, we have an additional minimum pension liability of $2.2 million, reflected as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive loss of $0.7 million and an intangible asset of
$1.5 million, which is included in net deferred charges and is equal to the amount of the
unrecognized prior service cost. To record the $0.3 million increase in the minimum pension
liability from 2004 to 2005, we recorded a reduction to accumulated other comprehensive loss
before tax in the amount of $0.3 million, which increased stockholders’ equity, and increased the
intangible asset by $0.5 million. In conjunction with the recognition of the additional minimum
pension liability, we also recorded a deferred tax liability and increased accumulated other
comprehensive loss by $0.1 million.

The accumulated benefit obligations at December 31, 2005 and 2004 for the Operational
Plan were $18.2 million and $16.6 million, respectively. The amounts recognized in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets before taxes are as follows at December 31:

2005 2004
(n thousands) :
Accrued benefit liability $(2,323) $(2,211)
Intangible asset 1,507 1,039
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 696 1,009
Net amount recognized $ (120) $ (163)

A summary of the components of net periodic pension cost for the Operational Plan for
the years ended December 31 is as follows:

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)
Service cost $415 $355 $327
Interest cost 987 908 837
Expected return on plan assets 974) (897) (768)
Amortization of prior service cost 115 94 87
Net periodic pension cost $543 3460 $483

Certain assumptions utilized in determining the net periodic benefit cost for the years
ended December 31 are as follows:
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2005 2004 2003
Discount rate 6.00% 6.25% 6.75%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 7.00% 7.50% 7.50%

The following table sets forth a reconciliation of the benefit obligation for the
Operational Plan for the years ended December 31:

2005 2004

(In thousands)

Benefit obligation at the beginning of the year $16,629 $14,759
Service costs 415 355
Interest costs 987 908
Amendments 533 -
Actuarial loss 458 481
Benefits paid (1,416) (1,019)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes 577 1,145
Benefit obligation at the end of the year $18,183 $16,629

The following table sets forth a reconciliation of the plans assets for the Operational Plan

for the years ended December 31:

2005 2004

{In thousands)

Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year $14,418 $12,215
Actual return on plan assets 1,764 1,586
Company contribution 590 641
Benefits paid (1,416) (1,019)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes 503 995
Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year $15,859 $14,418

In 2006, we anticipate providing approximately $1.7 million in contributions to the

Operational Plan.

The following table sets forth the funded status of the plans and the amounts recognized
for the Operational Plan in our Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31:

2005 2004
{In thousands)
Funded status $(2,323) $(2,211)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss 696 1,009
Unrecognized prior service costs 1,507 1,039
Accrued benefit cost $ (120) 3 (163)

The expected future benefits payments for the Operational Plan are as follows:

(in thousands)

2006 $ 1,007
2007 1,044
2008 1,080
2009 1,067
2010 1,073
2011 - 2015 5,249
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14.  Postretirement Benefit Obligation

We sponsor a health care plan and life insurance plan that provides postretirement
medical benefits and life insurance to substantially all our full-time U.S. and Canadian
employees who have worked ten years after age 50 (52 for employees of our Altoona,
Pennsylvania facility), and spouses of employees who die while employed after age 55 and have
at least five years of service. This plan is contributory, with retiree contributions being adjusted
annually. The plan was modified twice in 2005 to grant retiree coverage at active rates, without
regard to the age requirement to one executive officer and to exclude employees who are not yet
age 55 (age 57 for employees located in Altoona, Pennsylvania) or older as of February 28, 2006
from subsidized retiree medical coverage.

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost for the years ended December 31 includes the
following components:

2005 2004 2003
{In thousands)
Service cost $ 753 $ 676 $ 692
Interest cost 1,167 1,081 1,080
Amortization of prior service cost 164 179 145
Amortization of deferred gain - (7) (82)
Actuarial loss on obligation 2,095 - -
Adjustment: amortization of gain versus
year gain on obligation (2,031) - -
Effect of special termination benefits 6 328 98
Effect of curtailment - - 20
Net periodic postretirement benefit cost $2,154 $2,257 $1,953

The change in benefit obligation for the years ended December 31 includes the following
components:

2005 2004
{In thousands)
Benefit obligation at the beginning of the year $19,908 $18,125
WRI Adjustment 512 -
Service cost 753 676
Interest cost 1,167 1,081
Participants’ contributions 791 787
Amendments 420) 93
Actuarial loss 1,066 443
Benefits paid (2,213) (2,193)
Special termination benefits 6 328
Foreign currency exchange rate changes 391 568
Benefit obligation at the end of the year $21,961 $19,908

The following table sets forth the status of the plan and the amounts recognized in our

Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31:
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2005 2004

(In thousands)

Benefit obligation at end of year $21,961 $19,908
Unrecognized net actuarial (loss) (2,373) (1,036)
Unrecognized prior service cost 134 (450)
Net postretirement benefit obligation $19,722 $18,422

The weighted average discount rate used in determining the postretirement benefit
obligation was 5.43% at December 31, 2005 and 6.00% at December 31, 2004. The weighted
average discount rate used to determine net periodic benefit cost was 6% at December 31, 2005
and 6.25% at December 31, 2004.

For purposes of determining the cost and obligation for pre-Medicare postretirement
medical benefits, a 9.5% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered benefits (i.e.,
health care trend rate) was assumed for our U.S. plan, grading down by 0.5% to an ultimate rate
of 5.0% in 2015. A 10.5% annual rate of increase in the health care trend rate was assumed for
our Canadian plan, and is expected to decrease 1% per year to an ultimate rate of 4.5%.
Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for health
care plans. A one percent change in the assumed health care cost trend rate would have had the
following effects:

1% Increase 1% Decrease

{In thousands)

U.S. Plan

Effect on total of service and interest cost components $10 $(10)
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation $160 $(149)
Canadian Plan

Effect on total of service and interest cost components $779 $(698)
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation $12,524 $(11,350)

15. Environmental Remediation

We are subject to extensive environmental regulations imposed by federal, state,
provincial and local authorities in the U.S., Canada, China, Portugal and Mexico with respect to
emissions to air, discharges to waterways, and the generation, handling, storage, transportation,
treatment and disposal of waste materials. We have received various communications from
regulatory authorities concerning certain environmental matters.

We have accrued undiscounted estimated environmental remediation costs of $0.9
million at December 31, 2005, consisting of $0.1 million for the Decatur facility and $0.8 million
for the Ardmore facility. Based on information currently available, we believe that the costs of
these matters are not reasonably likely to have a material effect on our business, financial
condition or results of operations. However, actual costs related to environmental matters could
differ materially from the amounts we estimated and accrued at December 31, 2005 if these
environmental matters are not resolved as anticipated.
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16.  Litigation

Our facilities and operations are subject to extensive environmental laws and regulations,
and we are currently involved in various proceedings relating to environmental matters (See
Note 15). We are not involved in any legal proceedings that we believe could have a material
adverse effect upon our business, operating results or financial condition.

17. Income Taxes

The components of income/(loss) from continuing operations before income taxes for the
years ended December 31 are as follows:

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)
UsS. $(35,945) $(9,000) $(62,579)
Foreign (4,431 7,756 10,018
Total $(40,376) $(1,244) $(52,561)

The provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31 consists of the
following:

2005 2004 2003
{In thousands)
Continuing operations
Current expense/(benefit):
U.S. Federal $ 349 $ 21 $ (1,163)
Foreign 2,633 (441) 1,478
State 30 60 446
Total current 3,012 (360) 761
Deferred expense/{benefit):
U.s. - (3,444) (13,570)
Foreign 4,772) 1,916 (768)
Total deferred 4,772) (1,528) (14,338)
Total income tax expense/(benefit) —continuing operations (1,760) (1,888) (13,577)
Income tax benefit — discontinued operations - (127) (769)
Total income tax expense/(benefit) $(1,760) $(2,015) $(14,346)

Deferred income taxes included in our Consolidated Balance Sheets reflect the net tax
effects of temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the carrying amount for income tax return purposes. Significant
components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows at December 31:
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2005 2004

(In thousands)

Deferred tax liabilities: .
Basis of property, plant and equipment $(31,823) $(31,683)
Other (4,853) (6,107
Total deferred tax liabilities (36,676) (37,790)
Deferred tax assets:

Environmental remediation 902 602
Net operating loss carryforward 38,204 24,673
Restructuring reserves 3,953 2,871
Inventory valuations 2,427 3,619
Pension obligation 21,603 15,871
Other 3,104 2,438
Total deferred tax assets 70,193 50,074
Valuation allowance (20,048) (3,569)
Total deferred tax assets net of valuation allowance 50,145 46,505
Net deferred tax asset $13,469 $ 8,715

Reconciliation of differences between the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate and our
effective tax rate follows for the years ended December 31:

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)
Income tax benefit at federal statutory rate $(14,131) $(423) $(18,397)
Increase/(decrease) in taxes resulting from:
State and local taxes, net of federal benefit 20 40 . 533
Effect of difference in U.S. and foreign rates (754) 1,309) (1,763)
Goodwill impairment and other permanent differences (420) (218) 7,099
Foreign dividend repatriation 537 - -
Increase in valuation allowance 12,637 - -
Other 351 22 (1,047)
Income tax expense/(benefit) —continuing operations $(1,760) $(1,888) $(13,577)

At December 31, 2005, we have U.S. federal, state and foreign net operating loss
carryforwards of $65.8 million, $218.3 million and $31.4 million, respectively. These net
operating loss carryforwards expire at various times beginning in 2008 through 2025. During
2005, the Company increased the valuation allowance for U.S. deferred tax assets from $3.6
million to $20.0 million because it was determined that it was more likely than not that these
deferred tax assets would not be realized. Of this increase, $12.6 million resulted in a charge to
operations, and the remainder was charged to other balance sheet accounts.

We have a contractual tax holiday agreement with the Chinese government. Under this
agreement, the tax rate was 7.5% beginning January 1, 2002 and remained at this rate through
2004, and increased in 2005 to a 15% maximum rate. We also have $0.8 million in government
tax credits which may be used to offset tax liabilities in Portugal through 2008. These credits are
not reflected in deferred tax assets at December 31, 2005 or 2004,

Prior to the passage of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the Act), the
undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries were considered to be indefinitely reinvested,
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and in accordance with APB Opinion No. 23 (APB 23), Accounting for Income Taxes — Special
Areas, no provision for U.S. federal or state income taxes had been provided on these
undistributed earnings. The Act provided for a special 85% dividends received deduction on the
repatriation of certain foreign earnings. As a result of the Act, the Company repatriated
approximately $10.2 million in undistributed foreign earnings from its Chinese subsidiary. The
Company took a tax charge for U.S. federal income taxes of approximately $0.5 million in the
first quarter 2005 associated with the repatriation of these funds. At December 31, 2005, the
undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries amounted to approximately $100.9 million.
Foreign withholding taxes of $5.9 million would also be payable upon remittance of any
previously unremitted earnings at December 31, 2005. The exact amount of the charge depends
on the pending technical corrections to the legislation and expected interpretive guidance to be
issued by the Internal Revenue Service.

In December 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position No. FAS 109-1, Application of SFAS
109, Accounting for Income Taxes, to the Tax Deduction on Qualified Production Activities
provided by the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (FSP 109-1). FSP 109-1 states that
qualified domestic production activities should be accounted for as a special deduction under
SFAS No 109, and not treated as a rate reduction. The provisions of FSP 109-1 are effective
immediately. The Company did not qualify for this benefit during 2005 and will continue to
monitor its applicability in future years.

18.  Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The components of accumulated other comprehensive loss at December 31, are as
follows:

Unrealized Minimum
Foreign Gain (Loss) on Pension Accumulated
Currency Cash Flow Liability Other
Translation Hedges, Net of  Adjustment, = Comprehensive
Adjustment Tax Net of Tax Loss
(In thousands)
Balance at December 31, 2002 $(17,800) $(256) $(11,535) $(29,591)
Activity in 2003 17,383 1,662 (220) 18,825
Reclassification adjustment for realized
cash flow hedge losses - 256 - 256
Balance at December 31, 2003 417) 1,662 {11,755) (10,510)
Activity in 2004 7,565 229 (881) 6,913
Reclassification adjustment for realized
cash flow hedge losses - - (1,662) - (1,662)
Balance at December 31, 2004 $7,148 $229 $(12,636) $(5,259)
Activity in 2005 165 2,253 (10,900) (8,482)
Reclassification adjustment for realized
cash flow hedge losses - (229) - (229)
Balance at December 31, 2005 $7.313 $2,253 $(23,536) $(13,970)

19. Common Stock

All holders of Common Stock are entitled to receive dividends when and if declared by
our Board of Directors (the Board), provided that all dividend requirements of the cumulative
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preferred stock have been paid. Additionally, the payment of dividends on our Common Stock is
restricted under the terms of our various financing agreements. To date, no dividends have been
paid to the holders of the Common Stock and there are no immediate plans to declare a dividend.

The Board adopted a Stockholder Rights Plan, which expired on February 23, 2006, to
protect the Company and its stockholders from coercive, unfair or inadequate takeover bids.
Pursuant to the Stockholder Rights Plan, a dividend of one Preferred Share Purchase Right (a
Right) was declared for each share of Common Stock outstanding at the close of business on
February 23, 1996. The Rights were generally not exercisable until ten days after a person or
group acquired, or commenced, a tender offer that could result in the party acquiring 15% of the
outstanding shares of Common Stock. Each Right, if it would have become exercisable, would
have enabled the owner to buy one one-thousandth of a share of newly created Series A Junior
Participating Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $175, and, in certain circumstances, to
purchase shares of Common Stock at a substantially reduced price. The Board was generally
entitled to redeem the Rights at $0.01 per Right at any time prior to the date they became
exercisable.

20. Stock-Based Compensation Plans

The 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2003 Equity Plan) was adopted by the Board of
Directors on March 25, 2003 and was approved by the stockholders on May 14, 2003, and was
amended on July 24, 2003. The 2003 Equity Plan provides for the issuance of awards in the
form of stock options, restricted shares, stock appreciation rights and other additional awards to
key executives and employees. The maximum number of shares of Common Stock that may be
issued under the plan is limited to 850,000 shares, provided that no more than 250,000 shares
may be issued in the form of awards other than options or stock appreciation rights. The
duration of the 2003 Equity Plan is ten years.

On March 22, 2001, the Board of Directors adopted the 2001 Stock Option Plan for
Outside Directors (the 2001 Directors’ Plan) providing for the issuance of options for the
purchase of up to 250,000 shares of our Common Stock. The 2001 Directors’ Plan allows us to
compensate and reward our directors. The terms of the 2001 Directors’ Plan provides for the
issuance of stock options to outside directors at the fair market value on the date of grant. The
initial options granted at the time the Director joins the Board vest at 33.3% per year, but must be
held one year before exercising. All subsequent grants vest immediately. All options terminate
on the tenth anniversary of the date of grant.

The 1993 Equity Incentive Plan (the 1993 Equity Plan) provided for the issuance of stock
options, restricted shares, stock appreciation rights, and other additional awards to key
executives and employees. The maximum number of shares provided for under the 1993 Equity
Plan was 2,075,000 at a price as determined by our Compensation Committee. All options
granted under the plan were issued at the market value at the date of the grant. Options granted
prior to 1999 under the 1993 Equity Plan vested 20% on each anniversary thereafter and
terminate on the tenth anniversary of the date of grant. Options granted in 1999 and subsequent
years under the 1993 Equity Plan vested 33.3% on each anniversary thereafter and terminate on
the tenth anniversary of the date of grant. Options granted under prior plans remain outstanding
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but are governed by the provisions of the 1993 Equity Plan. The 1993 Equity Plan was
terminated by its terms in 2003.

In the third quarter of 2001, we made available to our U.S. and Canadian stock option
holders under the 1993 Equity Plan and the 1993 Directors’ Plan the right to exchange options
whose exercise price was $20.00 per share or greater, for new options to purchase one share for
every two shares exchanged. We made the exchange offer available because a large number of
stock options had exercise prices that were significantly higher than current trading prices of our
Common Stock, and thus the stock options did not provide our employees and outside directors
the incentive to acquire and maintain stock ownership in the Company and to participate in the
Company’s long-term growth and success. As a result of this exchange of options, 836,860
shares with an average option price of $30.48 were canceled, 38,000 of which were under the
1993 Directors’ Plan. On April 11, 2002, six months and six business days after the date the
options were cancelled, we granted 383,075 stock options, 19,000 of which were under the 1993
Directors’ Plan. New options granted under the 1993 Equity Plan have an exercise price of
$8.60 per share, which was the closing price of our Common Stock on April 11, 2002. New
options granted under the 1993 Directors’ Plan have an exercise price of $8.84 per share which
was determined by the average market price of our stock on April 11, 2002 and the four
preceding trading days. A stock option holder must have continued to have been employed by us
or provide service to us through April 11, 2002 in order to have been eligible to receive the new
options granted.

Our stock option plans are summarized as follows:

2003 Equity 2001 1993 1993 Equity Weighted-
Incentive Directors’  Directors’ Incentive Average Exercise
Plan Plan Plan Plan Option Price Price
(Number of Shares)

Outstanding at

December 31, 2002 - 26,362 160,184 1,288,922 $6.13 - $25.25 $11.04
Granted 2,000 101,520 6,000 366,026 $4.05 - $5.86 $4.34
Exercised - - - - - -
Forfeited - - (5,000) (155,715) $4.05 - §22.25 $10.57
Outstanding at

December 31, 2003 2,000 127,882 161,184 1,499,233 $4.05 - $25.25 $9.30
Granted 239,245 6,000 - - $10.54 - $10.74 $10.55
Exercised - - - (168,247) $4.05-811.90 $6.64
Forfeited - ] - (41,354) $4.05 - $22.25 $10.39
Outstanding at

December 31, 2004 241,245 133,882 161,184 1,289,632 $4.05 - $25.25 $9.70
Granted 326,399 45,000 - - $4.93 - $8.95 $8.13
Exercised - - - (88,125) $4.05 - §8.60 $6.70
Forfeited (62,445) - - (135,656) $4.05 - $25.25 $10.29
Outstanding at

December 31,2005 505,199 178,882 161,184 1,065,851 $4.05 - §25.25 $9.47
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Exercisable at:

December 31, 2003 - 127,882 161,184 912,810 $5.28 - $25.25 $10.71
December 31, 2004 667 133,882 161,184 1,000,464 $4.05 - $25.25 $10.60
December 31, 2005 454,032 158,882 161,184 1,014,609 $4.0S - $22.25 $9.79

There were no options outstanding issued prior to August 1993. The number of options
outstanding, weighted average exercise price, weighted average remaining contractual life,
vested options and the weighted average exercise price of vested options outstanding at
December 31, 2005 were 1,911,116, $9.47, 5.7 years, 1,788,707 and $9.79, respectively.

The range of exercise prices of the exercisable options and outstanding options at
December 31, 2005 are as follows:

Number of Number of Weighted Average
Weighted Average Exercise Price Exercisable Options  Outstanding Options Remaining Life
$4.05 - $4.11 156,065 207,307 7.2
$4.12 - $8.23 135,353 206,520 6.2
$8.24-512.34 1,203,823 1,203,823 5.8
$12.35- %1645 267,966 267,966 3.8
$16.46 - $20.57 18,500 18,500 3.9
$20.58 - $24.68 7,000 7,000 3.1
Totals 1,788,707 1,911,116 5.7

In 2005, we awarded 82,967 shares of restricted stock under the 2003 Equity Plan, with a
fair value at the date of grant of $7.50 per share. These restricted shares vest 50% annually at the
anniversary date of the grant. We recorded compensation expense with respect to restricted
stock awards of approximately $0.6 million in 2005 which is recognized on a straight-line basis
over the two year vesting period of the restricted stock grants.

On October 18, 2005, the Company accelerated the vesting of all out-of-the-money,
unvested, non-qualified stock options held by officers and employees, including options held by
each Named Executive Officer on that date. All options priced above $7.42, the closing market
price of the Company’s common stock on October 18, 2005, were considered to be out-of-the-
money. The acceleration was effective as of October 18, 2005. The options were granted under
the Company’s 2003 Equity Incentive Plan. No options held by non-employee directors were
subject to the acceleration.

The Company accelerated the vesting of the options in anticipation of the impact of
SFAS 123R. The primary purpose of the accelerated vesting was to avoid recognizing
compensation expense associated with these options upon adoption by the Company of SFAS
123R. Without the acceleration, the Company estimates that pre-tax charges under SFAS 123R
relating to these options would have been $0.9 million, of which $0.7 million and $0.2 million
would have been recognized in fiscal 2006 and 2007, respectively. Additionally, because these
options have exercise prices in excess of current market values and are not fully achieving their
original objectives of incentive compensation and employee retention, the Company believes that
the acceleration may have a positive effect on employee morale and retention.

F-43




Options to purchase approximately 400,000 shares of the Company’s common stock
became immediately exercisable on October 18, 2005 as a result of the acceleration. These
options, which have exercise prices varying from $8.93 to $10.74 per share, and a weighted
average exercise price of $9.53, originally vested annually over a three-year period beginning on
the first anniversary of the respective grant dates. No changes were made to the exercise price of
any option, and all of the affected options remain at prices above the current market price.

21. Commitments

We lease certain assets such as motorized vehicles, distribution and warehousing space,
computers, office equipment and production testing equipment. Terms of the leases, including
purchase options, renewals and maintenance costs, vary by lease. Minimum future rental
commitments under our operating leases having non-cancelable lease terms in excess of one year
totaled approximately $3.8 million as of December 31, 2005 and are payable as follows: $2.0
million in 2007, $1.1 million in 2008 and $0.7 million in 2009. Rental expense for operating
leases was $3.9 million in 2005, $3.8 million in 2004 and $3.9 million in 2003.

At December 31, 2005, we had commitments of $0.5 million for capital expenditures.
At December 31, 2005, we had commitments to purchase $1.1 million of silver.

At December 31, 2005, we had commitments to purchase approximately 130.2 million
pounds of copper in 2006 from suppliers to be priced at COMEX at date of shipment plus an
average premium of approximately $0.06 per pound. Based upon a copper price of $2.15 per
pound, this commitment totals approximately $287.7 million.

22, Industry Segments and Foreign Operations

Our reportable segments are based on our three product lines: commercial products,
wholesale products and rod, bar and other products. Commercial products consist primarily of
high value-added products sold directly to original equipment manufacturers. Wholesale
products are commodity-type plumbing tube products, which are primarily sold to plumbing
wholesalers and distributors. Rod, bar and other products consists of products sold to a variety of
customers and includes our European distribution business.

The accounting policies for each of the reportable segments are the same as those
described in Note 2. We evaluate the performance of our operating segments based on sales and
gross profit; however, we do not allocate asset amounts and items of income and expense below
gross profit or depreciation and amortization,

Summarized financial information concerning our reportable segments is shown in the
following table:
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Rod, Bar
Commercial Wholesale & Other Consolidated

(In thousands)

Year ended December 31, 2005:

Sales $619,159 $195,325 $59,021 $873,505
Gross profit . 4 3 19,422 650 1,571 21,643
Year ended December 31, 2004:

Sales $570,666 $165,215 $61,994 $797,875
Gross profit 52,918 5,924 4,839 63,681
Year ended December 31, 2003:

Sales $442 471 $115,112 $38,741 $596,324
Gross profit/(loss) . 38,997 271) 2,100 40,826

Our manufacturing operations are primarily conducted in the U.S. and Carada. We also
have manufacturing facilities in Shanghai, China, Esposende, Portugal and Monterrey, Mexico.

In 2005, 2004, and 2003, no customer accounted for as much as 10% of our net sales.

Sales to unaffiliated customers and long-lived assets are based on the Company’s location
providing thé products:

Other Foreign

U.S. Canada Operations Consolidated
(In thousands)
Year ended December 31, 2005:
Sales $623,450 $190,897 $59,158 $873,505
Long-lived assets 215,487 47,738 17,111 280,336
Year ended December 31, 2004: ‘
Sales $558,892 $186,680 $52,303 $797.875
Long-lived assets 238,992 34,831 18,063 291,886
Year ended December 31, 2003: .
Sales $414,301 $139,351 $42,672 $596,324
Long-lived assets o 252,077 .. .33,106 14,374 299,557

Information concerning enterprise-wide revenues by product line is shown in the following table:

December 31

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003
Commercial Products:

Tube Products $404,753 $362,955 $276,367

Fabricated Products 140,732 130,117 102,576

Other Products 73,674 77,594 63,528
Sub-total 619,159 570,666 442,471
Wholesale Products 195,325 165,215 115,112
Rod, bar and other | 59,021 . 61,994 38,741
Total L B $873,505 $797,875 . $596,324
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Included in “Other Products” in commercial products above are the Company’s Metal
Joining and Copper Alloy products lines, as individually each of those product lines represent
less than 10% of the Company’s total sales for each year.

23.  Restructuring and Other Charges

In 2005, we recognized restructuring charges of $1.4 million ($0.9 million net of tax), of
which $1.3 million was for severance and benefit charges related to a reduction in workforce at
the Company’s corporate headquarters and for the elimination of certain support functions in its
U.S. and Canadian manufacturing operations, $0.6 million charge related to the sales of the
Company’s corporate aircraft, a $0.4 million credit associated with the Booneville, MS facility
closure and a $0.1 million credit related to our previously closed Roxboro, NC facility. At
December 31, 2005, reserves for restructuring charges totaled $0.8 million, all of which was for
the September 2005 workforce reduction. Restructuring reserves outstanding at December 31,
2004 were $0.4 million for the Booneville, MS closure and $0.2 million for severance at
Decatur, AL.

Restructuring expenses/(credits) for the twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2005
and 2004 are as follows:

For the vear ended
December 31

(In thousands) 2005 2004

Roxboro, NC closing $ (75 $1,413
Booneville, MS closing (420) 623
Employee severance 1,297 500
Sale of Company aircraft 614 -
Totals $1,416 $2,536
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24.  Earnings/(Loss) Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of earnings/(loss) per share for the years
ended December 31:

2005 2004 2003

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Income/(loss) from continuing operations $(38,616) $644 $(38,984)
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax - (262) (1,637)
Net income/(loss) available to common shares $(38,616) $382 $(40,621)
Basic weighted average common shares 15,022 13,650 12,275
Dilutive stock options - 342 -
Diluted weighted average common and common

equivalent shares 15,022 13,992 12,275
Earnings/(loss) per common share—basic:
Continuing operations $(2.57) $0.05 $(3.18)
Discontinued operations - (0.02) (0.13)
Net income/(loss) per common share —basic $(2.57) $0.03 $(3.31)
Earnings/(loss) per common share—diluted (1):
Continuing operations $(2.57) $0.05 $(3.18)
Discontinued operations - (0.02) (0.13)
Net income/(loss) per common share —diluted $(2.57) $0.03 $(3.31)

(1) To the extent that stock options and unvested restricted stock are anti-dilutive, they are excluded from
the calculation of diluted earnings/(loss) per share in accordance with SFAS 128.

We had additional stock options outstanding of approximately 1.5 million, 0.9 million
and 1.4 million at December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively, which were not included in
the computation of potentially dilutive securities, because the options’ exercise prices were
greater than the average market price of the common shares.
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25. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

The following is a summary of the unaudited quarterly results of operations for the years
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

2005 April 3 July 3 October 2 December 31
{In thousands, except per share amounts)
Net sales $213,482 $196,321 $225,704 $237,998
Gross profit 10,060 5,654 (1,911) 7,840
Net loss (2,482) (5,682) (11,198) (19,254)
Basic loss per common share: $(0.17) $(0.38) $(0.74) $(1.28)
Diluted loss per common share: ‘ $(0.17) $(0.38) $(0.74) $(1.28)
2004 April 4 July 4 October 3 December 31
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Net sales _ $205,805 $214,080 $200,038 $177,952
Gross profit : 17,485 21,581 12,325 12,290
Net income/(loss) from continuing operations 1,368 3,300 (2,512) (1,512)
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations,

net of tax - (252) (73) 63
Net income/(loss) $1,368 $3,048 $(2,585) $(1,449)
Basic earnings/(loss) per common share:
Continuing operations $0.11 $0.26 $(0.17) $(0.10)
Discontinued operations - (0.02) - -
Net income/(loss) $0.11 $0.24 $(0.17) $(0.10)
Diluted earnings/(loss) per common share:
Continuing operations $0.11 $0.26 $(0.17) $(0.10)
Discontinued operations . - (0.02) - -
Net income/(loss) $0.11 $0.24 $(0.17) $(0.10)

26. Condensed Consolidating Financial Information

The following tables present condensed consolidating financial information for: (a)
Wolverine Tube, Inc. (the Parent) on a stand-alone basis; (b) on a combined basis, the guarantors
of the 10.5% Senior Notes and 7.375% Senior Notes (Subsidiary Guarantors), which include TF
Investor, Inc.; Tube Forming, L.P.; Wolverine Finance, LL.C; Wolverine China Investments,
LLC; Small Tube Manufacturing, LLC; Wolverine Joining Technologies, LLC; WT Holding
Company, Inc. and Tube Forming Holdings, Inc.; and (c) on a combined basis, the Non-
Guarantor Subsidiaries, which include Wolverine Tube (Canada) Inc.; 3072452 Nova Scotia
Company; 3072453 Nova Scotia Company; 3072996 Nova Scotia Company; Wolverine Tube
Canada Limited Partnership; Wolverine Tube (Shanghai) Co., Limited; Wolverine European
Holdings BV; Wolverine Tube Europe BV; Wolverine Tube, BV; Wolverine Tubagem
(Portugal), Lda; Wolverine Joining Technologies Canada, Inc.; Wolverine Europe; Wolverine
Asia, Limited; WLVN de Latinoamerica, S. de R.L. de C.V.; and WLV Mexico, S. de R.L. de
C.V. Each of the Subsidiary Guarantors is wholly-owned by Wolverine Tube, Inc. The
guarantees issued by each of the Subsidiary Guarantors are full, unconditional, joint and several.
Accordingly, separate financial statements of the wholly-owned Subsidiary Guarantors are not
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presented because the Subsidiary Guarantors are jointly, severally and unconditionally liable
under the guarantees, and we believe separate financial statements and other disclosures
regarding the Subsidiary Guarantors are not material to investors. Furthermore, there are no
significant legal restrictions on the Parent’s ability to obtain funds from its subsidiaries by
dividend or loan.

The Parent is comprised of Alabama, Oklahoma, Tennessee, and Mississippi
manufacturing operations and certain corporate management, sales and marketing, information
services and finance functions.

Wolverine Tube, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
For the Year Ended December 31, 2005

Non-
Subsidiary Guarantor
Parent Guarantors Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
(In thousands)
Net sales $504,481 $163,890 $282,657 $(77,523) $873,505
Cost of goods sold 500,930 148,779 279,676 (77,523) 851,862
Gross profit 3,551 15,111 2,981 - 21,643
Selling, general and administrative expenses 29,050 3,210 4,814 - 37,074
Restructuring and other charges 1,179 73 164 - 1,416
Operating income/(loss) from continluing operations  (26,678) 11,828 1,997) - (16,847)
Other expenses (income):
Interest expense, net 20,708 (38) 57 - 20,727
Amortization and other, net 7,068 (5,431) 1,165 - 2,802
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 10,318 - - (10,318) -
Income/(loss) from continuing operations before
income taxes (44,136) 17,297 (3,219) (10,318) (40,376)
Income tax expense/(benefit) provision (5,520) 5,850 (2,090) - (1,760)
Net income/(loss) $(38,616) $ 11,447 $ (1,129) $(10,318) $ (38,616)
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Wolverine Tube, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
For the Year Ended December 31, 2004

Non-
Subsidiary Guarantor
Parent Guarantors Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
{In thousands)
Net sales $434,851 $157,620 $268,198 $(62,794) $797,875
Cost of goods sold 408,699 138,304 249,985 (62,794) 734,194
Gross profit 26,152 19,316 18,213 - 63,681
Selling, general and administrative expenses 29,414 3,346 4,499 - 37,259
Restructuring and other charges 2,563 27) - - 2,536
Operating income/(loss) from continuing operations (5,825) 15,997 13,714 - 23,886
Other expenses (income):
Interest expense, net 21,736 39 (837) - 20,860
Loss on extinguishment of debt 3,009 - - - 3,009
Amortization and other, net 7,788 (13,069) 6,542 - 1,261
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 24,953 - - (24,953) -
Income/(loss) from continuing operations before :
income taxes (13,405) 29,105 8,009 (24,953) (1,244)
Income tax expense/(benefit) provision (13,787) 10,448 1,451 - (1,888)
Income/(loss) from continuing operations 382 18,657 6,558 (24,953) 644
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax - - (262) - (262)
Net income $ 382 $18,657 $6,296 $(24,953) $ 382
Wolverine Tube, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
For the Year Ended December 31, 2003
Non-
Subsidiary Guarantor
Parent Guarantors Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
(In thousands)
Net sales $318,244  $123,524 $199,438 $(44,882) £596,324
Cost of goods sold 310,968 107,229 182,183 (44,882) 555,498
Gross profit 7,276 16,295 17,255 - 40,826
Selling, general and administrative expenses 24,318 3,296 4,489 - 32,103
Restructuring charges 14,157 503 397 - 15,057
Operating income/(loss) from continuing operations (31,199) 12,496 12,369 - (6,334)
Other expenses (income):
Interest expense, net 21,829 (13) (598) - 21,218
Amortization and other, net 8,915 (10,151) 3,092 - 1,856
Goodwill impairment 23,153 - - - 23,153
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 23,886 - - (23,886) -
Income/(loss) from continuing operations before
income taxes (61,210) 22,660 9,875 (23,886) (52,561)
Income tax expense/(benefit) provision (20,589) 8,099 (1,087 - (13,577)
Income/(loss) from continuing operations (40,621) 14,561 10,962 (23,886) (38,984)
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax - - (1,637) - (1,637)
Net income/(loss) $(40,621)  $14,561 $9,325 $(23,886) $(40,621)
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Wolverine Tube, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2005

Non-
Subsidiary Guarantor
Parent Guarantors Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

(In thousands)
Assets
Current assets

Cash and equivalents $ 4,571 $ - $22,758 S - $27,329

Accounts receivable, net 7,965 6,930 89,291 - 104,186

Inventories 64,418 44,631 37,656 - 146,705

Prepaid expenses and other 7,425 1,528 1,256 - 10,209
Total current assets 84,379 53,089 150,961 - 288,429
Property, plant and equipment, net 108,275 27,001 45,962 - 181,238
Goodwill, net - 75,505 1,559 - 77,064
Deferred charges, net 5,368 125 2,233 - 7,726
Deferred taxes, non-current 7,174 (7,174) 13,469 - 13,469
Notes receivable - - 831 - 831
Prepaid pension and other 14 - 6) - 8
Investments in subsidiaries 484,383 325 - (484,708) -
Total assets $689,593 $148,871 $215,009 $(484,708) $568,765
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities

Accounts payable $ 35,364 $ 18,635 $ 17,803 $ - $71,802

Accrued liabilities 9,350 17,969 7,633 - 34,952

Short-term borrowings - 24 224 - 248

Intercompany balances 195247 (209,227) 13,980 - -
Total current liabilities 239,961 (172,599) 39,640 - 107,002
Long-term debt 233,948 58 914 - 234,920
Pension liabilities 40,285 - 2,604 - 42,8389
Postretirement benefit obligation 11,167 - 8,555 - 19,722
Accrued environmental remediation 930 - - - 930
Total liabilities 526,291 (172,541) 51,713 - 405,463
Stockholders’ equity 163,302 321,412 163,296 (484,708) 163,302
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $689,593 $148,871 $215,609 $(484,708) $568,765
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Wolverine Tube, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, 2004
Non-
Subsidiary Guarantor
Parent Guarantors Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

(In thousands)
Assets
Current assets

Cash and equivalents $11,191 $ - $23,826 $ - $35,017

Accounts receivable, net 6,822 59,750 27,392 - 93,964

Inventories 73,423 39,681 38,875 - 151,979

Prepaid expenses and other 3,677 1,400 1,828 - 6,905

Deferred taxes, current 8,175 211 (679 - 7,707
Total current assets 103,288 101,042 91,242 - 295,572
Property, plant and equipment, net 120,889 28,672 45,405 - 194,966
Deferred charges, net 9,930 300 1,662 - 11,892
Deferred taxes, non-current (982) (7,385) 9,375 - 1,008
Goodwill, net - 75,390 1,922 - 77,312
Assets held for sale - - 1,147 - 1,147
Prepaid pension and other 4,316 - 1,245 5,561
Investments in subsidiaries 445,423 325 (2,288) (443,460) -
Total assets $682,864 $198,344 $149,710 $(443,460) $587,458
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities

Accounts payable $23,725 $16,919 $19,268 $ - $59,912

Accrued liabilities 13,204 13,882 5,390 - 32,476

Short-term borrowings - 24 1,195 - 1,219

Intercompany balances 163,267 (141,515) (21,752) - -
Total current liabilities 200,196 (110,690) 4,101 - 93,607
Long-term debt 235,665 82 1,275 - 237,022
Pension liabilities 25,705 - 2,210 - 27,915
Postretirement benefit obligation 10,806 - 7,616 - 18,422
Accrued environmental remediation 990 - - - 990
Total liabilities 473,362 (110,608) 15,202 - 377,956
Stockholders’ equity 209,502 308,952 134,508 - (443,460) 209,502
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $682,864 $198,344 $149,710 $(443,460) $587,458
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Wolverine Tube, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2005

Non-
Subsidiary Guarantor

Parent Guarantors  Subsidiaries  Eliminations _ Consolidated
{In thousands)
Operating Activities
Income/(loss) from continuing operations $(38,616) $11,447 $(1,129) $(10,318) $(38,616)
Depreciation and amortization 10,395 3,035 3,618 - 17,048
Deferred income taxes 19 - (4,593) - 4,574)
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 1,886 - 141 - 2,027
Non-cash portion of restructuring and other 349 133 179 - 661
Sale of accounts receivable - - 19,000 - 19,000
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries (10,318) - - 10,318 -
Changes in operating assets and liabilities 22,644 13,260 (36,332) - (428)
Net cash provided by/(used for) operating activities (13,641) 27,875 (19,116) - (4,882)
Investing Activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment, net (4,426) (1,535) (4,048) - (10,009)
Disposal of assets 5,412 - - - 5,412
Other 4,367 171 (125) - 4,413
Net cash used for investing activities 5,353 (1,364) 4,173) - (184)
Financing Activities
Financing fees and expenses paid (438) - (663) - (1,101)
Intercompany borrowings (payments) (8,267 (26,487) 34,754 - -
Issuance of common stock 503 - - - 503
Net borrowings/(payments) on credit facilities (1,000) 249) (1,198) - (2,222)
Other 10,224 - (10,191) - 33
Net cash provided by/(used for) financing activities 1,022 (26,511) 22,702 - (2,787)
Effect of exchange rate on cash and equivalents 646 - _(481) - 165
Net cash provided by/(used for) continuing operations (6,620) - (1,068) - (7,688)
Net increase/decrease in cash and equivalents (6,620) - (1,068) - (7,688)
Cash and equivalents at beginning of period 11,191 - 23,826 - 35,017
Cash and equivalents at end of period $ 4,571 $ - $22,758 $ - $27,329
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Wolverine Tube, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2004

Non-
Subsidiary Guarantor
Parent Guarantors Subsidiaries  Eliminations  Consolidated
(In thousands)
Operating Activities
Income/(loss) from continuing operations $ 382 $18,657 $6,558 $(24,953) § o644
Depreciation and amortization 10,766 3,454 3,187 - 17,407
Loss on early retirement of debt 3,009 - - - 3,009
Other non-cash items 100 56 - - 156
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries (24,953) - - 24,953 -
Changes in operating assets and liabilities (18,810) (2,381) ~_(8,667) - (29,858)
Net cash provided by/(used for) operating activities (29,506) 19,786 1,078 - (8,642)
Investing Activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment (6,329) (1,284) (4,115) - (11,728)
Disposal of assets 2,926 - - - 2,926
Investment in WLV Latin America (703) (36) 739 - -
Other - 82 - - 82
Net cash used for investing activities (4,106) (1,238) (3,376) - (8,720)
Financing Activities
Financing fees and expenses paid (151) - - - (151)
Intercompany borrowings (payments) 29,408 (17,271) (12,137) - -
Issuance of common stock 21,898 - 2,266 - 24,164
Retirement of Senior Notes (20,510) - - - (20,510)
Other 2,279 (1,277) (339) - 663
Net cash provided by/(used for) financing activities 32,924 (18,548) (10,210) - 4,166
Effect of exchange rate on cash and equivalents 3,349 - (963) - 2,386
Net cash provided by/(used for) continuing operations 2,661 - (1347) - (10,810)
Net cash used for discontinued operations - - (262) - (262)
Net increase/decrease in cash and equivalents 2,661 - (13,733) - (11,072)
Cash and equivalents at beginning of period $ 8,530 3 -7 $ 37559 3 - $ 46,089
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Wolverine Tube, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2003

Non-
Subsidiary Guarantor
Parent Guarantors Subsidiaries Eliminations  Consolidated

(In_thousands)
Operating Activities
Income/(loss) from continuing operations $(40,621) $14,561 $10,962 $(23,886) $(38,984)
Depreciation and amortization 12,532 3,538 2,939 - 19,009
Deferred income taxes (11,776) - (765) - (12,541)
Other non-cash items 316 50 - - 366
Non-cash portion of restructuring charge 11,690 326 - - 12,016
Goodwill impairment 23,153 - - - 23,153
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries (23,886) - - 23,886 -
Changes in operating assets and liabilities 13,889 (11,217) (5,442) - 2,770)
Net cash provided by/(used for) operating activities (14,703) 7,258 7,694 - 249
Investing Activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment (4,450) (634) (885) - (5,969)
Investments in rabbi trust (4,289) - - - (4,289)
Disposal of assets 6 - 6 - 12
Net cash used for investing activities (8,733) _ (634) 879) - (10,246)
Financing Activities
Financing fees and expenses paid (52) - - - (52)
Net (payments) borrowings on revolving credit

facilities (551) 551 (1,122) - (1,122)
Intercompany borrowings (payments) 9,915 (7,175) (2,740) - -
Other financing activities - - (6) - 6)
Net cash provided by/(used for) financing activities 9,312 (6,624) (3,868) - (1,180)
Effect of exchange rate on cash and equivalents 193 - 2,452 - 2,645
Net cash provided by/(used for) continuing operations (13,931) - 5,399 - (8,532)
Net cash provided by discontinued operations - - 701 - 701
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and equivalents (13,931) - 6,100 - (7,83
Cash and equivalents at beginning of period 22,461 - 31,459 - 53,920
Cash and equivalents at end of period $ 8,530 3 - $37,559 $ - $46,089

F-55




Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Wolverine Tube, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Wolverine Tube, Inc.
and Subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated
statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended. In
connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we also have audited the
accompanying financial statement schedule II. These consolidated financial statements and
schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and schedule based on our audit.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in
all material respects, the financial position of Wolverine Tube, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the
years then ended in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our
opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic
financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set
forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of Wolverine Tube, Inc.’s internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated March 10, 2006 expressed an
unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and the effective operation of, internal
control over financial reporting.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Birmingham, Alabama
March 10, 2006




Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Wolverine Tube, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’
equity and cash flows of Wolverine Tube, Inc. and Subsidiaries for the year ended December 31,
2003. Our audit also included the 2003 data in the financial statement schedule listed in the
index at Item 15(a) (2). These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements and schedule based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over
financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated results of operations and cash flows of Wolverine Tube, Inc. and
Subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2003, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the 2003 data in the related financial statement
schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents
fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

February 26, 2004
Birmingham, Alabama
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders Wolverine Tube, Inc.:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, that Wolverine Tube, Inc.
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on
the criteria established in /nternal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Management of Wolverine
Tube, Inc. is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the
effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting of Wolverine Tube, Inc. based on
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding
of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and
fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations
of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not
prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.




-

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Wolverine Tube, Inc. maintained effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material
respects, based on criteria established in /nternal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
COSO. Also, in our opinion, Wolverine Tube, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Wolverine Tube,
Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements
of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and our report dated
March 10, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Birmingham, Alabama
March 10, 2006

F-59



WOLVERINE TUBE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

—«

Balance Charged to Charged to Balance at
Beginning of Cost and Other End of
Description Period Expenses Accounts Deductions Period
(In thousands)
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005:
Deducted from assets accounts:
Reserve for sales returns and allowances $ 510 404 1 (23) $ 892
Allowances for doubtful accounts 449 245 1 (268) 427
Deferred tax valuation 3,569 12,637 3,842 - 20,048
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004;
Deducted from assets accounts:
Reserve for sales returns and allowances $ 658 $ 10 $ - $ (158)(1) $ 510
Allowances for doubtful accounts 437 350 - (338)(2) 449
Deferred tax valuation 3,569 - - - 3,569
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003:
Deducted from assets accounts:
Reserve for sales returns and allowances § 508 $327 £ - S (177 (1) $ 658
Allowances for doubtful accounts 481 238 (247) 35 (2) 437
. ... Deferred tax valuation . 2,385 1,184 - - 3,569

' Reduction of reserve, net of translation adjustments, for actual sales returns and allowances.
@ Uncollectible accounts written off from both continuing and discontinued operations, net of
translation adjustments and recoveries.
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2002 Change in Control, Severance and Non-Competition
Agreement, dated as of July 12, 2002, by and between the
Company and Garry K. Johnson.
Form of Letter for Amendment to Split Dollar Agreement
Dated May 1, 1999
Form of Letter for Vesting of Underwater Options
List of Subsidiaries
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.




WOLVERINE TUBE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
EXHIBIT 21—SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT

State or Other Jurisdiction of

Name Incorporation
Small Tube Manufacturing, LLC Delaware
Tube Forming, LP Delaware
Wolverine Europe (EURL) France
Wolverine Europe Holdings, B.V. The Netherlands
Wolverine Finance Company, LLC Tennessee
Wolverine Joining Technologies, LLC Delaware
Wolverine Joining Technologies Canada, Inc. Canada
Wolverine Tube Europe B.V. The Netherlands
Wolverine Tube, B.V. The Netherlands
Wolverine Tube (Canada) Inc. Canada
Wolverine Tube (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. China
Wolverine Tubagem Portugal, LDA Portugal
TF Investor, Inc. Delaware
Tube Forming Holdings, Inc. Delaware
WT Holding Company, Inc. Delaware

3072996 Nova Scotia Company

3072452 Nova Scotia Company

3072453 Nova Scotia Company

Wolverine Tube Canada Limited Partnership
Wolverine China Investments, LLC

WLVN de Latinoamerica, S. de R.L. de C.V.
WLV Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V.

Nova Scotia
Nova Scotia
Nova Scotia
New Brunswick
Delaware

Mexico

Mexico




ExHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Wolverine Tube, Inc.

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 33-
73550, 33-73490, 33-87687, 333-67958, 333-67968, 333-67972, and 333-108003) on Form S-8
of Wolverine Tube, Inc. of our report dated March 10, 2006, with respect to (i) the consolidated
balance sheets of Wolverine Tube, Inc. as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows, for the years then
ended and the related financial statement schedule; (ii) management’s assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005; and (iii) the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, which report
appears in the December 31, 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K of Wolverine Tube, Inc.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Birmingham, Alabama
March 15, 2006




EXHIBIT 23.2
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in (i) the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 33-
73550) pertaining to the 1993 Equity Incentive Plan of Wolverine Tube, Inc.; (ii) the
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 33-73490) pertaining to the 1993 Stock Option Plan for
Outside Directors of Wolverine Tube, Inc.; (iii) the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 33-
87687) pertaining to the Savings Plan of Wolverine Tube, Inc.; (iv) the Registration Statement
(Form S-8 No. 333-67958) pertaining to the 1993 Equity Incentive Plan of Wolverine Tube, Inc.;
(v) the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-67968) pertaining to the 1993 Stock Option
Plan for Outside Directors of Wolverine Tube, Inc.; (vi) the Registration Statement (Form S-8
No. 333-67972) pertaining to the 2001 Stock Option Plan for Outside Directors of Wolverine
Tube, Inc.; and (vii) the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-108003) pertaining to the
2003 Equity Incentive Plan of Wolverine Tube, Inc. of our report dated February 26, 2004 with
respect to the 2003 consolidated financial statements and schedule of Wolverine Tube, Inc.,
included in the Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2005.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

March 8, 2006
Birmingham, Alabama




